A year in a world of Specialty Chemicals
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Innospec is an exciting and innovative
company. We are growing fast and
evolving all the time in response to the
changing needs of our customers and our

ire to deliver excellent shareholder value.

As President and Chief Executive Officer | am
proud to have presided over what has been a
remarkable year in our history. Put simply, we
have been on an incredible jouney that has
transformed our business and left us reborn

and reinvigorated.

Today tnnospec is strong and profitable and
we have many reasons to feel proud of our
achievernents. We have built a truly sustainable
business that is making a positive contribution
to the global specialty chemicals market. Our
people are energized and confident and all
our businesses are working together with

one facus and one direction.

With manufacturing bases in many countries
and a worldwide distribution network in place,
we have the resources to operate a global
distribution network across our entire product
range when required. The markets for our
excellent Fuel. Specialties and Performance
Chemicals products are also expanding,

creating plenty of opportunities for the future.

Our approach to product development and
new technology is also paying dividends.
We put in place a comprehensive research
and development program that was based
on a real commitment to innovation,

We are now reaping the rewards.

All this success has been achieved by
fallowing a new strategic direction. This was
brought to life in the successful launch of our
new name and corporate identity in 2006.
We wanted to tell the world that our future
lay in the development of innovative specialty
chernicals. The response from our customers

and shareholders was extremely enthusiastic

Our subsequent switch to N;‘GDAQ_frDm the
New York Stock Exchange put us firmly on the
map as an exdting and innovative company

to watch. Over the course of 2006 our share
price trebled and our reputation was enhanced
immeasurably. What is more, we achieved this

amazing transformation in less than 12 months.

While it is important to reflect on what our
company achieved in 2006, these events are
now history. Our attention today is focused
on driving the business forward to-even
greater heights in 2007 so that we may once
maore Iincrease shareholder value. ‘The bar of
expectation has been raised but we are ready

for the challenge,

Paul Jennings

Presfdept and Chief Executive Officer




]

| Innospec’s dynamic Fuel Specialties
business leads the market in

innovative additive technology for

e;rerything from petroleum-based fuels

. to coal and biofuels. We are the

largest dedicated supplier of heavy

fuel oil treatments in the world.
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Our business comprises a number of dedicated
teams, each senving the needs of a specific
market sector, We have teams focused on the
refinery, power, heating marine, performarnce

specialties and fuel borne catalysts rmarkets.

With sales rising quickly and a growth rate that

is outpadng the competition, Fuel Spedalties is

- growing stronger by the day. Recent initiatives

are helping to drive the business forward and

ensure success is sustained over the long term.

We are expecting high groth from the Asia-
Pacific market and we have expanded our
sales operations into China, Korea and India to
take advantage of this potential. Our focus on
the delivery of excellent customer senvice has
resulted in a number of key partners being
turned into large customers, particuiarly in

Asia-Pacific.

Thanks to the recent restructuring of our
operations, Fuel Specialties i also a much fitter
and more streamfined business today with a
much lower cost base. Changes made to both
the supply chain and sales organization
structure within Europe, the Middle East and

Africa, is giving us a real competitive edge.

Qur ability to look forward and react quickly
has also ensured we are taking full advartage
of the recent legislative changes affecting our
markets in the Americas. A good example is
Ultra Low Sulfur Diesel. Our new Legal Diesel

range is doing very well in North America.

With a whole raft of new legislation on fuel
already in the pipeline we know there are
some fantastic opportunities ahead that will
allow us to capture yet mare of the fuel
additive market. We have lost no time in

planning for these developments.

The key to our continued success remains
our hard work and commitment, alongside
our willingness to push forward innovative
new technologies. Cur coordinated approach
to research and development is generating

a stream of new products.

Our highly experienced Fuel Specialties sales
team can offer additional advice and guidance
on a wide range of subjects induding key
market trends, current and proposed legislation,
country specific issues and the logistics of

distribution across vast geographic regions.

With our research expertise and laboratory
testing facilities, we can also provide hands-
on support when it comes 1o finding a fuel
treatment solution that delivers optimum

performance at minimal cost.

Not surprisingly, this combination of local
market knowledge and technical expertise
is helping us develop exciting new Fuel
Specislties products that will increase our
market share and open up new markets
for many years to come. This is a profitable
business making a major contribution to

Innospec’s overall financial performance.
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Innospec’s Fuel Spedialties business specializes in man

the fuel additives that help improve fuel efficiency, boost engine performancfe
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and reduce harmful emissions. Our products are used in the efficient

of automotive, maring and g P eratoss
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Innospec’s Performance Chemicals

business has undergone a dramatic

_ transformation in fortunes over the last 12
months. The business has been turned
around and is now making a positive

contribution to overall profits.

Our Performance Chemicals business is an
incubator for businesses that we need to
nurture and grow. The products that they
manufacture are used in a wide range of

industrial processes and everyday products.

These products include the well-known
Finetex brands of surfactants and emaollients
and a range of synthetic arormas from our
Aroma Fine Chemicals business, such as the
widely used synthetic Lilestralis® fragrance.
We also manufacture EDDS environmentally
friendly chelating agents, a number of popular
anti-static additives and the successful Leuna

branded waxes.

Many of our additives end up as key ingredients
in our customers’ products, to improve
performance and differentiate the product from
its competitors. Other additives are designed
to provide specific solutions to common
manufacturing problems such as static build

up during certain industrial processes.

With such a broad range of applications, the
potential market for our Performance Chemnicals
business is truly glabal. We have a strong
presence in North America and Europe and
we are poised for expansion into Asia-Pacific,
the Middle East, Africa and Latin America
where demand for more sophisticated products
is growing rapidly, particularly in the personal

care market.

Aroma Fine Chemicals is poised for rapid
growth in 2007, With a renewed foaus and
additional investment in manufacturing

capacity, efficiency and information systems,

this has given the business extra impetus,

To take advantage of the numerous operational

synergies between finetex and our Prochem
business, which is located in nearby High
Point, North Carolina, we decided ta merge
these two businesses together in early 2007
irto Innospec Performance Chemicals U.S. Co.
This bustness in North America is also winning
new confracts and growing its customer base.
A transfer of production from New Jersey to
North Carclina in 2006 further improved
production efficiency, Looking forward, the
business will continue to foaus on value added

product ranges and key accounts.

In the UK, improved sales of our biodegradable
chelating agent, combined with lower raw
material costs, are helping to boost profits in
the Performance Chemicals UK business.
Further opportunities to expand the UK EDDS
business have already been identified for 2007.
Our team is also extending the application of
our anti-static additives into the pulp and paper,

ailfield and electronic chemicals markets.

Qur Innospec Leuna business continued to
perform above expedtations and is now an
integral part of the Innospec group of companies.

Across all our Performance Chemicals
businesses the focus is to identify thase market
sectors where our additives will have the
greatest impact. Using the knowledge, skills and
expertise of our teams in the United States, the
UK and Germany, we are confident we can
capitalize on these opportunities by turning
practical and innovative chemistry into real

customer benefits,
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~ Chemicals

Innospec’s Performance Chemicals business includes a number of companies who
manufacture performance chemicals used in a wide range of industrial processes
and everyday products. Our products are used in the manufacture of such items
as personal care products through to household detergents and crop protection
chemicals. They are also used in the manufacture of plastics, paper and in the
metal plating and oil industries.
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Octane Additives is still a key part of
Innospec’s business worldwide and our
management team is focused on
maximizing shareholder value from TEL
supply while monitoring and reducing
production in line with global

demand in a responsible manner.
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Despite declining sales in the product, the
profits from our TEL business remain high
and the management skills of aur Octane
Additives team are helping to ensure this

business continues te contribute to our

profits for the foreseeable future.

In 2006 we drove through the introduciion
of a new innovative manufacturing approach
designed to better align manufacturing: capacity
with market demand. This has brought
substantial benefits. It has streamlined our
production of TEL and made our operations

highly efficient.

With our unique market knowledge, gained
over many years in the industry, we can offer
comprehensive advice and guidance to
customers migrating to unleaded fuel by
ensuring the continuity of TEL supply during
their phase-out period. In addition to supplying
TEL, our team provides comprehensive safety

training, techrical and engineenng support

Our understanding can help govemments
resolve numerous palitical, economic and
environmental issues and ensure the move
to unleaded fuel is managed as smoothly

as possible.

Indeed, there are many factors that contribute

to a successful iransition to unleaded fuel and
our expenence of previous projects, working
with both the oil industry and government
officials, often proves invaluable. We can help
customers set a realistic tmescale for the change,
taking into account the relevant environmenital

and manufacturing issues invoived.

As part of our global Octane‘Additives business
we also operate Innospec Environmental. This
EBusiness provides a complete decommissioning
and remediation service for redundant lead
alkyl blending plants and many other highly

hazardous materials.

Our experts also carry out cleaning and
deconstruction of bulk chernical ships, arsenic
contaminated vessels and ground remediation
projects. Qur aim is to provide a safe yet cost-

effective and environmentally sensitive solution.

While we know the fonger-term pattem of
dedine for TEL is not going to change, we are
confident that we can make the most of the
existing market and continue to generate
profits for the foreseeable future\. At the same
time we are committed to using our expertise
and knowledge of the industry to culiivate new
revenue streams, particularly in the area of

ervironmental services.
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" Innospec’s Qctane Additives business is the worlds only producer-of tetra ethyl
lead (TEL). TEL is still by far the most cost-effective octane enhancer for treating

the automotive gasoline used by vehicles running on leaded fuel. These vehicles

do not have catalytic converters. TEL is also the best additive for improving the
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In a year where we saw transition

i
Although TEL sales fell as expected in 2006, we ensured that profits from the business were
maximized through innovative management. New manufacturing systems were introduced to

streamline production and increase the efficiency of our operations. It was important to

maintain|this focus as our specialty chemicals businesses surged forward. During 2006 there V\!ras
a fundamental transition in our business and we reached a decisive inflection point. For the il":rst

time, Fuel Specialties and Performance Chemicals accounted for the major portion of our sales.




Innospec employs almost 1000 people
in 23 countries and our business has

a turnover in excess of $500 million.

By combining worldwide resources with a
network of local sales teams, we can offer
a quick response to changing market
conditions and satisfy the demands of our

customers wherever they are based.

-
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As a company we are commiied to building
a business that will meet the needs of our
generation without compromising the ability
of future generations to do the same. This
principle of sustainable development can be
seen in our approach to safety, health and
environmental issues and in our drive to

deliver the very best performance at all imes.

We also believe in the highest standards
of corporate governance and the importance
of integrity across our business dealings.
Our directors and employees subscribe to
a Code of Ethics, which provides us with a
framework for conducting business at all

levels within our organization.

Through substantial investment in innovation
and product development, we are creating
an gngoing stream of new products that is
helping our business compete in both new

and existing markets.

But our most valuable asset is our people.
Innospec is a cornpany built on talent,

knowledge and experience. We invest in

our people and encourage them to excel in all

they do. This is what sets us apart from our
cornpetitors and it is the reasan why our people
are able 1o drive forward change so effectively.

In 2006 our teams around the world
'worked together to deliver a new strategic
approach characterized by innovative product
development, increased efficiencies, a lower

cost base and a commitrnent to growth.

It is our people who will make this ancther
very successful year for our customers and

shareholders alike.
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INNOSPEC INC.

220 Continental Drive ' PAUL W, JENNINGS

New:ilrk, DE 19713 ; President and Chief Executive Officer
; i

Dear Stockholder: ' : March 30, 2007

You are¢ cordially invited to attend the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Innospec Inc. (the
“Corporatlon”) which will be held on May 8, 2007 at 10:00 a.m. local time, in the Boardroom, the NASDAQ
Stock Market, One Liberty Plaza, 165 Broadway, New York, USA. Stockholders are advised to arrive at the
rccepuon area at 09.30 a.m. to allow sufﬁ(:lent time for security clearance

1

The Notice of Meeting, Proxy Statemem. Proxy Form and Annual Report of: the Corporation are included
with this letter. The maiters listed in the Nollce of Meeting are more fully described in the Proxy Statement.

It is important that your shares are represented and voted at the Annual Meeting, regardless of the size of
your holdings. Accordingly, please mark, sign and date the enclosed Proxy Formjand return it promptly in the
enclo;sed reply envelope which requires no postage if mailed in the United States of America. If you sign and
retum your Proxy Form without specifying your choices, it will be understood that!you wish to have your shares
voted)in accordance with the directors’ recommendations as set forth in the attached Proxy Statement.

1
i

| \
lt |
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Sincerely,

| S

- PAUL W. JENNINGS
, President and Chief Executive Officer
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INNOSPEC INC.

220 Continental Drive
Newark, DE 19713
| U.S.A.

Notice of Annual Meeting of Stockholders

; May 8, 2007

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of Stockholdcrs of Innospec Inc. (the
“Corporation™} will be held at 10:00 a.m. local time on May 8, 2007 in the Boardroom the NASDAQ Stock
Market, One Liberty Plaza, 165 Broadway, New York, USA for the following purposes

I.  To re-elect two current directors to §ewe until the 2010 Annual Meeting;

2. To ratify the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the Corporation’s independent registered
‘ public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2007; and

i3. To transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournment thereof.

The Board of Directors has. fixed March 12, 2007 as the date of rccorl'd for the meeting and only
stockholders of record at the close of business on that date will be entitled 10 vote at the meeting or any
postponemenl or adjournment thereof. A list of such stockholders will be avarlablc for examination by any
stockholdcr for any purpose germane to the meeting both at the meeting and dunng normal business hours at the
Corporanon s offices at 220 Continental Drwe Newark, DE 19713, US.A. for a penod of 10 days prior to the
meeting. ‘
l
A proxy statement, form of proxy and a copy of the annual report on Form 10-K of the Corporation for the
year ended December 31, 2006 are enclosed. l

By Order of the Board of Directors,

Andrew Hartley
Vice President and General Counsel

March 30, 2007 4

WHETHER OR NOT YOU PLAN TO A'I'I'END THE ANNUAL MEETING IN PERSON AND REGARDLESS OF
THE NUMBER OF SHARES YOU OWN, PLEASE MARK, SIGN AND DATE THE ENCLOSED PROXY FORM AND
MAIL‘I IT PROMPTLY IN THE ENVELOPE PROVIDED TO ENSURE THAT| YOUR SHARES WILL BE
REPRESENTED. YOU MAY NEVERTHELESS VOTE IN PERSON IF YOU ATTEND|THE ANNUAL MEETING. IN
ADDlTION YOUR PROXY IS REVOCABLE AT ANY TIME BEFORE IT IS VOTED BY WRITTEN NOTICE TO THE
SECRETARY OF THE CORPORATION OR BY DELIVERY OF A LATER DATED PROXY.
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! INNOSPEC INC.

I

220 Continental Drive .
. Newark, DE 19713

¢ ‘ US.A.

PROXY STATEMENT
i March 30, 2007

e |
1

i for
Annual Meeting of Stockholders
To Be Held On May 8, 2007

| This proxy statement (the “Proxy Statement”) is being furnished to the holders of common stock, par value
$0. Oll per share (the “Common Stock™), of Innospec Inc., a Delaware corporanon (the “Corporation™) in
connecuon with the solicitation of proxies by and on behalf of the Board of Dlrectors of the Corporation (the
“Board of Directors™ or the “Board") for usc at the annual meeting of stockholders to be held on May 8, 2007 at
10: 00 a.m. local time, and at any adjournments or postponements thereof (the “Annual Meeting”). The purpose
of the Annual Meeting is: :

® to re-elect two dtrectors to the Board

® to ratify the appomtment of PncewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the Corpo ration’s independent registered
public accounting firm for the 2007 ﬁscal year.

‘ Record Date and Quorum

This Proxy Statement, the Proxy Form and the Corporation’s Annual Reportito Stockholders on Form 10-K
are bemg mailed on or about April 5, 2007 to holders of record of the Common Stock at the close of business on
March 12, 2007 (the “Record Date”). Each outstanding share of Common Stock entltles the holder thereof as of
the record date to one vote (or where a part share shall be owned, a proportionate part of the vote of one share) on
each matter to come before the Annual Meeting. As of the Record Date, excludmg treasury stock, there were
11, 917 461 shares of Common Stock outstanding. There are no other outstandmg voting securities of the
Corporahon other than the Common Stock. !

The presence at the Annual Meeting in person or by proxy of the holders foi" a majority of the shares of
Common Stock outstanding and entitled to vote will constitute a quorum for the transaction of business.
Abstentnons and broker “non-votes” are Lreated as present and entitled to voteI and therefore are counted in
detemunmg the existence of a quorum. At the Annual Meeting, election mspectors will determine whether or not
a quorum is present. |

!
A broker “non-vote” occurs when a nommee holding shares for a bcncﬁcra] owner does not vote on a
particular proposal because the nominee does not have discretionary voting power with respect to that item and
has not received voting instructions from the beneficial owner with respect to suchlitem,

; Proxies

Elf the enclosed proxy form (the “Proxy Form™) is properly signed, dated and returned to the Corporation, the
individuals identified as proxies thereon will vote the shares represented by the Proxy Form in accordance with
the dlrectmns noted thereon. If you do not indicate how your shares should be|voted on a matter, the shares
representod by your properly completed Proxy Form will be voted as the Board of Directors recommends. The

; 1




Corporation’s management does not know of any matters other than those discussed in this Proxy Staternent that
will be presented at the Annual Meeting. If other matters are presented, all proxies will be voted in accordance
with the recommendations of the Corporation’s Board of Directors unless the stockholder otherwise specifies in
the Proxy Form.

Returning your completed Proxy Form will not prevent you from voting in person at the Annual Meeting if
you are present and wish to vote. In addition, you may revoke your proxy at any time before it is voted by
sending written notice of revocation or by submission of a properly executed proxy bearing a later date to the
Secretary of the Corporation prior to the Annual Meeting at the Corporation’s principal executive offices at the
address above.

Required Votes

Proposal One (Re-Election of Directors): The election of directors is decided by the affirmative vote of a
plurality of the votes duly cast by holders of all shares entitled to vote in the election. Abstentions and broker
“non-votes” are not counted as votes cast for the purpose of electing directors. Accordingly, abstentions and
broker “non-votes” ‘will not be taken into account and, therefore, will not affect the outcome of the election of
directors, ' . :

Proposal Two (Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firmj: The
affirmative vote of the majority of the shares present in person or represented by proxy at the Annual Meeting
and entitled to vote on this proposal is required to ratify the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the
Corporation’s independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2007. A
broker or nominee has discretion to vote on this matter. Accordingly, both abstentions and broker “non-votes”
will be treated as present and entitled to vote and, therefore, will have the effect of votes against this proposal.



PROPOSAL ONE
(Item 1 oni the Proxy Form)

|
|
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Re-election of Current Directors

IThe Bylaws of the Corporation prov1de that the number of directors shall be not less than three nor more
than twelve members, the exact number of which shall be determined from time to time by resolution adopted by
the Board of Directors, and that the Board shall be divided into three classes, designated Class I, Class I and
Class III. Each class shall consist, as nearly as may be possible, of one-third of, the total number of directors
consmut.mg the entire Board of Directors. By resolution of the Board of Dlrectors dated March 10, 2006, the
Board of Directors reduced the number of members on the Board of Directors from eight to seven effective
May 2 2006; three in Class I, two in Class II and two in Class III and the appomlmems of the directors in such
Class|es expire at the Annual Meetings of the Corporation in 2008, 2009 and 2007, respectwely

F‘wo directors in Class III, Dr. Robert E Bew and Mr. Martin M. Hale, whoseE terms expire at the upcoming
Annual Meeting, have been nominated for re-election to serve until the Corporation’s 2010 Annual Meeting. See
“Maﬂagement—Normnees for Director” for information with respect to Dr. Bew and Mr. M Hale. The
Corporation believes that Dr. Bew and Mr. M Hale are willing to be elected and to serve. In the event that the
nominee is unable to serve or is otherwise unavailable for election the incumbent Board may or may not select a

. substitute nominee. If a substituted nominee is selected, all proxies will be voted for the person selected.

The election of directors at the Annual Meeting requires a plurality of tl}e votes actually cast by the
stockholders present (in person or by proxy) at the meeting and entitled to vote. There is no cumulative voting as
to any matter, including the election of directors.

o

The Board of Directors recommends a vote “FOR” the re-election of the npminee current directors.

{Itern 2 on the Proxy Form) |

H
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! PROPOSAL TWO
' Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Audit Committee has appointed the accounting ﬁrm of Prlcewaterhc)lljseCoopers LLP to serve as
mdependcnt registered public accounting firm of the Corporation with respect to the 2007 fiscal year to examine
the ﬁr!)am:lal statements of the Corporation for the fiscal year ending December 3|1 2007 and to perform other
appropriate accounting services. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLLP served as the Corporation’s independent
registered public accounting firm for fiscal year 2006.

!I\ representative of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP is expected 10 be present at the Annual Meeting to
respond to questions and to make a statement'if such representative desires (o do so If the stockholders do not
ratify | this appointment by the affirmative vote ofa majority of the shares represented in person or by proxy at the
Annua] Meeting, the Audit Committee will consider other independent registered publlc accounting firms,

'll'he Board of Directors recommends a vote “FOR” ratlﬁcatloni of the appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as the Corporation’s independent registered public accounting firm for the
fiscal year ending December 31, 2007. ' |

. - '
. ]
i

:

i
| s
|
|
|




MANAGEMENT

The following sets forth certain information as of March 12, 2007 with respect to the Corporation’s
nominees for director, the Corporation’s continuing directors and certain officers of the Corporation and its
subsidiaries (including all executive officers of the Corporation). Officers of the Corporation serve at the
discretion of the Board of Directors. '

Nominees for Director
Class 1 Directors who will serve until the 2007 Annual Meeting and are seéking re-election

- Dr. Robert E. Bew—Director and Chairman since May 7, 1998 - Age: 70

Dr. Robert Bew serves as Non-Employee Chairman of the Corporation. Until January 1, 2001 he was Chairman
‘ of the Euvropean Process Industries Competitiveness Centre, an organization specializing in increasing
| competitiveness in process industries, and until 2002 he was Chairman of the Teesside Chemical Initiatives

(TCI). He spent over 35 years with 1Cl, most recently as CEO of ICI's International Chemical & Polymer
‘ division based in Teesside, U.K. Previously he served as head of ICI Corporate Planning and between 1995 and
1997 he was also Chairman of Phillips Imperial Petroleum Ltd., a refinery joint venture between ICI and Phillips
Petroleum. Dr. Bew is a member of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee,

Martin M. Hule—Director since February 27, 1998 Age: 66
Martin Hale is a Dirlector of Chemtura Corporation (formerly Great Lakes Chemical Corporation (“Great Lakes™)
which merged with Crompton Corporation to form Chemtura Corporation on July 1, 2005), having been a
Director of Great Lakes since 1978 and from 1995 until May 2000 served as Chairman. Prior to 1983, Mr. Hale
| was President and Chief Executive Officer of Marsh & McClennan Asset Management Company. From 1983 to
2001 Mr. Hale was; Executive Vice President and Partner of Hellman Jordan Management Co, a registered
investment adviser. |Hc also serves as a Trustee of the Museum of Fine Arts, Boston. Martin Hale is the brother of
Charles Hale who lis also a Director of the Corporation. Mr. Martin Hate is the Chairman of the Audit
! Committee.

Continuing Directors
Class I Directors who will serve until the 2008 Annual Meeting

Charles M. Hale—Diirector since May 7, 1998 Age: 71
Charles Hale is Executive Chairman of Polar Capital Partners Limited, a London based asset management
company regulated by the UK’s Financial Services Authority. Prior to 2002, he was Vice Chairman of CSFB
Europe Limited, having been Chairman of Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette International, the London based
subsidiary of Donaldson Lufkin & Jenrette Inc., until its acquisition by Credit Suisse First Boston in November
2000. Prior to 1984, he was a general partner of Lehman Brothers Kuhn Loeb and Managing Director of AG
Becker International. Mr. Hale is a graduate of Stanford University and Harvard Business School. Charles Hale is
the brother of Martin Hale who is also a director of the Corporation. Mr. Charles Hale is a member of the Audit
and Compensation Committees.

Samuel A. Haubold—Director since November 19, 2002 Age: 68
Samuel A. Haubold regularly serves as an arbitrator and mediator of international commerciat disputes. He is i
currently affiliated with Littleton Chambers, a chamber of barristers in London. Prior to his retirement in July |
2003, Mr. Haubold had been the Senior Partner of Kirkland & Ellis International in London since 19935.

Mr. Haubold is a graduate of the Harvard Law School and is a member of the Advisory Council of the Institute |
of the Americas, University of London. Mr. Haubold is the Chairman of the Nominating and Corporate

Govemnance Committee and a member of the Compensation Committee. !
1
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Hugh G. C. Aldous—Director since January 11, 2005 : ' Age: 62
Hugh Aldous is a partner at RSM Robson Rhodes Chartered Accountants and Management Consultants where
he served as Chief Executive Officer from 198‘7 to 1997. Mr. Aldous currently sérves as Chairman of Eastern
European Trust ple, a London listed co-mvestor in Russia and Eastern Ellll‘Ope Mr.. Aldous is also a
non-executive director of two UK listed pubhc investment companies Hendersob TR Pacific Investment Trust
plc and Elderstreet Venture Capital Trust plc Mr. Aldous was a member of the UK Competition Commission,
has aulhored several reports on corporate governance issues, has served as the audlt committee chairperson for
severa] companies and currently chairs the audnt committee of one public company and serves as a member of the
audit committee of another. Mr. Aldous is a member of the Audit Commlttee :

Class I Directors who will serve until the 2009 Annual Meeting '

'!JamesM C. Puckridge—Director since May 7, 1998 Age: 71
James Puckridge was Chairman of EIf Atochem U.K. Ltd., a position he assumed in 1990, until his retirement on
December 31, 1998. Prior to that he was Managmg Director of the same organlzatlon He is a past President of
the Brmsh Plastics Federation and a former Council Member of the Chemical [ndusmes Association, where he
was ICha.lrman of the General. Purpose and Finance Committee. He has been Chamnan of the Trustees of the
Innospec Limited Pension Plan since October 3, 2000. Mr. Puckridge is Chairman of the Compensation
Com!mlttee and a member of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee.

Pciul W. Jennings—Director since June 23, 2005 l Age: 49
Paul]Jennmgs serves as President and Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation,’ having been appointed to this
posmon on June 23, 2005. Prior to this he served as Executive Vice President and Chlef Financial Officer having
Jomed the Corporation in November 2002 Before joining the Corporation, Mr Jennings served as Chief
F1nanc1al Officer for Griffin LLC, a joint venture between Griffin Corporation and lDu Pont in the crop protection
chermcal industry based in the USA. From 1986 to 1999, Mr. Jennings held the positions of Chief Financial
Officer and Vice President—Finance for vanous divisions and regions of Courtaulds plc working in Europe,
USAland Singapore spanning the fiber, chemlcal film and coating industries. Mr' Jennings was appointed as a
non-executive director of Exide Technologies with effect from September 18, 20(_)6

{
Officers (other than those who are directors and listed above)

Ian Cleminson (Appointed July 3, 2006) I : Age: 41
Ian Clemmson serves as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer to the Corporation, having joined
itin February 2002. Prior to his appointment as Chief Financial Officer, Mr. Clemmson was Financial Controller
for the Fuel Specialties and Performance Chemlcals divisions within Innospec. He joined the Corporation from
BASF plc where between 1999 and 2002 he served as Financial Controller of lhelr Superabsorbants division.
Prev1ously, he worked as a senior manager with KPMG, the global accountancy firm, havmg worked as an
accountant in private practice since 1989.

Andrew Hartley (Appointed November l 2004) Age: 50
Andrew Hartley serves as Vice President and General Counsel to the Corporauon having been appointed as
Corporate Secretary on November 1, 2004. P‘nor to this, Mr. Hartley was Company Secretary and General
Counsel of BASF ple, the UK subsidiary of t.he global chemical company, BASF AG. He has held in-house legal
posmons since 1990, prior to which he worked in private practice. .

IlDr Catherine Hessner (Appointed August 12, 2003) Age: 48
Cathy Hessner serves as Senior Vice President, Human Resources of the Corporation, having joined it in March
2003 ! Pnor to joining the Corporation, she served as European Human Resources Dtrector for Nova Chemicals, a
Us commodlty chemicals company. From 1995 to 1999, Dr. Hessner served as European HR Director, based in
the U|K for Anheuser-Busch, the U.S. brewmg corporation and, prior to that, spent nine years with various
divisions of Mars Incorporated in a variety of human resources and general business roles.




Dr. lan McRobbie (Appointed May 7, 2002) : Age: 58
lan McRobbie serves as Senior Vice President, Research and Technology, having joined the Corporation in
January 2002. Between 1989 and 2002 he was Technical Director of A H Marks and Company Ltd., a privately
owned British chemical company operating in agrochemical and specialty chemical markets. Prior to this, he
worked in senior research and manufacturing roles for Seal Sands Chemical Co. Ltd. (a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Hexcel Corporation based in California) and BTP plc (now part of Clariant).

Richard T. Shone (Appointed May 7, 2002) - Age: 9
Richard Shone serves as Vice President, Safety, Health and Environment of the Corporauon having joined the
Corporation in a similar capacity in May 1997. Prior to that, from 1986, he served as General Manager, Group
Safety Hazards and Environment of Laporte plc, having previously worked for the U.K.’s Health and Safety
Executive,

Patrick Williams (Appointed September 6, 2005) Age: 42
Patrick Williams serves as Executive Vice President and President, Fuel Specialties of the Corporation. Prior to
holding this position, Mr. Williams held a number of senior management and sales leadership positions in
Innospec Fuel Specialties LLC, latterly acting as the Chief Executive Officer of this business. Before joining
Starreon Corporation in 1993 prior to the joint venture with Innospec Inc., Mr. Williams established a number of
businesses and currently holds equity positions in a small exploration and oil production company and a real
estate business.

Mr. James Lawler, former Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, resigned effective July 3,
2006. W. Martin Dawson, former Senior Vice President and Managing Director, Performance Chemicals,
resigned as an officer effective May 1, 2006.

- Family Relationships

A Charles Hale, who is a director of the Corporation, is the brother of Martin Hale, who is also a director of
the Corporation. Th;ere are no other family relationships between any of the persons referred to in the sections
“Nominees for Director”, “Continuing Directors” or “Officers™ above. -

1

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS . ‘

The Corporation’s Form 10-K dated March 16, 2007, a copy of which is enclosed with this Proxy Statement
and which was filed with the SEC on March 16, 2007 sets forth details of legal proceedings in which the
Corporation is involved. Information relating to such legal proceedings is incorporated herein by reference.

No director or ofﬁcer and to our knowledge no affiliate of the Corporation or any associate of any director
or officer is mvolved or has a material interest in, any proceedings which would have a material adverse effect
on the Corporation.

Ttem 103 of Regulation S-K requires disclosure of administrative or judicial proceedings arising under any
federa), state or local provisions dealing with protection of the environment, if the monetary sanctions might
exceed $100,000. There are currently no such proceedings.

Except as described above, there are no other material pending legal proceedings to which the Corporation
or any of its subsidiaries is a party, or of which any of their property is subject, other than ordinary, routine
litigation incidental to their respective businesses. '

]
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[ | CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Corporate Governance Guidelines

lOur Board of Directors believes that the purpose of corporate governance 1s to ensure that we maximize
stockholder value in a manner consistent with all applicable legal and regulalory requirements as well as the
hlghest standards of business ethics and integrity. The Corporation has adopted z a set of Corporate Governance
Guidelines available on the Corporation’s website, including specifications for director qualification and
responsnblllty, which the Board and senior management believe promote thlS purpose and represent best
practlces The Board of Directors believes that corporate governance is an evolvmg process and periodically
reviews and updates the Corporate Govemance Guidelines. ‘

The guidelines can be accessed electronically in the Investor ReldHOHS section of our website,
www.innospecinc.com, by writing to Investor Relations at Innospec Inc., [nnospec Manufacturing Park, Oil Sites
Road, Ellesmere Port, Cheshire, CH65 4EY, England, or by e-mailing investor@innospecinc.com.

| l

|
Infurmation about the Board of Directors |

Atrendance ' *

Thc Board of Directors met four times and the Committees of the Board met a total of nineteen times during
ﬁscal year ended December 31, 2006. Directors are expected to attend all Board Meetings and meetings of
committees on which they serve. All of the directors attended the 2006 Annual Meelmg Each of the directors
attcnded all of the meetings of the Board and meetings of committees of the Board on which he served in person
or by teleconference.

Independent Board of Directors ,

The Board of Directors, after considering broadly all relevant facts and circumstances of which it is aware,
mcludmg those matters sct forth under' “Certain Other Transactions and Relationships” and under
“Management—Farmly Relationships”, has determined that a majority of its members are independent within the
mca:yng of the NASDAQ Stock Market listing rules applicable on the date hereof. | I

'Il'he Corporation adopted the following standards for director independence m'comphance with NASDAQ'’s
corporatc governance listing standards. |

l!. No director qualifies as “independent” unless the Board affirmatively determines that the director has
no material relationship with the Corporation or its wholly-owned subsidiaries (t:;lther directly or as a partner,
stockholdcr or officer of an organization that has a relationship with the Corporation). These determinations must
be dlsclosed !

2!_. The Board has established the following criteria for determining director irltldcpcndcnce:

l a. A director who is an employee, or whose immediate family member is an executive officer of the
Corporation is not “independent” until thrce years after the end of such employmem relationship;

b. A director who receives, or whose immediate family member receives, more than $60,000 per year
in direct compensation from the Corporation, other than director and committee fees and pension or other
forms of deferred compensation for prior service (provided such compensationf is not contingent in any way
on continued service), is not “independent” until three years after he or she|ceases to receive more than

_ $60 000 per year in such compensation;

| c. A director who is affiliated wnth or employed by, or whose immediate family member is affiliated
with or employed in a professional capacity by, a present or former internal or external registered public

| ,

l
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accounting firm of the Corporation is not “independent” until three years after the end of the affiliation or
the employment or auditing relationship;

d. A director who is employed, or whose immediate family member is employed, as an executive
officer of anotlher company where any of the Corporation’s present executives serve on that company’s
compensation committee is not “independent” until three years afier the end of such service or the
employment rellationship; and

e. A director who is an executive officer or an employee, or whose immediate family member is an
executive ofﬁc;er, of a company that makes payments to, or receives payments from, the Corporation for
property or services in an amount which, in any single fiscal year, exceeds the greater of $200,000, or 5% of
such other company’s consolidated gross revenues, is not “independent” until three years after falling below
such threshold.

The Board determined that each member of the Board, except for Mr. Jennings, meets the aforementioned
independence standards. Mr. Jennings does not meet the aforementioned independence standards, because, as the
current President and Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation, he is an employee of the Corporation,

With effect from March 22, 2006 the Corporation voluntarily withdrew its common stock listing from the
New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) and listed its common stock on the NASDAQ Stock Market
(“NASDAQ”). Rule 4200(a)(15) of NASDAQ’s Marketplace Rules sets forth the applicable criteria for
determining director independence. By virtue of Rule 4200(a)(15), all directors of the Corporation, except for
Mr. Jennings, may be defined as independent.

Executive Sessions of Non-Employee Directors

“Non-employee” directors are all those who are not Corporation officers, and includes such directors who
are not independent by virtue of a material relationship, former status or family membership, or for any other
reason. Executive sessions are led by the Chairman. An executive session is held in conjunction with each
regularly scheduled ‘Board meeting and other sessions may be called by the Chairman at his own discretion or at
the request of the Board. Dr. Robert E. Bew has been designated as the Chairman. There were four executive
sessions during the fiscal year 2006.

Contacting the Board of Directors

Any stockholder who desires to contact the Chairman or any of the directors of the Corporation may do so
via the following e-mail address: contact.board@innospecinc.com, or by writing to them at Innospec Inc.,
Innospec Manufacturing Park, Oil Sites Road, Ellesmere Port, Cheshire, CH65 4EY, England. Communications
received electronicallly or in writing will be forwarded to the addressee of the communication.

Committees of the Board of Directors

The CorporatiQn has Audit, Compensation and Nominating and Corpbrate Governance Committees, the
members of which are as shown below.

Audit Committee -

The Audit Committee operates pursuant to a written Charter, and is responsible for monitoring and
overseeing the Corporation’s internal controls and financial reporting process, the independent audit of the
Corporation’s consolldalcd financial statements by the Corporation’s independent registered public accounting
firm, Pr:ccwalerhouseCoopers LLP, and the other responsibilities set forth in its Charter. The Charter was filed
with the Corporation’s 2005 Proxy Statement. Mr. C. Hale has served as a member of this Committee since its
formation on May 11, 1998. On February 20, 2002 Mr. M. Hale was appointed Chairman of the Committee. On
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March 31, 2004, Dr. Bew was appointed to the Committee. Mr. H. Aldous was Lppomted to the Committee on
February 15, 2005. Dr Bew resigned from the Committee with effect from December 31, 2005. Each of the
members of the Committee meets the criteria for director independence for servrcle on the audit committee as set
forth in Rule 4350(d) of NASDAQ's Marketplaee Rules. The Committee met elght times during the fiscal year
2006 . i

*All Audit Commmee members possess the required level of financial 11teracy and at [east one member of
the Comrmttee meets the current standard of requisite financial management expemse as required by NASDAQ
on lhe date hereof. The Board of Directors has determined that Messrs. M. Hale and H. Aldous qualify as Audit
Comimittee Financial Experts, as such term is defined in Item 401(h) of Regulation S-K, and are independent for
purposes of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange: Act™). The Board made this
determination based on Mr. M. Hale’s 40 years of experience as a securities analyst and portfolio manager with
ernphasns on balance sheet study and his direct experience serving on the audit comnnttee of the Great Lakes
Chermcal Corporation (now Chemtura Corporation) for the last 26 years (mcludmg five years as its chairman),
and Mr Aldous’ qualification as a chartered, accountant and appointment as a parmer of RSM Robson Rhodes,
Chartered Accountants. '

*PncewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the Corporation’s independent registered public accounting firm, reports
directly to the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee, consistent with the Sarbanes-QOxley Act of 2002 and the rules adopted thereunder,
meets with management and the independent registered public accounting firm prior to the filing of officers’
certlﬁcanons with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) to receive information concemning,
among other things, significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in the deISIgn or operation of internal
controls, !

Any stockholder or employee may subrmt at any time a good faith complamt regarding any questionable
accountmg, internal accounting controls, or auditing matters concerning' the Corporation without fear of
dlsmlssal or retaliation of any kind. Employees are encouraged to report their concerns and complaints to the
Corporate Secretary or to the Audit Committee. Confidential, anonymous reports may be made by writing to:
C‘orporate Secretary, Innospec Inc., Innospec Manufacturing Park, Oil Sites Road Ellesmere Port, Cheshire,
CH65 4EY, England. The Audit Committce has adopted a Complaint Momtonng Procedure Policy to enable
conﬁdennal and anonymous reporting to the Audit Committee. All complamts'recelved by the Corporation
regardmg accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters will be retained in accordance with the
Corporatron s document retention policy.

| [ :

The Corporation’s Internal Audit group reports directly to the Audit Committe?.

[

The Corporation limits the number of public company audit committees on which its audit committee

mernbers may serve to three or less,

. |
The Audit Committee Report appears later in this Proxy Statement. l
|
The Compensation Committee operates under a formal charter that governs its duties and standards of

performance. The Charter was filed with the Corporation’s 2004 Proxy Statement. i
|

The Compensation Committee reviews management compensation programsi recommends compensation
terms' and agreements for senior executive officers to the Board for Board afnproval reviews changes in
compensauon for senior executive officers and non-employee directors and administers the Corporation’s stock
optlon plans. Mr. Puckridge and Mr. C. Hale were appointed to the Commmee on February 20, 2002.
Mr. Puckndge was appointed Chairman on March 31, 2004. Mr. Haubold was appomtecl to the Committee on
April 1, 2004. Each of the members of the Committee meets the criteria for dlreclor independence as set forth in
Rule 4200(a)(15) of NASDAQ's Markeiplace Rules. The Commitiee met four times' during the fiscal year 2006.

| .
le'npensanon Committee
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Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

As described under “Director Independence” above, each of the Compensation Committee members are
independent under the rules of the NASDAQ Stock Market and under the Corporation’s independence criteria.

During 2006 no Compensation Committee members were officers or employees of the Corporation, were
former officers of the Corporation or were engaged in transactions with a related person that would be required to
be disclosed by the rules promulgated by the SEC,

In addition, during 2006 none of the Corporation’s executive officers served as directors or board committee
members of other entities, of which no executive officers served as a director of the Corporation or as a member
of any of the Corporation’s Board Commitiees.

Nominating and Corporate Governance Commiltee '

On November 19, 2002, the Corporation formed a Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee and
appointed Mr. Haubold as its Chairman and Mr. Puckridge as a member. Dr. Bew was appointed to the
Committee on November 1, 2005, The purpose of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is to
identify individuals qualified to become Board members consistent with criteria approved by the Board,
recommend to the Board the persons to be nominated by the Board for election as directors at the annual meeting
of stockholders, develop and recommend to the Board a set of corporate governance principles and oversee the
evaluation of the Board and management. The Committee met three times during the fiscal year 2006.

Each of the members of the Committee meets the criteria for director independence as set forth in Rule
4200(a)(15) of NASDAQ’s Marketplace Rules. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee operates
under a formal charter that governs its duties and standards of performance The Charter was filed with the
Corporation’s 2004 Proxy Statement. : :

The Nominatin'g and Corporate Governance Committee utilizes a variety of methods for identifying and
evaluating nominees for director. The Committee regularly assesses the appropriate size of the Board and
whéther vacancies on the Board are expected due to retirement or otherwise. In the event that vacancies are
anticipated, or otherwise arise, the Committee considers potential candidates for director. Candidates may come
to the attention of the Committee through current Board members, professional search firms, stockholders or
other persons. These candidates are evaluated at regular or special meetings of the Committee and may be
considered at any time during the year. The nominees for election at this year’s Annual Meeting of Stockholders
were recommended for nomination by non-employee directors of the Corporation,

The policy of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is to consider properly submitted
stockholder nominations for election to the Board as described in the Corporate Governance Guidelines which
may be found at Appendix A of the Corporation’s 2004 Proxy Statement. In order for any candidate to be
considered by the Committee, and if nominated, included in the Proxy Statement, such recommendation should
be received no later than the deadline for submission of stockholder proposals. See “Stockholders™ Proposals For
the 2007 Annual Meeting”. Recommendations should be sent to the Corporate Secretary and should specify the
nominee’s name, quahﬁcauon for Board membership and any other information required by the Corporation’s
Bylaws. All properly submitted stockholder proposals for director nominees received by the Corporate Secretary
will be submitted to the Committee for review and consideration.

\ Code of Ethics

Managemcnt has adopted a Code of Ethics, violations of which may be reported to the Chairman of the
Nominating and Corporale Governance Committee or the Corporate Secretary. This Code of Ethics is intended to
promote, among other things, honest and ethical conduct, full and accurate reporting and compliance with
applicable laws and Iregulations.
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Copiev of Code of Ethics, Corporate Governance Guidelines and Committee Charters

| Any stockholder who requires a copy of the Code of Ethics, Corporate Govemancc Guidelines or any of the
Board Commitiee Charters may obtain one by writing to Investor Relatlons at Innospec Inc., Innospec
Manufactunng Park, Oil Sites Road, Ellesmere Port, Cheshire, CH65 4EY, England, or by e-mail to:
mvestor@mnospccmc com. These documents can also be accessed vnal the Corporation’s website,
ww?v mnospecmc com. The Charters of the Committees may be accessed at the Corporation’s website at
www.innospecinc.com under the “About Us”, then “Corporate Governance” headtlngs

| ' a

i COMPENSAﬁON DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

‘Our executive compensation program is designed to help us recruit and retam the executive talent required
to successfully manage our businesses. Accordingly, the overall compensation program is designed to motivate
cmployees to achieve business objectives and maximize their long-term commitment to our success by providing

compensatmn elements that align executives’ interests with shareholder value and achievement of our long-term
stratlegles

Compensation Philosophy . |

]The compensation philosophy of the Corporation is to link executive] compensation to continuous

impl;ovement in corporate performance and increases in stockholder value. The goals of the Corporation’s

executlve compensation programs are to:
!
Establish pay levels that are necessary to attract and retain highly qualified executives in light of the

overall competitiveness of the market for high quality executive talent|and the Corporation’s unique
business profile.

| Recognize superior individual performance, new responsibilities and new positions within the
i Corporation.

I

i Balance short-term and long-term compensation to complement the Corporatlon s annual and Jong-term
T

business objectives and strategy and to encourage executive performance in the fulfilment of those
objectives.

Provide variable compensation opportunities based on the Corporation’s performance.
Encourage stock ownership by executives.

Align executive remuneration with the interests of stockholders.

Focus on reward for achievement of exceptional performance.

Thc Corporation regularly carries out a review of the market to ensure that each component of our executive
compensation program is competitive at the market median, and aims to prm"ldc a balance between fixed
elements of pay and performance related elements. No element of compensation is driven by tax, accounting or
regullatory considerations, Further information on each of the components of compe;nsatmn is given below.

Role of the Compensation Commiitee and its advisors in determining compensanon

Thc Corporation’s Compensation Committee is responsible for assnsnng the Board in fulfilling its
responsnbllmcs for establishing and mamtammg executive compensation and incentive programs in accordance
with the philosophy outlined above. The Committee provides oversight to el'llSUI'C that compensation and
1nccnt1ve programs are competitive, closely related to the achievement of corporate objectives and aligned with
long- -term interests of shareholders. The Chief Executive Officer (“CEO™) ma‘kes recommendations to the
Committee on the performance of the senior executive officers, excluding himself. The Senior Vice President,
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Human Resources provides information to the Committee as requested. No further role is played by executive
officers. The Compensation Committee reviews and, if appropriate, approves the recommendations of the CEO
on the base salary for the named executive officers. In addition, the Committee recommends a base salary for the
CEO to the Board, taking into account the market information provided by Hay Group, the performance of the
CEO in the previous year and the overall business performance and results. Independent advice is provided to the
Committee by Hay Group, who were appointed by the Committee. As part of their role as advisors to the
Committee, Hay Group undertake external benchmarking of the senmior executive salaries and overall
compensation packages and provide ad hoc advice and support to the Chairman of the Committee as required. In
addition, they provide advice on the CEQ’s overall package and attend at least one Compensation Committee
meeting a year. In 2006, the advisors attended onc meeting of the Compensation Committee and had a number of
telephone or e-mail discussions with the Chairman of the Committee. Any additional work undertaken by the
advisor for the Corppration must have the approval of the Committee.

Elements of Compensation - '

The material elements of compensation for the Corporation’s named executive officers are discussed and
explained in separate sections below.

A. Base Salary

The level of base salary takes into account a number of factors. Each year the external market is assessed by
Hay Group, as independent advisors, and base salary is targeted at the median level of the relevant market. In
addition, the level’ and scope of responsibility, experience, and corporate, business unit and individual
performance are all key criteria in evaluating role size and hence base salary determination.

The relevant external market and the Hay Group pay database used for executives based in the UK
comprises UK-based roles within industrial and service companies. All executive jobs are assessed and graded as
described above, ensuring that when they are matched into the database by Hay Group, only jobs which are of a
similar size are included. We believe that this approach is appropriate as it takes into account the specific nature
of the roles as well as the size of the Corporation, the nature of its business and the markets within which it
operates.

In addition we look at data for companies based in the UK with a revenue range of $275 million to $550
million and a market capitalization range of $320 million to $505 million. This’ prowdee an additional check to
ensure that there is consistency in the data.

For the executive based in the US, namely the position of Executive Vice President, Fuel Specialties, US
Chemical Industry data is used. Again the role is assessed before matching it into the database to ensure it is
compared with jobs of a similar size in the United States.

In setting base salaries the Compensation Committee target the median (50" percentile) of the survey group.
Individual salaries within a range are determined by each officer’s experience, expertise, overall performance and
contribution. to the Corporation and market competitiveness. We believe that this methodology enables us to
remain competitive in our markets without incurring unnecessary costs. In 2006, Mr. Jennings’ base salary was
increased by 5.45% to $532,527. The base salary increases for the other named executive officers were on
average 4.1%, based on a competitive analysis.

B. Incentives

Incentive programs are operated both over the short-term and the long-term. Linking a significant
proportion of pay to performance is a key element of executive remuneration. In setting the policy levels, the
Compensation Com'mittee reviewed each element of overall compensation and targeted market median practice
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in terms of the different components, using the benchmark market specified above. The Commiitee believes that
the 'overall compensation has the appropriate balance between long and short!term incentives and cash and
non:cash compensation, based on knowledge of market practices. However, the C‘ommlttee expects to review the
policy on the allocation of compensation between the different elements of relward during 2007 to ensure it
continues to be appropriate for the Corporation and in line with market practice. The features of the incentive
programs operated by the Corporation are outlined below. i

i) Annual Incentives
i 1
Management Incentive Compensation Plan (MICP)

iThe Corporaticn’s short term incentive plan is the MICP which is driven bly annual performance. For the
executives and senior management team, payments are based on achievement agamst pre-determined targets set
by the Board for corporate performance and business unit performance (where appropriate) and personal
performance against objectives. All bonus payments are subject to a corporate performance threshold: if this is
not achleved then no bonus payments are made to individuals for that year regardless of personal and business
umt|performance Further, for those individuals with a business unit performance measure, if business unit
perfonnance is below a threshold level then no bonus will be paid for that year, trrespectlve of overall corporate
and individual performance. i

lIn the case of the CEQ, the Commitiee has set a target bonus of 55% of his base salary. In calculating the
bonus due, 70% is based on the achievement of corporate targets and business performance and 30% is based on
achlevement of personal objectives. In the case of the named executives, the target bonus is set at 40% (33% in
the case of Mr. Williams, Executive Vice President and President, Fuel Specnaltles see note 1 below), with 80%
based on Corporate and business performance and 20% based on achievement of pt;arsonal objectives,

l Corporate/Business l Target Bonus as

| ! Performance Personal objectives % of salary
CEO .....ooviiiiiii . 70% of target bonus  30% of target bonus 55%
ISenior Executives .................. (- 80% of target bonus  20% of target bonus 40%1

Q)] [n the case of Mr. Williams, (Executive Vice President and President Fuel Specialties) the large{ boenus level under this Plan is set at
33%, as he is also eligible for a bonus of up to a maximum of 50% of his base salary under a US bonus plan.

|

The Compensation Committee reviews the allocation between business and personal performance each year
to ensure it is appropriate. : {

The performance measures are also reviewed to ensure they remain appropriate and stretching. The
corporate measures are currently based on achievement of targeted levels of corporate cash and corporate
operattmg income. These are key performance indicators for the Corporation. Personal objectives are specific to
the partlcular business area or function within which the executive operates. In addition to the personal element
shown above, if an individual’s performance assessment for the year is below éatlsfactory then the bonus is
reduced or no bonus paid at all. !

' |

The levels of target bonus are kept under review and are targeted at the medlan level against the market. In
2006 the maximum bonus achievable for out-performance was equal to 150% of target bonus. In the case of the
CEQ)| this gives a maximum bonus potential of 82.5% of his base salary, In the case of the other executives, the
maximum bonus potential is 60% of their base salary (50% in the case of Mr. Wllhams) This is also reviewed to
makeisure the incentive to deliver exceptional performance is in line with market trends.

No awards are made under the bonus scheme until the annual business results have been audited by the
lndependent registered public accounting firm and approved by both the Audit Comrmttee of the Board and the
full Board. Maximum bonuses are awarded when the business exceeds its targets for the business results by 10%.
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If however the business results are less than 90% of the targets, no bonuses are paid to any executive, regardless
of their personal performance.

In 2006, in determining the amount of bonus earned by the CEO, the Committee took into account, amongst
other things, the significant improvement in the external value and perception of the Corporation, the improved
operating performance of the Corporation and the simplified organization which resulted in improved
effectiveness. Based on the strong performance and results of the Corporation, the Board approved the
Compensation Committee’s recommendation for Mr. Jennings to be awarded a maximum bonus of $439,337.

A provision has now been introduced which allows for potential claw-back of bonuses already paid if, at
some point in the future, it is identified that the audited results were inaccurate or need to be restated.

Co-Investment Plan

In recognition of the need to align shareholder and executive interests, the Corporation introduced the
Co-Investment Plan in 2004. Under the terms of the plan an executive may invest a portion of the annual bonus
(paid in accordance with the targets above) to purchase shares in the Corporation and receive an award of
matching shares as described below. If the executlive receives a bonus for exceeding his targets, then the
executive is required to use one-third of that part of his bonus which is in excess of his target bonus to purchase
shares, which will be matched as indicated: ’ -

Bonus payment Compulsory amount Voluntary amount Match
Up to target bonus level ... None Maximum 50% of 1 matching share for
payment every 2 shares
purchased
Above target bonus level .. One third of any bonus Up to maximum of 1 matching share for
payment above the 100% of any bonus every share purchased
target level payment above the

target bonus level

All elections for deferral must be made within 21 days of the bonus notification date. Shares will be
purchased at market price on the next available trading opportunity in accordance with the Corporation’s trading
policy. Participants-in the plan must generally remain employed for 3 years and continue to hold the shares
purchased under ;hié plan in order to receive the matching shares. The Compensation Committee retains the
discretion to permit release of matching shares in certain circumstances. In the event that the Corporation
undergoes a change of control, restrictions on the matching shares will lapse and shares will be released.

i) Long term Incentives
Share option plans

To further align shareholder and executive interests and to drive long-term performance the Corporation
operates two equity based incentive plans, the Company Share Option Plan (CSOP) and the Performance Related
Share Option Plan (PRSOP). The policy for granting options to the named executives under these plans is
targeted at the UK market median and is as follows:

CSOP grants as % of base salary PRSOP grants as % base salary

CEO ... 20% 75%
Senior Executives ............ 15% 45%

For example, the CEO will typically receive CSOP options, valued at market price, to the value of 20% of
his base salary. ’ '
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Other employees also participate in these plans but with a lower grant level.

In line with the focus on performence excellence, the performance rating of{an individual is also taken into
account in determining the grants made as follows

Rating 1, defined as outstanding performance—lZS% of policy is granted
Rating 2, defined as exceeding performance expectations—100% of policy is granted
Rating 3, defined as a good performancie-—?S% of policy is granted

If an individual receives a performance rating of below expectations for the year, they do not reccive any

stock option grants for that year. \

The performance of the senior team is assessed by the CEQO and the Compensation Committee. The CEQ
recommends a rating to the Compensation Committee. The Compensation Comrmttee reviews these and assesses
the performance of the CEQO and makes a ﬁna] recommendation on performance ratings to the full Board for
appll'oval

l This provrdes for a rigorous performance—related grant policy, in addition to the performance elements of
the grants themselves.

In 2006, Mr. Jennings was rated as exceedmg performance expectations and as such was awarded stock
options at 100% of the policy levels. In'the case of the other named executive ofﬁcers based on the assessment
of l.hCU' individual performance, as approved by the Compensation Committee, Dr McRobbie, Dr. Hessner and
Mr. Williams were awarded stock options at' 100% of the policy levels and Mr. Hartley and Mr. Cleminson were
awarded stock options at 75% of the policy.;Under the terms of his agreement with the Corporation, Mr. Lawler
was!not eligible for any stock option awards.;

.The grants are issued on a date set by the Compensation Committee each|year. This is usually after the
release of the annual financial results. The Commlttee determines the grant date to be used in advance and the
share price used is typically the closing share price at the end of the day prior to the agreed grant date.

CSOoP

Under the CSOP, options are granted at market value and become exerc1sable after three years. All options
have a ten year term. Options are granted within 20 days after the announcement of results or similar
_mformauon o 0

Except in certain circumstances participants must remain in employment with the Corporation in order io be
ablel to exercise their options. The exceptions to this include death, injury, ill- health or disability, redundancy and
the transfer of the part of the business within which the option holder works. In thése cases, under the rules of the
Pla,ni options vest and the holder has al2 month period to exercise the options.
l

In the event of a change of control of the Corporation, under the rules of the Plan, all options become
exercisable. ;

i

i
PRSOP ! .
Under the PRSOP, participants are grzinted the right to acquire shares at no cost provided that specified

performance criteria are achieved. The performance criteria that are set are desrgn’ed to be “stretch” targets which
focus on delivery of high performance and enhancing shareholder value. The performance criteria are regularly
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reviewed to ensure that they remain relevant and stretching. The criterion for awards made in 2006 is based on
total shareholder return measured over a three year period starting with the financial year of the date of grdnt
The following levels of growth must be achieved before awards vest:

Compound growth in total

shareholder return per annum . Proportion of eptions vesting
10% 100%
6% 40%
Below 6% ' 0% (Nil)

Awards vest on a straight line basis for growth between 6% and 10% pa.

The grants are issued on a date set by the Compensation Committee each year. This is usually after the
release of the annual financial results. The Committee determines the grant date to be used in advance and the
share price used is typically the closing share price at the end of the day prior to the agreed grant date.

If participants cease employment with the Corporation prior to the end of the vesting period awards will
lapse unless the Compensation Committee determines otherwise.

In the event of a change of control of the Corporation, under the rules of the Plan, all options become
exercisable.

C. Shareholding Guide»lines

To further align shareholder and executive interests the Corporation has adopted a shareholding requirement
for the executive team. All executives are required to acquire shares and to retain the equivalent of one times
base salary. This level of sharcholding must be reached within an agreed number of years from appointment. For
example, in the case of the CEQ, this is 4 years from the date of his appointment into his position. Only shares
which are registered in the executive’s name are taken into account for these purposes. Unvested equity awards
do not count.

D. Other Benefits and Perquisites

These are provided as appropriate and are set by reference to median market practice. They consist of
pension arrangements, company car or car allowance, life, disability and medical cover. There are no
nongqualified deferred compensation plans. Full details are set out in the footnotes to the Summary Compensation
Table.

E. Post-termination Compensation

Post-termination arrangements vary depending on the nature of the termination event and are in accordance
with UK market norms. Full details are set out in the footnotes to the Post Employment Payments table.

F. Non Employee Directors

There are also two share plans which are specific to the non employee directors (NEDs). Under the NED
Stock Plan non-employee directors are required to take one quarter of their annual fee in the form of shares in the
Corporation and are required to hold these as shares as long as they remain a NED with the Corporation. The
plan is intended to align the interests of the directors with those of the Corporation and its shareholders.
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i The NEDs are also eligible to participate in the Non Employee Director Stock Option Plan. The policy for

granting options under this plan is
E . ) Grant Grant price
Annual gramt . ... ... oLl e " . 100% of annual basic fee Market price on
the day prior to
i ‘ the day of grant
Imitial grant .. ... ... e 1000 options Zero price

iThe annual basic fee for a NED is currcmly $33 J000 and this is the figure used for the annual grant for all
NEDs, including the Chairman.

o

I
Under this plan optlons become exerciseable after three years and have a teén year term. Generally, NEDs

must remain a NED in order to exercise their options except in the case of death i m' which case options are able to
be exercmed for 2 12 month period after the date of death,

If a NED ceases to be a NED with the Corporation prior to the end of the vesting penod awards will lapse
unless the Compensation Committee determines otherwise.

Summary Compensation Table l

l ‘ Change in
! pénsion fund
i Non-equity value and
! Stock  Option incentive  other deferredt  All other
Salary Bonus Awards Awards compensation i benefits compensation Total

Name and Principal Position Year  (§) ) (5] () ($) F® $) $)
Paul' W Jennings .......... 2006 527938  — — 375076 439337 51945 126,656 1,520,952
President & Chief Executive
Officer |
lan P Cleminson .......... 2006 173,932 - — — 20343 9128 1 — 44380 329,936
b

Executive Vice President &
Fhief Financial Officer

!
Patrick Williams .......... 2006 375421 125,000 — 109381 365,750 — 60,610 1,036,162
Executive Vice President & :
President, Fuel ‘
Specialties I

Ian McRobbie ............ 2006 222,477 — — 148,686 134,553 87,039 143,484 736,239
Senior Vice President, ' ‘
Research & Technology

Cathi’ Hessner ............ 2006 214,082 —  — 117,645 129,478 42,016 56,260 559,481
Senior Vice President, ' !
I;luman Resources

JimbLawler ............... 2006 - - = — - — 692,728 692,728
Executive Vice President &
Chief Financial Officer ;

Comfn'entary on Summary Compensation Table

. Mr Williams is paid in US dollars. All the other Executives above are p:ud in pounds sterling. For the
purposes of the Summary Compensauon Table, an exchange rate of 1.8363 is used for 2006, being the
average exchange rate for that year. The Corporation does not provide restricted stock awards.

® The non equity incentive payments for all Executives listed above relate to u'llcenuve compensation earned
fqr the stated year under the Management Incentive Compensation Plan. Undeq this plan, Mr. Williams has a
target bonus of 33% and a maximum bonus of 50%. In addition, he has an additional potential bonus of 50%
ba';ed on the performance of the Fuel Specialties business in America.

L ln his employment agreement entered into at the time of the purchase of the Slarreon business from the Joint
Vemure it was agreed that Mr. Williams would receive a loyalty bonus subject to his continued employment
w1lh the Corporation.and satisfactory performance in his role. In 2006, Mr. Wllllams received a payment of
$l25 000 under this agreement. There are no more payments due under this agreement
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® Mr. Cleminson was appointed as Chief Financial Officer in July 2006, having previously worked for the

Corporation as Financial Controller for the Fuel Specialties and Performance Chemicals businesses.

Mr. Jennings and Dr. Hessner are members of a defined benefit (final salary) pension plan (Innospec Limited
Pension Plan). Under this scheme, they receive a pension on retirement of 1/57 of their pensionable salary for
each year of service. The amount of their annual salary which is defined as pensionable under this scheme is
capped and for 2006, this cap was set at $199,422. Salary in excess of this is not pensionable. Dr. McRobbie
is also a member of this pension plan but is not subject to the cap on pensionable salary as he joined the
scheme prior to the introduction of the cap. As a result, Dr. McRobbie's pensionable salary is his full base
salary. The values stated under the change in pension value and other deferred benefits relate to the increase
in the qualified pensions in the Innospec Limited Pension Plan only. There are no non qualified pension
benefits for the named executives.

The Corporation also provides a number of defined contribution pension plans for employees. The amount
paid into these plans in 2006 for the named executives by the Corporation is included in all other
compensation and is detailed below.

Mr. Jennings ..... $14,543
Mr. Cleminson . ... $20,099
Mr. Williams ..... $42,335
Dr. McRobbie .... $21,330
Dr. Hessner ...... $12,120

For UK based executives, where pensionable salary is subject to-a cap, executives receive a salary
supplement of 20% in lieu of pension for any salary above the pensions cap. Any supplement paid is taxable.
For 2006, the pensions cap was set at $199,422. The amount paid to individuals is included in all other
compensation and is detailed below.

Mr. Jennings ..... $71,396
Mr. Cleminson ... $ 3,012
Dr. Hessner ...... $ 3,133

Executives based in the UK are entitled to a leased company car or an allowance in lieu of a car. The
allowance is set at $25,087 per annum. Mr. Jennings, Dr. Hessner and Mr. Cleminson all elected to receive
the allowance, whilst Dr. McRobbie elected to take a leased car for part of the year and switched to the
allowance when the lease on the car expired. The amount paid in 2006 for a car/car allowance is included in
all other compensation and is detailed below.

Mr. Jennings ... .. $25,065
Mr. Cleminsor ... $19,722
Dr. Hessner ...... $25,065
Dr. McRobbie .... $26,496

The named executives are eligible for medical insurance and life and disability insurance through programs
which are available to substantively the majority of salaried employees in the relevant part of the business.
The cost of these insurances is included in all other compensation and is detailed below.

Mr. Jennings .. ... $15,651
Mr. Cleminson ... $ 1,548
Mr. Williams ... .. $17,735
Dr. McRobbie .... $ 3,861
Dr. Hessner ...... $10,433

Following the closure of the European headquarters in late 2005, the office base for Mr. Jennings,
Dr. McRobbie and Dr. Hessner was changed to Ellesmere Port. As a result, the Corporation provided
relocation assistance to the value of $91,797 to Dr. McRobbie to enable him to move closer to his new office
base. This is included in the all other compensation figure. In line with the support offered to other affected
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staff, Dr. Hessner was provided with a temporary commuting allowance to

offset the additional transport

costs from this move. In 2006, this commuting allowance was $5,509 and is included in the all other

cl'ompensation figure. -

Mr Lawler stepped down as Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer in July 2006 and left the
Corporauon in October 2006. During the year, in line with his agreement thh the Corporation, Mr. Lawler
was not paid a salary but was compensated via a consulting agreement and chd not receive any benefits or
stock awards. The amount of payment made under the consultancy agreement is shown as all other

compensation.
I
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Grant Based Awards Table

All other All other Grant Date
stock  option Exercise or Fair Value
awards: awards: base price Market price of stock
Estimated Future Payouts under No'of Noof  of option of option  and option

Name Grant Date Equity Plan Awards () securities securities awards ($) awards($) awards($)
Threshold Target Maximum '

Paul W Jennings .. 02/13/2006 7222 12,639 18,055 — C— 0.00 19.94 245,548
President & Chief 02/28/2006 — — — 2,663 — 0.00 23.23 61,063
Executive Officer 02/13/2006 — — — 4,820 19.93 19.94 37,741

Ian P Cleminson . . . 02/13/2006 214 375 535 — — 0.00 19.94 7,276
Executive Vice 07/05/2006 2,000 3,500 5,000 — —_ 0.00 24.54 121,650
President & Chief '

Financial Officer

Patrick Williams .. 02/13/2006 3,160 5,530 7,900 — —_— 0.00 19.94 107,440
Executive Vice 02/13/2006 _ . - — — 2,635 19.93 19.94 20,632
President &

President, Fuel
Specialties

Tan McRobbie . . . .. 02/13/2006 1,834 3210 4,585 — — 0.00 19.94 62,356
Senior Vice 02/28/2006 — — — 815 —_ 0.00 23.23 18,688
President, 02/13/2006 — — — — . 1L,530 1993 19.94 11,980
Research and '

Technology

Cathy Hessner .... 02/13/2006 1,764 3,087 4,410 — — 0.00 19.94 59,976
Senior Vice 02/28/2006  — — — 350 — 0.00 23.23 8,026
President, Human 02/13/2006  — - — — 1470 19.93 19.94 11.510

Resources

Jim Lawler ....... — — — — —_ —_ _ - —
Executive Vice
President & Chief
Financial Officer

Commentary on Grant Based Awards Table

®  Details of the grant policy and performance criteria for the awards made in 2006 are covered earlier in the
Compensation Discussion and Analysis.

® The Grant Based Awards Table details awards made under three separate plans

¢ The PRSOP plan. Options are granted at zero price and vesting is subject to achievement of
performance criteria as set by the Compensation Committee. In 2006, the performance criterion was the
compound increase per annum in Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”). The threshold level is set at 6% per
annum over three years, in which case 40% of the options will vest. The target level is set at 8% per
annum over three years, in which case 70% of the options will vest and the maximum level is set at 10%
compound increase per annum in TSR in which case ail the granted options will vest.

© The CSOPplan, Options are granted at market price and vest after three years.

© The Co-Investment Plan. The named executives are required to use part of their annual incentive
compensation to buy shares in the Corporation and an award of matching stock is made. In order to
receive the matching shares, executives must remain employed with the Corporation and continue to
hold the shares they purchased with their bonus. The stock awards detailed in the table under “All other
stock awards” relates to the matching shares awarded under this scheme
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Paul W Jennings
President and Chief
Executive Officer

|
|

Ian P Cleminson . .. .. ...
Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial
Ofﬁ;ccr
i

Patrick Williams

Executive Vice President
and President, Fuel
Specialties

Ian McRobbie
SeniorVice President,
Rescarch & Technology

t

Cathy Hessner
Senior Vice President,
Human Resources

Jim La!wler
Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial

Ofﬁ(;:cr

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year End !

Option Awards Stock Awards
! ! Equity
Equity Incentive
Incentive Plan Awards:
plans Market or
Awards: Number Equity Incentive payoul value
Number of Nomberof Number of of shares  Market plan Awards:  of unearned
Securities  Securities  Securitles orunits  value of Numberof  shares, units
underlying underlying  underlying of stock  shares or unearned or other
un-exercised un-exercised un-exercisable Option  Option that  units of stock shares, unfts or  rights that
options . optionsUn- unearned  exercise expiration havenot that have other rights that have not
Exercisable exercisable options  Price($) date vested not vested ($) have not vested  vested (§)
2,500 } 21.16 05/1272014 778 36,216
4,820 19.93 0211372016 2,663 123,963
2,820 19.77 02182015
11,222 0.00 027132016 |
2,000 0.00 077252015 i
3,384 0.00 021872015
- 3,200 0.00 05/1272014
35,000 0.00 0341772013
214 0.00 021322016
9 0.00 0X182015
, 68 000 051272014 ’
* 5,000 0.00 071052016
2,635 19.93 02/1372016
rl 054 Q.00 0132006
{240 0.00 021872015
‘5.000 0.00  10/1122004
2,502 ) 17,13 02192012 8i5 37938
1,530 ' 1993 0X132016 318 14,803
1.570 19.77 02/182015 i
1,300 ' 23.00 05/122014 :
489 17.13 02/19/2012 !
1,834 0.00 02132016
! 1,884 0.00 02/1872015
1,540 0.00 05/1272014
1,184 0.00 02/1572012
- 24,000 0.00 03/1772013 !
416 19.93 02132016 350 16,203
1,130 19.77 O0X182015 306 14,244
1,000 23.00 05/122014 }
1,054 19.93 02/1372016
] 764 000 02/1372016
|1 360 0.00 02/1872015
1,100 0.00 05/1222014
18,000 0.00 03/3172013

With respect to non vested or unearned performance based share options, the;number of shares reported in
the table is based on achieving threshold performance goals, as in the previous fiscal year (2005) the performance
achleved did not exceed the threshold performance of 6% increase in TSR per ann'um In the case of the option
grants which expire in 2013, however, the number of shares reported is bdsed on full achievement of the
performancc criteria as these shares vest in March 2007 and this is the expected outcome. The number of shares
reported for Mr. Cleminson in the case of those granted in June 2006, which ex'plre in June 2016, and those
reported for Mr. Williams in the case of those which expire in October 2014, are based on full achievement of the
petformance criteria as this is the expected outcome in each case.

i
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Options Exercised and Stock Vested Table

During the year none of the named executives exercised any options or acquired any shares on vesting.

Pensions Benefit Table
Nomber of years of
credited service ot Present Value of Payments
‘ . December 31, Accumuiated During Last
Name } Plan Name 2006 Benefits($) Fiscal Year
Paul W Jennings .............. Innospec Limited Pension Plan 5.563 124,876 0
President and Chief Executive
Officer
Tan McRobbie . ................ Innospec Limjtc;d Pension Plan 5.0 187,316 0
Senior Vice President, Research and
Technology
Cathy Hessner ................ Innospec Limited Pension Plan 4.208 84,042 0
Senior Vice President, Human
Resources

® The Corporation operates a defined benefit pension plan for relevant employees based in the UK called the
Innospec Limited Pension Plan. The scheme was available to all employees in the UK, but is now
effectivety closed to new members. Mr. Jennings, Dr. McRobbie and Dr. Hessner are members of this
scheme. The Corporation does not participate in any other defined benefit pension arrangements in respect
of any of the named executives. The Defined Benefit Pension Table therefore covers the Innospec Limited
Pension Plan only.

® The scheme provides a pension on retirement of 1/57 of pensionable salary for each year of service. The
amount of annual salary which is defined as pensionable under this scheme is capped and for 2006 this cap
was set at $199,422, In the case of Mr. Jennings and Dr. Hessner, salary in excess of this is not pensionable.
Dr. McRobbie is also a member of this pension plan but is not subject to the cap on pensionable salary as he
joined the scheme prior to the introduction of the cap. As a result, Dr. McRobbie’s pensionable salary is his
full base salary.

® In the case of the named executives, pensionable salary under the scheme is defined as base salary only, up
to the pensions cap where relevant. Any bonus payments or supplementary payments are not treated as
pensionable.

® Under the rules of the Plan, normal retirement age is 65 although members can retire at 60 without an
actuarial reduction. Retirement between the ages of 55 and 60 is permitied, but the pension payable is
reduced by an amount determined by the actuarial advisors to the trustees of the Plan. If a member of the
scheme is made redundant by the Corporation and is already age 50 or over, then, under the rules of the
Plan, they are able to take their pension immediately without any actuarial reduction. If, however, a member
was under 50 at the time of severance, they would be entitled to unreduced pension benefits from age 55.
Any benefit paid would be in the normal form payable by the Plan, namely a monthly pension with an
option to surrender part of this pension for a tax free lump sum, in line with UK tax regulations.

¢ If an individual chooses to transfer benefits into the Plan from another scheme, they will be provided with a
service credit in licu of the transferred in benefits. The amount of service credit given is calculated by the
actuaries on behalf of the Trustees of the Plan and is designed to be cost neutral to the Plan.

®  Mr. Jennings joined the Innospec Limited Pension Plan on July 1, 2004 and received a service credit of
3.063 years in lieu of transferred in benefits from another scheme. His credited service in the Plan at
December 31, 2006 was therefore 5.563 years. Dr. Hessner joined the Innospec Limited Pension Plan on
July 1, 2004, and on joining the Plan, received a service credit of 1.708 years in lieu of transferred in
benefits, giving a credited service in the Plan at December 31, 2006 of 4.208 years,
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|The Corporation does not provide any non qualified deferred compensation programs.

e
® The present value of accumulated benefits as at December 31, 2006 has been|calculated using the following
‘principal assumptions: |

i Discount rate 51% |
Post retirement pensions  2,8% per annim on pensions in excess of the Gum;anteed Minimum Pension
Increases .......... (GMP). GMP, is assumed to increase in line with statutory requirements '
I
1Pre retirement Individuals are assumed to remain in service and reure at the earliest age at
| decrements ........ which they can take their full pension benefits unreduced in normal health
! and circumstances (age 60 for each of the above mdlwduals)
Post retirement PA92 series tables projected to current calendar year. An allowance is made
mortality .......... for future improvements in mortality which is equwalent to reducing the
discount rate by 0.25% pa. The discount rate of 5.1% pa is before this
reduction. I .
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Post Employment Payments Table

Termination
in event of
Termination  Change of Death in
Retirement  without cause Control service
Name and Principal position $) L] $ %
PaulWlennings................................... 422 882 1,272,632 5273834 6,021,670
President and Chief Executive Officer ................
IsnPCleminson ............... ... it .. 0 346,418 852,695 1,194,890
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer .... ~
PatrickWilliams ............... ... .. i, 70,144 805,144 1,801,069 1,157,944
Executive Vice President and President, Fuel
Specialties . .......... ... ... ..
TanMcRobbie . .............. ... .. 312,591 651,616 2604972 2938716
Senior Vice President, Research and technology ........
CathyHessner ....... ... ... ...... . ccciiivuirvnnnn. 144,007 471,185 2,016,447 2,336,653
Senior Vice President, Human Resources ..............
JmLawler ........... ... ... 0 0 0 0

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer ....

During 2006 Mr. Lawler left the organization but as specified in the agreement with him did not receive any
payments relating to or as a consequence of his departure.

In the case of resignation, none of the named executives would be entitled to any post employment
payments from the Corporation.

In terms of any payments relating to stock options, the named executives are treated in line with the
majority of salaried employees in their relevant business in the event of retirement or change of control. In
the case of retirement under the rules of the Company Share Option Plan (“CSOP”}, any CSOP options
granted will vest and become exercisable, whilst under the rules of the Performance Related Share Option
Plan (“PRSOP”) options which have not vested will lapse. In both cases, the named executives are treated as
all other employees with options under the plan. The value of any share options which will become
exercisable under each scenario, using the year end share price of $46.55, is included in the table above.

In the case of a change of control, under the rules of the stock option plans, all options will become
exercisable. Change of control is deemed to have occurred if a person or group becomes the beneficial
owner of 30% or more of the combined voting power of the Corporation; there is a consolidation or merger
and the Corporation is not the surviving corporation; the sharcholders of the Corporation approve plans or
proposals for a liquidation or dissolution of the Corporation or, if following a cash offer or merger, the
members of the Board cease to constitute a majority of the Board. The value of any share options which will
become exercisable in these scenarios, using the year end share price of $46.55, is included in the table
above.

Named executives based in the UK are provided with life assurance cover at 4 times their base salary if they
die in service. In the case of executives based in the US, the death in service cover is 1.25 times base salary.
The amount of these potential payments for each named officer is included in the table above.

In case of termination without cause, the Corporation would normally be liable for a severance payment to
the individual. The severance payment would normally cover loss of salary and other direct compensation
for the duration of the notice period specified in the employment agreement with the executive. In the case
of all the named executives, this notice period is 12 months. In addition, in line with the rules of the share
option plans, any CSOP options would vest and the executive would have 12 months from the date of
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termination to exercise these and any vested options under any of the share plans. With regards to the
options, the named executives are treated the same way as other emp]oyee's who hold options under the
plans The amounts detailed in the post €émployment payments table include the severance payments and the
value of any share options which will become exercisable, using the year end thare price of $46.55.

The named executives have a change ot control agreement with the Corporation. This specifies that in the
Ievent of a change of control of the Corporatlon then if the Corporation lerm:nates the executive within 12
months of the change of control, or if the execufive terminates his employment within 12 months for good
cause the executive will be entitled to a compensation payment. In the case of the Corporation terminating
Ithe executive, this is calculated as 24 months compensation defined as base s:alary bonus at target and any
car allowance from the date of notice,of termination. If the executive termmates his employment, the
payment is calculated as 24 months compensation, defined as above, frotn the. date of the Change of
Control In addition, under the rules of. the share option plans, all options ‘would vest on the _Change of

'Control. The named executives are treated in the same way as other employees who hold options under the

plans The amounts detailed in the post employment payments table include tﬁe compensation payments and
the value of any share options which will become exercisable, using the year end share price of $46.55 as an
indication. :

IAs part of their employment agreement,wnh the Corporation, each of the named executives, including the
Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer is subject to a 12 month non solicitation period,
with respect to customers and employees, and a 12 month non competef period, from the date their
employment with the Corporation ends. |

Directors Compensation Table

Fees earned ' : . Non-stock
or paid in Stock Option incentive All other
Name cash ($) awards ($) Awards($) Compensation compensation Total ($)
Robe:rt EBew............... L. 147472 34,978 10,081 192,531
James M C Puckridge ............ 93,214 8,236 10,081 . 111,531
MartinMHale .................. 70,764 8,236 10,458 89,458
Chariles MHale ................. 62,564 8,236 10,423 | 81,223
Hugh Aldous ................... 56,764 8,236 17,784 82,784
Benito Fiore .................... 17,600 . 17,600
SamHaubold ................... 39,764 = 8,236 16,117 84,117

Mr, Fiore retired as a Director in May 20b6

s o
Under the NED Stock Plan, the Non Employee Directors are required to take one quarter of their annual

retamer fee in stock in the Corporation. This is taken at fair market value and the NEDs are required to hold the
stock as long as they remain a NED.

1

During fiscal year 2006 the non-employe‘e directors received the following compensation:
An annual retainer of $140,000, paid'quarterly, to Dr. R Bew, as Chairmax} of the Board;
An annual retainer of $33 000, paid quarterly, for all other non employee directors;

Mr. J M C Puckridge, and Mr. § Haubold receive an annual retainer of $6,000 as Chairman of the
Compensation Committee and Normnanng and Governance Committee respectively;

Mr. M Hale receives an annual retamler of $16,000 as Chairman of the Audit Committee;
Mr. C Hale and Mr. H Aldous receive an annual retainer of $5,000 as members of the Audit Committee;
Each NED receives a daily fee of $2,3500 for each Board Meeting attended;

Each NED receives a daily fee of $1,800 for each Committee Meet'ing attended and for special
assignments; i

!
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® Mr. J M C Puckridge also acts as Chairman of the UK Pension Fund Trustees on behalf of the
Corporation and as such receives an annual retainer of $25,000 and $1,800 per day for attending
. pensions meetings; '

® FEach director is entitled to reimbursement for his reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in
.connection with travel to and from, and attendance at, meetings of the Board of Directors or its
Committees and related activities.

SECTION 16(A) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REFORTING COMPLIANCE

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires the Corporation’s directors and officers, and persons who
beneficially own more than 10% of a registered class of the Corporation’s Common Stock and other equity
securities, to file initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership of the Corporation’s Common
Stock or other equity securities. with the SEC. Such persons are required by SEC regulations to furnish the
Corporation with copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file.

Based solely upon a review of -the copies of such forms furnished to the Corporation, or written
representations that no Form 5 filings were required, the Corporation believes that each of its officers, directors
and beneficial owners of more than 10% of the Common Stock complied with all Section 16(a) filing
requirements applicable to them during fiscal 2006 except that 4 late Form 4 was filed for Richard Shone on
March 24, 2006. ' )

TRANSACTIONS WITH EXECUTIVES, OFFICERS, DIRECTORS AND OTHERS
During the past fiscal year, the Corporation and its subsidiaries had no transactions in which any director, or
any member of the immediate family of any director, had a material direct or indirect interest reportable under
the applicable rules of the SEC. The Corporation has not made any charitable contributions to any charity on
which any director serves as an executive officer.
CERTAIN OTHER TRANSACTIONS AND RELATIONSHIPS
The Corporation has retained and continues to retain Kirkland & Ellis Intematiconal LLP, a law firm in

which Mr. Haubold was formerly a partner, to perform significant legal services for the Corporation.
Mr. Haubold retired from Kirkland & Ellis International LLP in June 2003.
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l SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL

! OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

}

-The table “Beneficial Owners as of December 31, 2006™ sets forth certain 1!nformauon with respect to the
bcnelﬁcml ownership of the Corporation’s Common Stock as of December 31, 2006 by holders of more than five
percent of the Corporation’s outstanding Common Stock and as of December" 31, 2006. The table “Share
Ownershlp of Directors and Officers” sets forth information with regard to the dlrectors of the Corporation and
the exccuuve officers of the Corporation included in the Summary Compcnsatlon Table in the CD&A (“Named
Execuuve'; ), and all current directors and executive officers of the Corporation a.é. a group. As of December 31,
2006 excluding treasury stock, there were 11,802,503 shares of Common Stock outstandmg As of February 6,
2007, exchuding treasury stock, there were 11,900,963 shares of Common Stock outstandmg According to the
ruhast adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission, a person is the “beneflcml owner” of securities if he
or shc has or shares the power to vote them or to direct their investment or has 'the right to acquire beneficial
ownershlp of such securities within 60 days through the exercise of an option, warrant, right of conversion of a
secunty or otherwise. The percentage of the Corporation’s Common Stock bencﬁc:ally owned by a person
assumes that the person has exercised all options and converted all convertible securities that the person holds
which are exercisable or convertible within 60 days of December 31, 2006 for five percent holders and executive
ofﬁclers of the Corporation. To the knowledge of the Corporation, each stockholder has sole voting and
|nveslment power with respect to the shares indicated as beneficially owned, unless otherwise indicated in a
foomote Unless otherwise indicated, the business address of each person is the Corporation’s corporate address.

1
l
| Beneficial Owners as of December 31, 2006
f (Information as Reported in Schedule 13Gs as of December 31, 2006)
|
|

Amount and Nature of Pc;rcent

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner Beneficial Ownership  of Class

Tontme Capital Partners, LP() . 2,151,700 18.22%
55 Railroad Avenue, 3™ Floor ; .
Grecnwnch Conneticut 06830 i

T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc.® ., ........ e e e e ! 1,704,800 14.43%
1100 East Prau Street !
Baltimore, MD 21202

FMR Corpd . e 1,359,985 11.51%
82 Devonshire Street :
'Boston MA 02109

1

Barclays Global Investors, NAW ... ... . ... .................... e 614,302 5.20%
45 Fremont Street San ' *
Francisco, CA 94105

Based on a review of filings with the Secunllcs and Exchange Commission, the Corporation is unaware of any
other holders of more than 5% of the outstandmg shares of Innospec Inc common slock‘s’

Nolcs. . ;

) ){\ccurding to Schedule 13G dated January 17, 2007 'ﬁlcdjoimly by Tontine Capital Partners LP, a tDelaware limited partnership (*TCP"),
Tontine Capital Management, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company (“TCM"), leffrey!L. Gendell (“Gendell”) and Tontine
Overseas Associates LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“TOA™), 2,111,800 shares areljointly controlled by TCP, TCM and
Gende!l which have shared power to vote or direct the vote and to dispose or direct the dmpmmon TCM, the general pariner of TCP,
ha-a the power to direct the affairs of TCP, including decisions respecting the disposition of the procec.ds from the sale of shares. Gendell
v; the managing member of TCM and in that capacity, directs its operations. TOA and Gendell benefcually hotd 39,900 shares and have

shared power to vote or direct the vote and to dispose or direct the disposition of these shares,
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@ According to a Schedule 13G dated February 14, 2007 filed jointly by T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc., a Maryland corporation,
(“T. Rowe Price™) and T. Rowe Price Smatl-cap Value (*"TRP Fund™), T. Rowe Price and TRP Fund beneficially hold 1,258,000 shares.
T Rowe Price has sole voting power over 408,600 shares and TRP Fund sole voting power over 1,258,000 shares. T Rowe Price has sole
dispositive power over 1,704,800 shares.

™ According to a Schedule 13G dated February 14, 2007 filed jointly by FMR Ceip. (“FMR™), Edward C Johnson 3d (‘Mr. Johnson"),
Fidelity Management & Research Company (“FM&R") and Fidelity Low-Priced Stock Fund (“Fidelity Stock™), various persons have the
right to receive or the power to direct the receipt of dividends from, or the proceeds from the sale of, the Common Stock shown as
beneficially owned by FM&R and Fidelity Stock, Edward C. Johnson 3d and FMR, through its capital of FM&R and Fidelity Stock have
sole power to dispose of the shares. ' ‘

4 According to Schedule 13G dated January 31, 2007 filed jointly by Barclays Global Investors, NA (“BGI™), Barclays Global Fund
Advisors (“BGFA"™), Barclays Global Investors Ltd., Barclays Global Investors Japan Trust and Banking Company Limited and Barclays
Global Investors Fapan Limited (collectively, the “Barclays Group”), 614,302 shares are beneficially owned by the Barclays Group. BGI
beneficially owns 410,459 shares and has sole voting power over 374,934 shares and sole dispositive power over 410,459 shares. BGFA
beneficially owns 203,843 shares and has sole voting and sole dispositive power over 203,843 shares.

%  Prospector Partners LLC, which shared investment discretion with White Mountains Advisors LLC, and Artisan Partners Limited
Partnership each held above 5% of Innospec [nc’s outstanding shares of common stock during 2006, but as of December 31, 2006 had
redizced such holdings to below 5%.

Share Ownership of Directors and Officers
as of March 12, 2007

The following table sets forth the amount of the Corporation’s common stock beneficially owned by each of
the directors, the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and the three other most highly
compensated executive officers of the Corporation:

Shares Owned Shares Underlying

Directly or  Options Exercisable Percent
_N;IJE Indirectly within 60 days Total of Class
HAIJOUS ... .. i it it ie e it aananannannnss 3,784 — 3,784 ¥
RE BeW .ottt ittt a e e 11,160 34,674 45,834 *
IClemMinSOn . ...ttt it it ittt 176 170 346 *
CHalell) | i e i et 129,430 23,1 153,162 1.04
MHalel) . i i 108,927 23,847 132,774 ¥
CHESS e . vttt ettt tea i s arr s 833 21,750 22,583 *
SHaubold ... ... ... . i i i 5,096 — 5,006 *
PWlennings ........ooiiuiiiiiiiiiie ity 6,429 45,500 51,929 *
IMCRODDIE . . ..ot i e e e i e et i e 1,316 32,732 34,048 *
JPuckridge ...... .. i 3,596 669 4,265 *
PWilliams .......0iiiirrr et iie it 3,850 — 3,850 *

Directors and Executive Officers as a group(13 persons)? . . ... 280,170 195,180 475,350 3.22

Notes:

(*) Lessthan 1%

(1) In the case of Mr. C Hale and Mr. M Hale, these figures include 11,355 and 12,000 respectively over which Mr. C Hale and Mr. M Hale
both disctaim bereficial ownership as such shares are held indirectly through a trust.

{2) Includes the above named directors and officers as well as A Hartley and R Shone,
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Equity Compensation Plans

I'I‘he following table summarizes information, as of February 6, 2007, relatiné to current stock option plans
of the Corporation approved by security holders pursuant to which grants of options, restricted stock, restricted
stock units or other rights to acquire shares have been granted from time to time under the CSOP, PRSOP,
NEDs" Stock Option Plan, Co-Investment Plan, NED Stock Plan and Savings Related Plan,

Equity Cﬁmpensation Plan Information

S —

I : Number of Options Number of Options  Total Number of

Plan | ‘ Exercised outstanding Authorized Shares
PRSQP ....................................... 330,785 305,632 1,076,051
CSOP ......... . 850,095 ?81,664 1,258,730
NEDs Stock OptionPlan ......................... 72,461 129,791 263,922
Savullgs Related Plan ... ... ... 88,625 73,654 209,297
Co—IpveslmentPlan.........................' ..... — 11,443 95,000
NED{SSIockPlamZO(M.................f ......... —_ {10,521 ° 50,000
Total ... 1,341,966 312,705 3,043,000

'I'he closing price of the Corporation’s Common Stock on NASDAQ Stock Market on March 12, 2007 was
$56. 99

+

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT

As part of fulfilling its responsibilities, the Compensation Committee:

1. reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion and Analysis repon for fiscal year 2006 with

.The Board has adopted a written Compensation Committee Charter.
|
{
I management; and

2. received the written Compensation Discussion and Analysis disclosure.

lBased upon these reviews and d:scussmhs the Compensation Committee hasjrecommended to the Board of
Dll’CClOrb, and the Board of Directors has approved, that the Corporation’s Compensation Discussion and

Ana]ysm be included in this Proxy Statement filed with the Securities and Exchangi: Commission.
|

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

Current Members k Position Date Appointed

! ' James M. C. Puckridge Chairman  February 20, 2002
Charles M. Hale : ' Member February 20, 2002
Samuel A. Haubold ' ' Member Aprilil, 2004
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
The Board has adopted a written Audit Committee Charter.

As part of fulfilling its responsibilities, the Audit Committee:

1. held meetings with the Corporation’s internal auditors and the independent registered public
accounting firm, both in the presence of management and privately to discuss the overall scope and
plans for the respective audits, the results of the audits, the evaluations of the Corporation’s internal
controls and the overall quality of the Corporation’s final reports;

2. reviewed and discussed the audited financial statements for fiscal year 2006 with management and the
independent registered public accounting firm;

3. discussed with the independent registered public accounting firm the matters required by Statement of
Auditing Standards No. 61 (Communication with Audit Committees) as amended or supplemented; and

4. received the written disclosure and the letter from PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP required by
Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1 (/ndependence Discussions with Audit Committees) and
discussed that firm’s independence with representatives of the firm. The Audit Committee has also
considered whether PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP’s provision of non-audit services to the Corporation
is compatible with its independence.

Based upon these reviews and discussions, the Audit Committee has recommended to the Board of
Directors, and the Board of Directors has approved, that the Corporation’s audited financial statements be
included in the Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006 filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Principal accountant fees and services

Aggregate fees for professional services rendered for the Corporation by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as of
or for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 (Note 1) were:

2006 2005

$,000  $,000

Audit . ........... ... .ol LR 1,518 1,724

Auditrelated ... .. .. .. 37 12

Tax: Compliance . .. ... .ouuiii it i i e i i i e 10 59

AVISOTY . .ttt e e et i 13 74

Tax Total .. ... ...ttt i iiaian e iaits e e iaaa i s 23 133
OHRer . . e e e e e e e e — —

Total ... .. .. i PP 1,578 1,869

Audit, Audit related, tax compliance ... ... ... il e 1,565 1,795

Tax advisory andotherfees ...... .. ... ... i e 13 74

1,578 1,869

Note 1: A substantial proportion of the fees billed in all of the categories as of or for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2003 are
denominated in a currency other than US dollars, Accordingly, fees billed as of or for both periods have been translated at consistent
exchange rates,

Note 2: The aggregate fees included in Audit Fees are fees billed for the fiscat years for the audits of the consolidated financial statements of
the Corporation, statutory and subsidiary audits, and review of documents filed with SEC. The aggregate fees included in each of the
other categories are fees billed in the fiscal years.

30




!
|

';l'he Audit Related fees as of the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, were for assurance
and related services relating to consultations concerning financial accounting and reportmg standards.

Tuxarwn Adwmry fees as of the years:ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, were for tax
plannmg and tax advice and advice related to mergers and acquisitions.

Taxation Compliance fees as of the years ended December 31, 2006 and|2005, respectively, were for
services related 1o tax compliance, including the preparation of tax returns and claims for refund.

1
No Orher services were provided for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005.
S . ‘ i
Audilt Committee Pre-approval Policies and Procedures F
The Corporation’s Audit Committee adopted pre-approval policies and procedures for audit and non-audit
servnces in August 2005. This was attached as an appendix to the Corporation’s 2006 Proxy Statement. For the
years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, 2004 and 2003, no fees were paid to the pnncnp.xl accountant for which
the a‘e minimis exception was used. The Audit Committee reviewed and approved the audit and non-audit
servnces rendered by PricewaterhouseCoopers to the Corporation during the year 2006 and concluded such
serwccs were compatible with maintaining PricewaterhouseCoopers’ independence.
oo I
ENO portion of this Audit Committee Report shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”™), or the Exchange Act, through any general
statement incorporating by reference in its entirety the Proxy Statement in Wthhl this report appears, except to
the extent that the Corporation specifically incorporates this report or a portion of its by referénce. In addition,
this rcporl shall not be deemed to be filed under either the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
M . Position Date Appointed
Martin M. Hale Chairman February 20, 2002
Hugh G.C. Aldous Member February 15, 2005

Charles M. Hale ‘ Member May 11,{1998




STOCK PRICE PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The graph below compares the cumulative total return to stockholders on the Common Stock of the
Corporation, S&P 500 Index and NASDAQ Composite Index since December 31, 2001, assuming a $100
investment and the re-investment of any dividends thereafter.

Innospec Inc. vs S&P 500 and NASDAQ Composite Indices
Total Return to Shareholders since Dec, 31, 2001

240 -

220 1

180 -

160 1

140 4

120

100

Value of $100 Investment made Decomber 31, 2001

Innospec inc.

12/31/0% 12/3102 12/3103

12/31/04 12/31/05 12/31/068

{ —e—Innospec Inc. ——- S&P 500 Index

—3— NASDAQ Composite |

InnospecInc ............
S&P 500 Index ..........
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* excludes purchase commissions

Value of $100 Investment made December 31, 2001*
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! INFORMATION REGARDING THE CORPORAﬂdN’S

l INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTIN? FIRM

The independent registered public accounting firm of the Corporation, selecldd by the Audit Committee for
the ﬁscal year ending December 31, 2007, are PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 1! Embankment Place, London,
WC2N 6RH, England. A representative of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP is expected to be present at the Annual
Meetmg and will have the opportunity to make a statement if such reprcsenlallve desires to do so. The

represemauve is also expected to be available to respond to appropriate questmns ]
! I
|

‘ ‘ 1
| : OTHER MATTERS - f
t

IAS of the date of this Proxy Statement, management is not aware of any matters to be presented at the
meelmg other than the matters specifically stated in the Notice of Meeting and dlsc!ussed in this Proxy Statement.
If any other matter or matters are properly broughl before the meeting, the persons named in the enclosed Proxy
Fom} have discretionary authority to vote the proxy on each such matter in accordance with their judgment.

s |

I

! . SOLICITATION AND EXPENSES OF SOLICITATION

* |

i

The solicitation of proxies will be made initially by mail. The Corporauon s directors, officers and
employees may also solicit proxies in person or by telephone without addmondl compensation. In addition,
pl‘OX}CS may be solicited by certain banking institutions, brokerage firms, cuslodlans, trustees, nominees and
ﬁducllanes who will mail material to or otherwise communicate with the beneﬁcnal owners of shares of the
Corporation’s Common Stock. All expenses of solicitation of proxies will be paid L;uy the Corporation.

!

° * e

i ANNUAL REPORT TO STOCKHOLDERS ’

!

Coples of the Corporation’s 2006 Annual Report on Form 10-K to Stockholders for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2006 are being mailed with this Proxy Statement to each stockholder entitled to vote at the Annual
Mcctmg Stockholders not receiving a copy of the Annual Report on Form 10-K 1o Stockholders may obtain one
by wrmng or calling Investor Relations, Innospec Inc., Innospec Manufacturing Park Oil Sites Road, Ellesmere

Port, Cheshire, CH6S 4EY, Engiand, telephone 011 44 151 355 3611, or by e-mail to investor@innospecinc.com.
! . ‘ I
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STOCKHOLDERS’ PROPOSALS FOR THE 2008 ANNUAL MEETING
The Corporation anticipates holding its 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders on May 6, 2008.

Under the regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, any stockholder desiring to make a
proposal to be acted upon at the 2008 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and have it included in our proxy
materials must present such proposals to the Secretary of the Corporation not later than December 1, 2007.

Stockholder proposals or director nominations not included in a proxy statement for an annual meeting must
comply with the advance notice procedures and information requirements set forth in the by-laws of the
Corporation in order to be properly brought before that annual meeting of stockholders. Under the Corporation’s
by-laws, any stockholder desiring to make a proposal to be acted upon at the 2008 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders must present such proposals to the Secretary of the Corporation not before February 1, 2008 or later
than March 3, 2008.

By order of the Board of Directors

Andrew Hartley
Vice President and General Counsel

March 30, 2007

PLEASE SIGN, DATE AND RETURN YOUR PROXY CARD
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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

ANNUAL REPORT RURSUANT TO SECﬁrﬁ 3 OR 15(d}
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fi scal year ended December 31, 2006
Comm|SS|on file number 1-13879

INNOSPEC INC.

(Exact name of re'gistrant as specified in its charter) -
DELAWARE 98-0181725
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)

Innospec Manufacturing Park
Qil Sltes Road
Ellesmere Port

Cheshire
United ngdom _ CH65 4EY
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Reglsltrant s telephone number, including area code: 011-44-151-355-3611
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12{b) of the Act:
- Name of each exchange on
Title of each class which registered
_ N/A » N/A
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12 (g} of the Act: Commen stock, par value $0.01 per share

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.

Yes
No X
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or;Section 15(d) of the Act.
Yes
No X

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act|of 1934 during the preceding 12 months {or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such
reports), and (2) has been subject to the filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes X
No

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation 5-K is not contained herein, and will not
be contained, to the best of registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part il
of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. [1]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer or a non-accelerated filer {as defined in
Rule 12b — 2 of the Act}.

Large accelerated|ﬁler
Accelerated iﬁler X
Non-accelerated filer -

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act).
Yes

No X
The aggregate|market value of the voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates of the reg|slrant as of the most
- recently completed second fiscal quarter (June 30, 2006) was approximately $135 million, based on the closing price of the common
shares on the NASDAQ Stock Market on June 30, 2006. Shares of common stock held by each officer and director and by each

beneficial owner who owns 5% or more of the outstandmg common stock have been excluded in that such persons may be deemed
to be affiliates. This determination of affiliate status is not necessarily a conclusive determination for any other purpose.

As of March 12| 2007, 11,917,461 shares of the reglstraﬁt s common stock were outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of Innospec Inc.’s Proxy Statement for the Annual M'eeling of Stockholders to be held on May|8, 2007 are incorporated by reference into
Part 11! of this Form 10-K.
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT RELATIVE TO FORWARD-LOOKING
STATEMENTS

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Form 10-K contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements include all statements

‘'which address operating performance, events or developments that we expect or anticipate

will occur in the future. Although such statements are believed by management to be
reasonable when made, caution should be exercised not to place undue reliance on forward-
looking statements, which are subject to certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions. If the
risks or uncertainties ever materialize or the assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may
differ materially from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements and
assumptions. Risks, assumptions and uncertainties include, without limitation, the outcome of
the Company’s disputes with Ethyl and the impact on the Company’s tetra ethyl lead business
related thereto, changes in the terms of trading with significant customers or gain or loss
thereof, the effects of changing government regulations and economic and market conditions,
competition and changes in demand and business and legal risks inherent in non-U.S.
activities, including political and economic uncertainty, import and'e;ipon limitations and
market risks related to changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates, government
investigations, material fines or other penalties resulting from the Company’s voluntary
disclosure to the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Department of the Treasury and
other risks, uncertainties and assumptions identified in the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 and those identified in the Company’s other
reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The Company undertakes no
obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of
new information, future events or otherwise.




PART I S S ey

Item 1 Business |

,! ‘t ” ‘i

When we use the terms the “Corporanon ” “Company,” “Reglstrant us” and “our,”
unless otherwise indicated or the context otherwise requires, we are refemng to Innospec Inc.
and 1ts consolidated subsidiaries (“Innospec™). ; ,
Geneml

Innospec Inc. is a Delaware corporation.

On March 21, 2006 the listing of the Company’s common 'stock was transferred from the New
York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) to the Nasdaq Stock Market (“NASDAQ”)

The Company changed its name from Octel Corp to Innospec Inc. on January 30, 2006.

Until May 22, 1998, the Company had been a wholly owned _subsndlary of.VChemtura
Corporation, previously known as Great Lakes Chemical Corporation (“GLCC”), a Delaware
corporation. On May 22, 1998, GLCC consummated the spin-off of its petroleum additives
business by distributing shares in the Company to the stockholders of GLCC.

Descr"iptioh of the Business

The Company develops, manufactures, blends and delivers fuel addmves and other specialty
chemicals. The Company serves global markets in' the Americas, Europe the Middle East,
Africa and Asia Pacific. Its products are sold primarily to oil refineries and other chemical and
industrial compames

il .
LSV

Segmental Infonnatwn

Innospec divides its business into three dlstmct segments for both management and reporting
purposes: Fuel. Specialties, Performance Chemicals and Octane .Additives. The Fuel
Specialties and Performance Chemicals businesses both operate in markets where we actively
seck growth opportunities albeit their end customers are very different The Octane Additives
business operates in markets which are mature with generally declining demand.

Fuel Specialties i

|

The Fuel Specialties business develops, manufactures, blends and delivers a range of specialty
chemical products used as additives to a wide range of fuels. The business specializes in
supplying fuel additives that help improve fuel efficiency, boost engine performance and
reduce harmful emissions. The business’s products are used in the efficient operation of
automotive, marine and aviation engines, power station generators, and heatlng and diesel
particulate filter systems. . C

Historically the business has grown througn a program of mergers Iand.ac'quisitions. This
program has included the establishment in 1999 of a 50% owned joint venture with Starreon
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LLC to sell fuel additives in the USA and the subsequent acquisition of the remaining 50% of
that joint venture in July 2004. In November 2004, the Company disposed of certain
manufacturing and other assets held by our Swedish subsidiary, Innospec Bycosin AB. The
Company has also established a joint venture in Valvemaster® Limited.

More recently growth has been driven by new product development to address what we
believe are the key drivers to demand for fuel additives. These key drivers are legislation,
population affluence, and energy price and availability.

Performance Chemicals

The Performance Chemicals business includes a range of companies who manufacture
performance chemicals used in a wide range of industrial processes and everyday products.
Our products range from the well-known Finetex brands of surfactants and emollients to
numerous' synthetic aromas, including the widely used synthetic Lilestralis® fragrance. We
also manufacture Octaquest®, a biodegradable chelating agent, Octastat®, the anti-static
additive, and the successful Leuna Polymer branded waxes. '

These additives are used in the manifacture of such items as personal care products through to
household detergents and crop protection chemicals. They are also used in the manufacture of
plastics, paper and in the metal plating and oil industries. Many of our additives are key
ingredients in our customers’ products, improving performance and differentiating the
customer’s product from its competitors. Other additives are designed.to provide specific
solutions to common manufacturing problems such as static build up during certain industrial
processes.

Historically the business has grown through a program of mergers and acquisitions. This
program has included the acquisition of Finetex, Inc. in January 2005, Aroma & Fine
Chemicals Limited in August 2004 and Leuna Polymer GmbH in June 2004, In December
20035, the Company disposed of two non-core businesses, Octel Performance Chemicals Inc.
and the Gamlen Industries SA waste water treatment business. Effective January 1, 2007 the
businesses of Finetex;, Inc.. and ProChem Chemicals, Inc. were merged into Innospec
Performance Chemicals U.S. Co. in order to realize potential significant benefits from their
complementary areas of expertise and competency:.

The Performance Chemicals focus going forward is to develop high performance products
from its technology base complemented by selective acquisitions to achieve critical mass in a
number of markets.

Octane Additives

The Octane Additives business is the world’s only producer of tetra ethyl lead (“TEL”). The
Octane Additives business comprises sales of TEL for use in automotive gasoline and trading
in respect of our environmental remediation business.



i

TEL was first developed in 1928 and introduced into the European market for internal
combustion engines to boost octane levels in gasoline allowing it to burn more effictently and
eliminating engine knock. it also acts as a lubricity aid reducing engine wear. Worldwide use
of TEL has declined since 1973 following the enactment of the U.S. Clean Air Act of 1970
and similar legislation in other countries. The trend of countries exiting the leaded gasoline
market has resulted in a general rate of decline in volume terms in the last few years of
between 10% and 25% per annum. The decline experienced in 2006 was greater than this
general range due to the decision of South Africa to exit the market for use of TEL in
automotive gasoline from that start of 2006.

The. Company intends to manage the decrease in the sales of TEL for use in automotive
gasoline to maximize the cash flow through the decline. Continuous cost improvement
measures have been, and will continue to be, taken to respond to declining market demand.

Our environmental remediation business assists customers to manage the clean up of the
associated redundant plants as refineries make the change to unleaded fuel.

Raw Materials and Product Supply

We use a variety of raw materials and chemicals in our manufacturing and blending processes
and believe the sources of these are adequate for our current operations. Our major purchases
are ethylene, sodium, lead, cetane number improvers, ethyl chlorlde various solvents and

dlbromoethane O

Thes_e purchases account for a substantial portion of the Company’s manufacturing costs.
These materials are, with the exception of ethylene in Germany, readily available from more
than'one source: We use long-term contracts (generally with fixed prices and escalation terms)
to help ensure availability, continuity of supply and manage the risk of price increases.

The ‘chemical industry, in general, is experiencing some tightness in the supply of certain
commodity materials. We continue to monitor the SItuatlon and adjust our procurement
strategies as we deem appropnate
Intellectual Property

Our intellectual property, including trademarks, patents and licences, forms a significant part
of the Company’s competitive strengths particularly in the Fuel Specialties and Performance
Chemicals businesses. The Company does not however consider its buswess as a whole to be
dependent on any one trademark, patent or licence. - : :

The Company has a portfoho of trademarks and patents, granted and in the application stage,
covering products and processes in several jurisdictions, The majority of these patents were
developed by the Company and, subject to maintenance obligations 1ncludlng the payment of
renewal fees, have at least ten years® life remaining.

The Company also holds a license for the manufacture of fuel detergents. The trade mark
Innospec and the Innospec device in Classes 1, 2 and 4 of the “International Classification of
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Goods ‘and Services for the Purposes of the Registration of Marks™ is registered in all
countries/jurisdictions in which it has a significant market presence. The Company also:has
trademark registrations for Octaquest® in all COUIllI‘lCa/]Ul’lSdlCthﬂS in” which'it has a
significant market presence. . Cea

Innospec International Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, has trademarks for Stadis®, a
conductivity improver, and Ocenol®, an antifoam for refinery use. Innospec Limited, also a
subsidiary of the Company, has trademarks for Valvemaster®, a valve seat recession additive.

We actively protect our inventions, new technologies, and product developments by filing
patent business applications or maintaining trade secrets. In addition, we vigorously
participate in patent opposition proceedings around the world, where necessary, to secure a
technology base free of infringement. We believe our patent position is strong, well managed,
and sufficient for the conduct of our business.

'

Customers

Fuel Specialties

Our customers are multinational Oil'companies'and fuel retailers. Traditionally, a large portion
of the’total market was captive to oil companies that had fuel additives divisions providing
supplies directly to their respective refinery customers. As a result of various corporate
restructurings and arrangements, involving downstream refining and marketing operations, the
tied supply arrangements between oil companies and their captive fuel additive divisions have
been weakened. Accordingly, many refineries are increasingly looking to purchase their fuel
additive requirements on the open market. ThlS trend is creating new. opportunities for
independent additive marketers such as us.

Performance Chemicals

Customers range from large multinationals and manufacturers of personal care and household
products, to specialty chemical manufacturers operating in niche industries.

Octane Additives

Sales of TEL for use in automotive gasoline are made principally to the retail refinery market
which comprises independent, state or major oil company owned refineries located throughout
the world. Selling prices to major customers are usually negotiated under long-term supply
agreements with varying prices and terms of payment. Our environmental remediation
business then serves these customers to manage the clean up of the associated redundant
plants as refineries make the.change to unleaded fuel. : :

In 2006 and 2005 no single customer accounted for more than 10% of net sales. In 2004 the
Company had one significant customer in the Octane Additives business who accounted for
$65.7 million (13%) of net sales. In the second quarter of 2005 this customer permanently left
the market for TEL for use in automotive gasoline. : '
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Fulel Specialties

The Fue] Specialties market is fragmented and characterized by a sma]l number of competitors
in each submarket. The competitors in each submarket differ with no one company holding a
domlnant position. We consider our competitive strengths to} be our strong technical
development capacity, independence from major oil companies and .strong long-term
rel'atlonshrps with refinery customers.
" . "
Pelrformance Chemicals

We operate in a number of performance chemical market mches. Accordmgly, there are a
pIethora of competitors who also operate in some but not all of these’ markets.

Octane Additives
|

The Octane Additives business is the world’s only producer of TEL and accordingly is the
only supplier of TEL for use in automotive gasoline. The business therefore competes with
marketers of products and processes that provrde alternative w]ays of enhancing octane
performance in automotive gasoline. - ]

-!

Agrl'eements with Ethyl Corporation

Innlospec supphes TEL to Ethyl! Corporanon (“Ethyl”), a subsidiary of NewMarket
Corporatron on a wholesale basis under a long-term supply agreement for resale to customers
in the Umted States. ; } ,
| . ) .

On October 1, 1998, the Company entered into sales and marketmg% agreements with Ethyl to
market and sell TEL in all areas of the world except North America and the European
Economlc Area for the period lasting until December 31, 2009, sub_lect to renewal thereafter.
All marketlng and sales effort made under the arrangement is made'in the name of Innospec.
Innospec continues to produce all TEL marketed under the agreemems and also provide
marketing and other services. Ethyl continues to provide marketing and other services. The net
proceeds under the agreements are p:ard to Innospec and Ethyl as compensatron for services
and: are based on an agreed-upon formula, with Innospec recéiving 68% of the total
compensatlon for services provided. This relationship was extended effectlve January 1, 2000
when OBOAdler entered into a similar agreement. Effective July ,1 2001 Ethyl agreed to
partlmpate in the Veritel agreement (see Note 10 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements) and the scope of the agreements was extended to mclude the European Economic
Area. For a discussion of litigation between Ethyl and the Company, see “Legal Proceedings”
belolw ‘
Reséarch Deveiopment and Testing i

I
Research development and testing (1‘R&D’) provide the basis for the growth of our Fuel

Specraltles and Performance Chemicals businesses. Accordingly, the Company’s R&D
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activity has been, and will continue to be, focused on the development of new products and
formulations for these. Technical support is provided for all of our busmesses including
Octane Additives, to assure total customer satisfaction.

The Company’s principal research and development facilities are located in Ellesmere Port,
U.K. Expenditures to support research, product/application development and technical support
services to customers were $11.1 million, $11.2 rrulhon and $10. 1 million in 2006, 2005, and
2004, respectively. ‘

The Company considers that its strong technical capability provides it with a significant
competitive advantage. In the last three years, the Fuel Specialties business has developed new
detergent, lubricity and combustion improver products, in addition to the introduction of
several new cost effective fuel additive packages. A patented process for manufacturing
Octaquest®, a chelating agent, enabled the Company to enter into a new market in the
performance chemicals area.

Health, Safety and Environmental Matters

The Company is subject to environmental laws in all of the countries in which it does
business. The principal environmental laws to which the Company is subject to in the U.K. are
the Environmental Protection Act 1990, the Water Resources Act 1991, the Health and Safety
at Work Act 1974 and regulations and amendments thereto. Management believes that the
Company is in material compliance with all applicable environmental laws and has made
appropriate provision for the continued costs of compliance with environmental laws.
Nevertheless, there can be no assurance that changes in existing environmental laws, or the
discovery of additional liabilities associated with the Company’s current or former operations,
will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations or
financial position.

The principal sites giving rise to environmental remediation liabilities are the former Octane
Additives manufacturing sites at Paimboeuf in France, Doberitz and Biebesheim in Germany,
together with the Ellesmere Port site in the U.K., which is the last ongoing manufacturer of
TEL. Remediation work is substantially complete at Paimboeuf, Doberitz and Biebesheim. At
Ellesmere Port there is a continuing remediation program related to those manufacturing units
that have been closed. The Company regularly reviews the future costs of remediation and the
current estimate is reflected in Note 13 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Company records environmental liabilities relating to the retirement of assets and
environmental clean up when they are probable and costs can be estimated reasonably. This
involves anticipating the program of work and the associated future costs, and so involves the
exercise of judgement by management. :

Human Resources

The Company’s workforce at December 31, 2006 consisted of 774 employees, of which 377
were in the U.K. Approximately 40% of the Company’s employees in the UK. are
represented by unions, including the Transport and General Workers Union and AMICUS.
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The: Company has in place an employee communication program to help its employees:
understand the business issues surrounding the Company, the corporate restructuring that has
been implemented to respond to declining TEL demand and to the deveIoplng Fuel Specialties
and Performance Chemicals businesses. Regular briefings are conducted by the CEO and line
managers where Company-wide and departmental issues are discussed. More formal
communication takes place with the trade unions recognized by the 1Company for negotiating
and consultative purposes. *

1

Available Information

We ﬁle with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) under the Securities Exchange
Actiof 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to those reports,
proxy statements and other documents. The public may read and copy any materials that we
file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street N.E., Washington,
DC 20549, United States of America. The public may also obtaln information on the
operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1- 800 SEC-0330. In addition,
the SEC maintains an Internet website at www.sec.gov that contams reports, proxy and
information statements and other information that registrants, mcludmg the Company, file
electromcally with the SEC.

Our!corporate website is www. innospecinc.com. We make availablle free of charge, on or
through this website our annual, quarterly and current reports, and any amendments to those’
reports as soon as reasonably practicable after electronically ﬁhng such material with, or
furmshmg it to, the SEC. In addition, Innospec’s Corporate Govemance Guidelines, Code of
EtthS and Director Independence standards, and the written charters for the committees of
Innospec’s Board of Directors are available on this website under"‘About Us — Corporate
Governance” and in print upon request by writing to: Corporate Secretary Innospec Inc.,

Innospec Manufacturing Park, Oil Sites Road, Ellesmere Port, Cheshlre United Kingdom,
CH65 4EY.

| | '
None of the above available information forms part of this ﬁling on Form 10-K, unless
specifically incorporated by reference elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Iteh 1A - Risk Factors - o

Our ;business is subject to many factors that could materially adversely affect our future
performance and cause our actual results to differ materially froin those experienced or
impliled by forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

{

|
Investing in our securities involves risks and accordingly investors should carefully evaluate
these risks including the factors discussed -below before deciding to in';vest in our securities.
| - ‘ |
Competition and market conditions may adversely affect our operating results.
I
I,
Certain product lines and markets in which the Company s businesses operate are subject to
significant competition. The Company competes on the basis of a number of factors including,
I !
!
. 9 !
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but not limited to, product quality and properties, customer relationships and service, and
regulatory and toxicological expertise. For some products the competitors are larger than us
and may have greater access to financial, technological and other resources. As a result these
competitors may be able to better withstand a change in conditions within the industries in
which the Company operates, a change in the prices of raw materials or a change in global
economic conditions. Competitors may be able to introduce new products with enhanced
features that may cause a decline in the demand and sales of the Company’s products.
Consolidation of customers or competitors in the market areas in which the Company operates
may cause a loss of market share for the Company’s products or place downward pressure on
prices. Any of these risks could negatively impact our future revenues, gross margins and cash
flows from operating activities. '

Sharp and unexpected ﬂuctuations in the cost of our raw materials and energy could
adversely affect our profit margins.

We use a variety of raw materials, chemicals and energy in our manufacturing and blending
processes. Many of the raw materials that we use are derived from petrochemical-based
feedstocks which can be subject to periods of rapid and significant price instability. These
fluctuations in price can be caused by political instability in oil producing nations and
elsewhere, or other factors influencing global supply and demand over which we have no or
little control. Innospec does not typically enter into hedging arrangements with respect to raw
materials, chemicals or energy costs. Should costs of raw materials, chemicals or energy
increase, and should Innospec’s businesses not be able to pass on these cost increases to our
customers, then operating margins and cash flows from operating activities would be
negatively impacted. Should raw material prices increase significantly, then the Company’s
need for working capital could increase which would negatively impact cash flows from
operating activities.

A disruption in the supply of raw materials or transportation services would have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations.

The chemical industry and transportation industry are in a situation where the supply and
demand of both transportation services and the supply and demand of raw materials are in
balance. Any significant disruption in supply could affect our ability to obtain raw materials or
transportation services. This could negatively impact our results of operations, financial
position and cash flows from operating activities.

We could be adversely affected by technological changes in our industry.

Our ability to maintain.or enhance our technological capabilities, develop and market products
and applications that meet changing customer requirements, and successfully anticipate or
respond to technological changes in a cost effective and timely manner will likely impact our
future business success. Technological changes in some or all of our customers’ products or
processes may make our products obsolete and accordingly adversely impact our results of
operations, financial position and cash flows.
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Our Octane Additives business will continue to decline. : T

Worldwide use of TEL has declined since 1973 following the enactment of the U.S. Clean Air
Act of 1970 and similar legislation in other countries. The trend of countries exiting the leaded
gasoline market has resulted in a general rate of decline in volume, terms in recent years of
between 10% and 25% per annum. The predicted remaining sales of the Octane Additives
business are now concentrated in a relatively small number of custoniers and may decline with
unpredictable volatility and severity. Should one or more of these customers choose for
economic, environmental, political or other reasons to cease using TEL as an octane enhancer
earlier than has been anticipated, then the Company’s future operating income and cash flows
from operating activities would be negatively impacted. There could also be an accelerated
write-off of Octane Additives business goodwill as the forecast discounted cash flows from
that business would be reduced. The Company anticipates that eventually all countries in the
world will stop the use of TEL in automotive gasoline. The Company expects that it will cease
all sales of TEL for use in automotive gasoline at some time in.the fu'fure.

) ¥

We face risks related to our foreign operations that may negatively affect our business.

We serve global markets and accordingly operate in some countries which do not have stable
economies or governments. Specifically, we trade in countries experiencing political and
economic instability in-the Middle East and Asia Pacific. Our international operations are
subject to- international business risks' including, but not. limited to, unsettled political
conditions, ‘expropriation, import and export restrictions, exchange controls, national and
regional labor strikes, taxes, government royalties and restriction$ on repatriation of earnings
or proceeds from liquidated assets of foreign subsidiaries. The occurrence of any, or. a
combination, of these events could negatively -impact our results  of operations, financial
position and cash flows from operating activities. - : '

We are exposed to fluctuations in forelgn exchange rates, which may adversely affect our
results of operations. - : : )
! . ' . L
The Company generates revenues and incurs operating costs in currencies other than the U.S.
dollar. In.addition, the financial position and results of operations of some of our foreign
subsidiaries are reported in the relevant local currency and then translated to U.S. dollars at
the applicable currency exchange rate for inclusion in our consolidated financial statements.
Changes in exchange rates between these foreign currencies and the U.S. dollar will affect the
recorded levels of our assets and liabilities, to the extent such figures reflect the inclusion of
foreign assets and liabilities' that are translated into U. S dollars for presentation in our
financial statements as well as our results of operations
, O

The primary foreign currencies in which we have exchange rate fluctuation exposure are the
European Union euro and British pound sterling. The Company cannot. accurately predict the
nature or extent of future exchange rate variability. While the Company takes steps to manage
currency exposure by entering into hedging. transactions, this cannot eliminate all exposure to
future exchange rate variability: Exchange rates between these currencies and the U.S. dollar
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have fluctuated significantly in recent years and may continue to do so in the future, which
could materlally 1mpact our results of operatlons and financial position.

Fallure to protect our intellectual property nghts could adversely affect our future
performance and cash ﬂows

Our intellectual property, lncluding trademarks, patents and licences, forms a significant part
of the Company’s competitive strengths. We therefore depend on our ability to.develop and
protect our intellectual property rights to distinguish our products from those of our
competitors. Failure to do so-may result in the loss of valuable technologies, or our having to
pay other companies for infringing their intellectual property rights. Measures taken by us to
protect. our intellectual property may be challenged, invalidated, circumvented or rendered
unenforceable. We may also face patent infringement claims from our competitors which may
result in substantial litigation costs, claims for damages or a tarnishing of our reputation even
if we are successful in defending these claims, which may cause our customers to switch to
our competitors. The occurrence of any, or a combination, of these events could negatively
impact our results of operations, financial position and cash flows from operating activities.’

We are subject to extensive government regulation. o v

We are subject to regulation by local, state, federal and foreign governmental authorities. In
some circumstances these authorities must approve our products, manufacturing processes and
facilities before we may sell certain products. Many of the Company’s products-are required
to be registered with the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) and with comparable
governmental agencies elsewhere. We are also subject to ongoing reviews of our products,
manufacturing processes and facilities by govemmental authorities mcludmg the requirement
to produce product data.

In order to obtain regulatory approval of certain new products we must, amongst other things,
demonstrate to the relevant authority that the product is safe and effective for.its intended
uses, and that we are capable of manufacturing the product in accordance with current
regulations. This approval process can be costly, time consuming, and subject to unanticipated
and significant delays. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that approvals will be granted
on a timely basis, or at all. Any delay in obtaining, or any failure to obtain or maintain, these
approvals would adversely affect our ablhty to introduce new products and to generate income
from those products.

New laws and regulations may be introduced in the future that could result in--additional
compliance costs and prevent or inhibit the development, distribution and sale of our products.
The European Union has approved additional legislation known as the Registration,
Evaluation and Authorization . of - Chemical Substances Regulations (“REACH”) which
requires most of the Company’s products to be registered with EU Authorities. Under this
legislation the Company has to demonstrate the' continuing safety of its products. During this
registration period the Company will incur expense to test and register its products. The
Company estimates that the cost of complying with REACH will be no more than $5 million
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incurred over the next 3 to 5 year period. While the Company expects | that its products will be
approvcd for registration after testing it is possible that certain products may not be registered
if the: test data proves unsatisfactory. In such an outcome some of the Company’s products
may be restricted or prohibited in the EU. This could have a material impact on our results of
operations, financial position or cash flows. f

3 . !
The ¢ompany is currently the subject of an inquiry by the SEC into potential violations of
federal securities law as a result of transactions conducted by the Company’s. wholly owned
indirect subsidiary, Alcor Chemie Vertriebs GmbH, under the United Nations QOil for Food
Program. Separately, the Company has made a voluntary disclosure to U.S. Office of Foreign
Assets Control (“OFAC”) regarding dealings with Cuba by certain.of the Company’s current
and former subsidiaries. The Company has made provision for legal expenses and potential
penalties in respect of these matters to the extent this is feasible. However should the
Company’s estimates prove to be inadequate then this could have a material impact upon the
Company’s operating income and cash ﬂows from operating activities.;

Legal proceedings and other claims, including pmceedmgs against Eth yl, could impose
substarmal costs on us.

We are occasionally involved in legal proceedings that result from, and are incidental to, the
conduct of our business, including product liability claims. We have insurance coverage to
mitigate any potential damages in any such proceedings, however if our insurance did not
cover such claims, then this could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations,
financial position and cash flows.

Additionally, we are involved in a number of arbitrations in the London Court of International
Arbitration against Ethyl. In the first of these-proceedings, which relate to supplies of TEL to
the United States, we are seeking to increase the price of TEL charged to Ethyl. In the further
arbitration proceedings, we are seeking to terminate the sales and marketing agreements
governing the global sales and marketing of TEL outside North America. We are’ additionally
claiming in excess of $40 million damages because we believe Ethyl has viclated the
agreements. We remain confident in our position, howevér costs may be substantial, although
we do not believe they will have a material adverse effect on our results of operauons
ﬁnanc:1al position and cash flows.

Envzronmental matters could have a substantial negative impact on our results of
operations.

The Company is subject to extensive federal, state, local and foreign environmental, health
and safety laws and regulations concerning emissions to the air, discharges to land and water
and the generation, handling, treatment and disposal of hazardous waste and other materials.
The Company is also required to obtain various environmental permnts and licenses many of

which require penodlc [lOt]ﬁCElthl’l and renewal.
+

The Company- operates~ on a number of manufacturing sites. The Company’s historic
operations, and the historic operations of companies who have previously operated on sites
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that the -Company has acquired, entail the risk of environmental contamination of .the
properties that it owns or has owned. This may result in fines or criminal sanctions against the
Company or may entail the Company in material costs to remediate historic contamination.

The Company further anticipates that certain production facilities may cease production in the
medium to long-term. On closure of some of these production operations in the future, the
Company expects to be subject to environmental laws that will require production facilities to
be safely decommissioned and a degree of environmental remediation to be undertaken. The
degree of environmental remediation will -depend upon the plans for the future use of-the
operating sites that are affected and the environmental legislation in force at the time. The
Company has currently made a decommissioning and remediation provision based on' the
Company’s -current obligations, the current plans for those sites and current environmental
legislation. Shoiild the Company’s future plans for the sites change or should énvironmental
legislation change then these provisions may prove inadequate and this will have a negative
impact on future operating income and cash flows from operating activities. :

The terms of otir credit agreements may réstrict our ability to incur additional mdebtedness
or to otherwise expand our business.

The Company’s existing credit facilities contain restrictive clauses which may constrain our
activities and limit dur operational and ﬁnancnal flexibility. These clauses limit our ability,
among other matters, to increase indebtedness, use assets as security in other transactions,
dispose of assets, acquire assets or investments, and pay d1v1dends or repurchase common
stock.

The current credit facilities require the Company to meet certain financial ratios including net
debt to EBITDA (as defined in the credit facility) and net mterest expense to EBITA (as
defined in the credit facility). The ability to meet these financial covenants depends upon the
future operating performance of the businesses. If the Company fails to meet target covenants
then it would be in technical default on the borrowing facility and the maturity of the
outstandmg debt could be accelerated unless it were able to obtain waivers from the lenders.

The Companjr expects to need to refinance some of the existing debt at the end of the
remaining two and a half year term of the current borrowing facility. Should the Company not
be able to secure refinancing on satisfactory terms at that point.this may adversely impact
continuing operations. .

Our business is subject to the risk of production or transportation interruptions, the
occurrence of any of which would adversely affect our results of operations.
. 1 . .

We are subject to hazards common to, chemical manufacturing, blending, storage, handling
and transportation including fires, explosions, mechanical failure, transportation interruptions,
remediation, chemical spills and the release or discharge of toxic or hazardous substances.
These hazards could result in loss of life, property damage; environmental contamination and
temporary or permanent production cessation. Any, or a combination, of these factors could
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negatively impact our results of operatlons, financial position and cas'h flows from operating

actlvmes : !

We may be reqmred to make addmonal canmbutwns ta the deﬁned beneﬁt pension scheme
that we operate in the United ngdom
The Company operates a contributory deﬁned beneﬁt plan in the United Kingdom. The plan is
closed to new entrants, without trustee discretion, ‘but has a large n'umber of deferred and
current pensioners. Should- future investment ‘returns. prove 1nsufﬁc1ent to meet future
obligations, or should future obligations increase due to actuarial factors or changes in pension
leglslatlon then the Company may be required to make additional chsh contributions. This
could Ihave a. material impact on future operatlng income and cashi flows from operating
activities. , R '

| _ :
Domestw or mternattonal natural dtsasters or terranst attacks may disrupt our operations,
decrealse the demand for our products or otherwwe have a negative uﬁpact on our business.
Chemlcal reiated assets, and United States corporatlons such as ourse{ves may be at greater
risk of, future terrorist attacks than other possible targets in the Umted States United ngdom
and throughout the world. The occurrence of such events cannot be predlcted though they can
be expected to continue to negatively impact the economy in general and our specific markets.
The resulting damage from such an event could include loss-of life, propeny damage or site
closure Any, or a combination, of these ‘factors could negatively limpact our results of
operatllons, financial position and cash flows from operating activities,

Item 1B Unresolved Staff Comments ..

None.
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Item 2. Properties L S

A summary of the Company’s principal properties is shown in the following table. Each of
these properties is owned by the Company. except where otherwise noted: . -

Location Business and Business Segment Operations

Newark, Delaware, U.S. (¥ Innospec Inc. -~ Corporate Corporate Headquarters
Ellesmere Port, U.K. . Innospec Inc. and Innospec Limited — Fuel - European Headquarters
‘ Specialties, Performance Chemicals and Octane Business Teams
Additives . . ‘ Manufacturing/Administration
: ' Research & Development
) ] Fuel Technology Center
Widnes, U.K. Aroma Fine Chemicals Limited — Performance ~ Manufacturing/Administration
Chemicals '
Heme, Germany ™ Innospec Deutschland GmbH - Fuel Specialties Manufacturing/Administration
Leuna, Germany Innospec Leuna GmbH — Fuel Specialties and ~ Manufacturing/Administration
) Performance Chemicals ] .
Vernon, France Innospec France SA — Fuel Specialties Manufacturing/Administration
Zug, Switzerland () . Alcor Chemie Vertriebs GmbH - QOctane .. Sales/Administration
Additives .
Littleton, Colorado Innospec Fuel Specialties LLC — Fuel Sales/Administration
' Specialties - R
High Point, North Carolina "  Innospec Performance Chemicals U.S. Co.~ © Manufacturing/Administration
- Performance Chemicals - .
Spencer, North Carolina (V- Innospec Performance Chemicals U.S. Co. - Manufacturing/Administration

quformance Chemicals
) Leased property

The headquarters of Innospec Inc. is located at 220 Continental Drive, Newark, DE 19713.
Production Capacity

We believe that our plants and supply agreements are sufficient to meet expected future sales
levels. Operating rates of the plants are generally flexible and varied with product mix and
normal sales swings. Specifically, we believe our Octane Additives manufacturing site at
Ellesmere Port, U.K. can be managed in a flexible and cost effective manner in order to meet
anticipated future demand. We believe that all of our facilities are well maintained and in
good operating condition.
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Item 3 Legal Proceedmgs = | ;

Bycosm Dtsposal

.

Volumarv dtsclosure of posszble violations of the Cuban Assets Control Regu[attons to the
Offi cie of Foreign Assets Control. leen the 1ntematlonal scope of its operatlons the Company
18 sub_]ect to laws of many different JUI‘]SdlCthl‘lS lncludlng laws relatlng to the imposition of
restrictions on trade and investment with various entities, persons'and countries, some of
Wthh laws are confllctmg In 2004 the Company reviewed, as it does periodically, aspects of
its operatlons in respect of such restrictions, and determined to dlsplose of certain non-core,
non- U S. subsidiaries. of Bycosin AB. Bycosin’s non-U.S. subsidiaries had been engaged in
transactlons and activities involving Cuban persons and entities before the acquisition of the
Bycosm Group by the Company. in June 2001, and such subsidiaries. were continuing to
engage in such transactions and activities at the time of the dlspos:al of the non- core Fuel
Spemaltles business and related assets in November 2004. On November 15, 2004, Bycosin
AB, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company organized under th!e laws of Sweden (now
known as Innospec Sweden AB, the “Seller”) entered into a Business and Asset-Purchase
Agreement (the “Agreement”) with Pesdo Swedcap Holdings AB (the “Purchaser”), Hakan
Bystrom- and- others as the Purchaser’s guarantors, and Octel Petroleum Specialties Limited
(now!known as Innospec Fuel Specialties Limited) as the Seller’s nglarantor and completed
the all-cash . transaction contemplated thereby . (together. .with related transactions, the
“Transactlon ). The Agreement.provided.for, among other things: (1) the disposal of certain
non-core Fuel Specialties business and related manufacturing and other assets of the Seller;
and (ii) the supply and distribution. of certain power products to certain geographic regions,
The net consideration paid by the Purchaser was approximately US$2.9 million.

+

Following completion of the Transacnon the Company. made a voluntary disclosure to the
U.S. Office of Foreign Assets Control (OFAC) regarding transactlons and activities engaged
in bylt certain non-U.S. subsidiaries of the Company. The Company conducted an internal
rev1ew of such transactions and activities and, in March 2005, disclosed to OFAC the
prelmlnnary results of such review: Thereafter OFAC requested CGI‘tal}l additional information
relatmg to the Bycosin disclosure, and, in May 2005, the Company prov1dcd OFAC with such
addmonal information. During the .course of its internal review, the Company obtained
addmonal details relating to the previously disclosed Bycosin business and’ information
concerning a series of unrelated- transactions involving the sale of TEL by its subsidiary The
Assocllated Octel Company Limited (now known as Innospec anted) to a Cuban entity. Such
sales of TEL ended in 1999. The Company informed OFAC of its receipt of this additional
mformatlon in June 2005. On January, 27, 2006, the Company submitted - additional
1nformat10n to OFAC regarding this matter. The Company’s internal rev1ew identified, among
other thmgs that: (i) Bycosin’s non-U.S. subsidiaries maintained an office in Cuba from
which they conducted their fuel additive sales, and other related activities; (ii) Innospec
Limited employees travelled to Cuba for business-related purposes: w1th respect to the Bycosin
sales on two occasions and consulted with representatives of Bycosin’s non-U.S. subsidiaries
regarding substantial contracts with the Cuban ‘customers; (iii) .Gaxnlen Industries, S.A., a
French company and an indirect subsidiary of the Company, sold fuel additive products to a
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Bycosin subsidiary that were delivered to a Cuban customer on four occasions; (iv) Innospec
Limited was involved in the direct and indirect sale of TEL products to one principal Cuban
customer between 1991 and 1999, and, although the last sale of TEL was in April 1999,
certain ancillary aspects primarily related to discontinuing these commercial relationships
continued until Janhary 2002 and (v) the aggregate monetary value of the transactions
involving Cuban persons and entities conducted by the Company’s non-U.S. subsidiaries since
January 1999 is approximately $26.6 million. The Company is continuing to cooperate on a
voluntary basis With OFAC’s review of its voluntary disclosure.

The Cuban Aése'is Control Regulations (31 CFR Part 515) (“CACR”) were issued by the U.S.
Government under the Trading With the Enemy Act as amended (5¢ U.S.C. App. 5(b)). These
regulations, in conjunctlon with the Helms-Burton Act, generally prohibit “persons subject to
the jurisdiction of the United States”, which includes foreign subsidiaries of U.S. companies,
from engaging in business and transactions with Cuba. However compliance with the CACR
by European companies is prohibited by Council Regulation No. 2271/96 adopted by the
Council of the 'European Union in November 1996. The U.S. regulations and the European
regulations conflict with each other in certain respects. The Company cannot predict how
OFAC will interpret the implementation of the CACR or other relevant laws or regulations
with respect to the commercial activities involving Cuba of the Company’s former non-U.S.
subsidiaries. While the Company believes that it is no longer engaged in business with certain
entities, persons and countries that are subject to restrictions and sanctions under U.S. trade
laws and regulations and that it has taken appropriate steps to achieve compliance with
applicable U.S. laws and regulations relating to trade and investment, if the Company or its
subsidiaries (current or former) were found not to have complied with such laws or
regulations, or any other applicable laws or regulations, including thosé of jurisdictions the
laws of which are conflicting, the Company or its subsidiaries could be subject to fines or
other civil or criminal penalties which could be material.

At this time, however, management believes that it would be speculative and potentially
misleading for the Company to predict the specific nature or amount of penalties that OFAC
might eventually assess against it. While penalties could be assessed on different bases, if
OFAC assessed penalties against the Company on a “performance of contracts basis”, the
applicable regulations provide for penalties, in the case of civil violations of the CACR, of the
lesser of $65,000 per violation or the value of the contract. Since January 1999, non-U.S.
subsidiaries of the Company have entered into 43 contracts with Cuban entities, each of which
could be considered a separate violation of the CACR by OFAC. OFAC may take the position
that the CACR should be interpreted or applied in a different manner, potentially even to
permit the assessment of penalties equal to or greater than the value of the business conducted
with Cuban persons or entities.

As of the date hereof, the Company has not had any discussions with OFAC regarding the
nature or amount of penalties to which it might be subject, or how such penalties might be
calculated, including whether OFAC might assess penalties for transactions performed before
January 1999. The Company has considered the range of possible outcomes and potential
penalties payable. In accordance with the Company’s accounting policies, provision has been

18




made for management’s current best estimate of the potential liability, including anticipated
legal costs. However, should the underlying assumptions prove incorrect, the actual outcome
could| differ materially from management’s current expectations. Management is not able to
estimate the range of any additional loss, if any.

Management believes that at this time it is still not able to predict with any certainty how
OFAC will calculate the number of possible violations of the CACR that may have occurred
or the nature or amount of penalties to which the Company could be sub]ect First, while the
Bycosm sales occurred within the last five years, virtually all of Innospec Limited’s TEL sales
and transactions with Cuba occurred more than five years ago and, thus, may be outside the
statute of limitations period established by the relevant laws. Second, OFAC s penalty
guidelines permit mitigation from the maximum penalty amount based on a company having
made a voluntary disclosure. However, at this time, it is not possible to determme whether
OFAC will agree that the Company should qualify for mitigation because of its voluntary
dlsclosure Third, the regulations do not indicate what approach OFAC might take in regards
to assessing penalties against a company whose options for extricating its foreign subsidiaries,
from ' the commercial relationships with Cuba were limited by the Council
Regulatlon No. 2271/96 adopted by the Council of the European Union and the Mexican
blockmg measures. Thus, we cannot speculate as to how OFAC might characterize these
p0331b1e violations nor can we predict the timing of further developmeits or the final outcome
of the voluntary disclosure to OFAC. Management believes that if the Company or its
subsidiaries were found not to have complied with the CACR for past activities, the Company
could be subject to fines or other civil or criminal penalties which could be material, and the
Company’s reputation could be damaged. In addition, actual or potential investors that object
to the Corpany’s former arrangements and contracts involving Cuba may adversely affect the
price of the Company’s shares by dlsposmg of or deciding not to purchase the Company’s
shares G : 1

The C_hlef of the Office of Global Security Risk (“OGSR”) of the Securities and Exchange
Commission’s (“SEC”) Division of Corporation Finance sent a letter to the Company dated
November 22, 2005 (“SEC comment letter”) regarding its Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2004 and Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2005. The SEC comment
letter focused on matters’ arising from the -Company’s voluntary disclosure to OFAC. In
response to the SEC comment letter, the Company submitted a letter to OGSR on
December 14, 2005 and continued to be in correspondence with OGSR, regarding the
submission of further information concerning its voluntary disclosure to OFAC during 2006.
On November 13, 2006 the OGSR confirmed to the Company that it has no further comments

on the Company’s disclosure in this matter.
I

Patent_ actions : I

' . I .
The Company is actively opposing certain third party patents in various regions of the world.
The actions are part of the Company’s.ongoing management of its intellectual property
portfolio. The. Company does not believe that. any of these actions w11]l have a material effect
on the financial position or results of operations of the Company.

¥
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Oil For Food -

On February 7. 2006, the SEC notified the Company that it had commenced an inquiry to-
determine whether -any violations of federal securities law 'had occurred in ¢onnection with
transactions conducted by the Company, including its wholly owned indirect subsidiary, Alcor
Chemie Vertriebs GmbH (“Alcor™), a Swiss company, under the United Nations Oil for Food
Program between June 1, 1999 and December 31, 2003. As part of its inquiry, the SEC issued
a subpoena requiring the production of certain documents, including documents relating to
these transactions, by the Company and Alcor. The Company, and its officers and directors,
are cooperating with the SEC inquiry. At this time, management is not able to predict whether
the SEC will seek to impose any fines or penalties in this matter if the Company or its
subsidiaries is found not to have complied with the relevant laws.

Dispute with Ethyl Corp.

The Company is currently disputing the price that it is entitled to charge for the supply of TEL
in North America to Ethyl Corporation (“Ethyl”), a subsidiary of NewMarket Corporation.

This dispute is the subject of arbitration proceedings in the London Court of International
Arbitration (“LCIA™). Pursuant to these proceedings, an interim order was made on
September 29, 2006 requiring Ethyl to pay the increased price claimed by the Company into
an escrow account pendmg final determination of the arbitration. The difference in Jprices that
the Company is claiming is cqmvalent to approximately $3 million on an annualized basis. At
December 31, 2006, Ethyl had placed approximately $1.7 million into the escrow account in
respect of TEL product supplied by us during the nine months ended September 30, 2006.

The Company ‘has also commenced proceedings in the LCIA against Ethyl regarding its
marketing agreements for the supply of TEL covering the rest of the world. The Company and
Ethyl are parties to certain exclusive marketing agreements governing the global marketing
and sale of TEL, except in North America. One obligation on both parties is to refrain from
conducting any business in their own interests that might defeat or damage the purpose of
these agreements. The Company believes Ethyl has breached this duty by actively marketing
and selling an alternative product. As a result, the Company is Claiming damages in excess of
$40 million, as well as the right to termmate these agreements.

The Company is conﬁdent in its position on these matters and believes that it will prevail.
Regardless of the outcome, the Company does not believe that the disputes will have a
material adverse effect on the financial position or results of operations of the Company. .

Other Matters

We are involved from time to time in claims and legal proceedings that result from, and-are
incidental to, the conduct of our business including product liability claims. At December 31,
2006 the only claim of any potential consequence, in which we are involved, is a potential
claim, which could total up to approximately $4 million, indicated by one customer that we
supplied them with products that did not meet their specifications. We have denied such claim
and to date legal proceedings have not been issued. Whilst it is not possible to predict the
outcome of such a matter we are confident in our position. In addition, we have insurance
coverage to mitigate any potential damages. '
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Excei)t as described above, there are no other material pending legal proceedings to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party, or of which any of their property is subject,
other than ordinary, routine litigation incidental to their respective businesses.

Itemf 4 Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security I-‘Iold'_e‘:"l‘_s"

No matter was submitted to a vote of security holders during the quarter ended December 31,
2006. - |

1
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PARTII

Item 5 Market for Registrant’s Comnion Equity, Related Stockholder -
Matters, and Issuer Purchases of Equlty Securltles

Market Informatlon and Holders

The Company’s common stock is listed on NASDAQ (‘;ymbol
there were approximately 1,627 registered holders of the common stock. The following table

10SP). As of March 12, 2007

r-

shows the high and low prices of our common stock for each of the last eight quarters.

Dividends

In line with its policy of semi-annual consideration of a dividend the Company declared the
following cash dividends for the two years ended December 31, 2006.

Date declared Stockholders of record

February 4, 2005 February 18, 2005
August 12, 2005 August 31, 2005

February 16, 2006 February 23, 2006
August 18, 2006 September 1, 2006

In addition, on February 26, 2007 the Company announced that its Board of Directors had
declared a semi-annual dividend of 9 cents per share payable on April 2, 2007 to stockholders

of record as of March 5, 2007.

The refinancing facility entered into on December 13, 2005 allows a maximum dividend of
$2.5 million per annum in 2005, plus 10% annual growth thereafter, provided that no default
has occurred or would result from such payment. The Company may repurchase its own
common stock provided that this will not affect compliance with the financial covenants in the

facility.
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April 1, 2005
September 30, 2005
April 1, 2006
October 1, 2006

Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter
$27.21 $30.14 $48.40
$22.87 $22.42 $29.39
$19.77 $18.79 $17.80
$15.43 $16.05 $14.60

Amount per share

7 cents
7 cents
8 cents

8 cents



ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES . . ;
g i

(c) Total Number of

|
| ,
i |
‘l J
|
|

. (a) Total ! " Shares Purchased as Pa‘rtfl (tf) _:A_p‘proximate' Dollar
Number of (b) Average of the Publicly Value 'of Shares that May
Shares  Price Paid Announced Plans or “Yet Be Purchased Under
Period : :Purchased per Share Programs | _the Plans or Programs
Carried forward ... .. ... — — — | .03
December 4 additional ‘ . l ' -
approval ............ — — .— i /200 -
October 1 - October 31 . 26,831 - 29.85 . 26,831 (0.8) .
November 1 - : : . i .
November30 ... ..... — — —. l —
December 1 - . . ! :
December 31 ........ 2,947 4407 2,947 l . (0.1)
Total l et 29,778 31.52 29,778 19. 4

Repurlchases of common stock are held as treasury shares unless relssued under equ1ty
compensatlon plans.

On May 1, 2006 the Board.of Dlrectors of Innospec Inc. conﬁrmed that the amount
outstandmg under approved share buyback programs all of which had|no explratlon date, was
$11.9.million at March 31, 2006. ' :

On Mlay 2, 2006 the Company announced that the Board of Dlrectol's of Innospec Inc. had
authorized a further stock re-purchase plan. The plan commenced[ on May 8, 2006 and
completed on July 26, 2006. Under that plan the Company had the ability to re- purchase up to
420, 000 shares of common stock. - o

On August 18, 2006 the Company announced that the Board of Directors of Innospec Inc. had
authorized a further stock re-purchase ‘plan under Rule 10b5-1 to repurchase an additional
$2.0 mllhon of common stock. This plan commenced on August 28, 2006 and completed on
October 17, 2006. [ )

On December 4, 2006 the Company announced that the Board of Drr!ectors of Innospec Inc.

had authorlzed the repurchase of up to $20.0 million of common stock dependent on market
condmons and a further stock re-purchase plan under Rule 10b5-1 to repurchase an additional
$2.5 million of common stock. This plan commenced on December 5 2006 and completed on
February 9, 2007.

On February 26, 2007 the'Company announced that the Board' of Dir'ectbrs"of'lnnospec Inc.
had authonzed a further stock re- purchase plan under Rule 10b5-1 to repurchase up to an

addmonal $5.0 million of common stock This plan commenced on February 28, 2007 and is
scheduled to complete on May 4, 2007. '
The Company has authorized securities for issuance under equity compensation plans. The
information contained in Item 12 under the heading “Shares Authorized for Issuance under

Equity,Compensation Plans” is incorporated herein by reference. 5
i

! o f . .o
The Company has not, within the last three years, made any sales of unreglstered securities.

! 1
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Item 6 Selected Financial Data
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
(dollar amounts in'millions <
except per share ﬁgur&s) 2006 (1 2005 2 2004 WD 2003 M 2) 2002
Summary of performance
Netsales® . ... i $532.1 $ 5648 $ 4969 $ 471.8 §$ 4678
Impairment of Octane Additives business
goodwill*., /..o ot ool 36.7) (13449 (40.7 —_ —
Operating income/(loss) ................. 31.9 97.7 41,7 97.9 89.7
Income/(loss)} before income taxes and
minority interest ............. ..., 319 (117.9) 34.0 81.6 77.6
Minority interest . ............ ... ..., (0.1 (0.2) (2.0} 4.3) 3.0)
Income taxes . .....covvniennvnnieenenan (20.4) 4.2) (20.1) (23.2) (23.0)
Income/(loss) after income taxes from
continuing operations ................. 114 (122.3) 11.9 54.1 51.6
Net income/(loss) ...........cocvuvrnnn. 114 (123.7) 6.2 51.8 52.1
Net cash provided by operating activities . . .. 36.4 43.8 62.4 85.2 100.0
Financial position at year end . '
Working capital @ ... .. .. . 97.9 52.7 54.5 36.1 40.8
Total 88615 .. v v oo e it e i 569.0 675.3 790.6 741.6 747.8
Long-term debt (including current portion) .. 148.1 144.6 124.3 104.6 159.2
Stockholders’ equity .................... $ 2250 $ 3144 $ 4458 $ 4302 §$ 3625
Financial ratios ' "
Net income/(loss) as a percent of sales ... ... 2.1 (21.9) 1.2 110 11.1
Effective income tax rate as a percent & . . .. 64.2 3.9 62.8 30.0 30.8
Currentratio® ... .. ... .. ... cvuren.. 21 1.7 1.2 1.6 0.9
Share data
Earnings per share
=BasIC ... e 0.94  (10.00) 0.50 4.34 4.41
—Fullydiluted ..................... ... 090  (10.00) 0.48 4.13 4.15
Earnings per share from continuing :
operations : -
—Basic .............. e - 0.94 (9.89) 0.96 4.53 4.36
—Fullydiluted ...l - 090 (9.89) 0.92 431 4.11
Dividend paid pershare ................. . 0.16 0.14 0.12 0.05 0.05
Shares outstanding (basic, thousands)
—Atyearend ........ ... . il 11,903 12,325 12,337 12,059 11,843
—Averageduringyear................... 12,071 12,368 12,345 11,925 11,817
Stock price .
-High ... ... 48.40 20.52 32.00 20.48 26.09
—Low ..o, e : 16.76 14.60 18.62 12.56 15.80
~Atyearend ......... ..., 46.55 16.27 20.81 19.69 15.80

() From January 1, 2002, the amortization of goodwill ceased in accordance with FAS 142.
@ 2005, 2004, 2003 and 2002 comparatives have been restated in order to reflect discontinued
operations. -
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B3} Net sales have been revised in order to reflect the revised clas&ﬁcattcn of certam shipping and

handling costs and commission charges. R N
@ Working capital comprises accounts receivable, 1nventor1es, prepaid expenses, accounts payable
and accrued liabilities. . Vo A

& The effective tax rate is calculated asa percentage of income before income taxes
© Current ratio is defined as current assets dmded by current liabilities. R

QUARTERLY SUMMARY (UNAUDITED) (see Note 3 below) @ "=+ -
(dollar amounts in millions i First  Second:. Third Fourth
except per share data) Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
2006! | I
i : I b [E T A
Netsales ......................... DU $1243 $:119.4--$143.7 $144.7
Grossprofit ..................... e 46.5 42.1 -~ 51.6 46.5
Oper'ating income ................. ... ... 6.6 39 . 1938 1.6
Net mcomel(loss) ............................... 06 , 10 " 105 (0.7)
Net cash (used)lprovnded by operatmg activities . . . . . $ (7.7 $| 84 $ 196 $ 16.1
Per common share: ' . L : ‘
Earnmgsl(loss) basic ....... .5 .............. $ 005 $'0.08 .$ 088 $(0.06)
| —fully diluted @ ... ... ....... $ 005 $10.08 ‘$ 0.84 $(0.06)
2005 : e o | _
Netsales ................ciiiimeeneanann. $1423 $1348 $1435 $144.2
Gross profit ..................... ERE TR 529 1 47.7 48.5 51.0
Operatmg income/(loss) @ . ... .. ... CERTERTP 1.0 (99.2) 1.1 - (0.6)
Net (loss)/mcome ...... s T S : (2.4) (104 8 (9.1 (7.4)
Net cash provided by operating activities .....:.... $ 103 $ (13 9) $ 195 §$ 279
Per common share: L
‘Loss=basic ............. e $0.19) % (8 46) $(0. 74) $(0.61)
il — fully diluted . .. ... e . :“ e $0.19) $ (8 46) $(0 74) $(0.61)
S ¥ ’
NOTES o

|
(1) In' view of the fact that a net loss of $0.7 million was made in the fourth quart’er 2006, the basic and fully
dlluted loss per common share are the same for that quarter. However, on an annua] basis the fully diluted
eammgs per comimon share was $0.90, meaning that effectively the impact of the fourth quarter loss on
fully diluted earnings was a loss of $0.07. -

(2) The figures for 2005 have been restated ir} order to reflect discontinued operations. This had no impact on
cash flows.

3 Dhnng the final quarter, 2006, the Compariy revised the classification of cenamlshlppmg and handling costs
anld commission charges in its results for 2006 and comparable information for| 2005 and 2004. Previously,
these charges were netted off sales and are now charged to cost of goods|sold and selling expenses,
respecnvely This has no impact on 2006 or any prior periods’ reported income before income taxes, net
mcome earnings per share, net cash provided by operating activities or any balance sheet category. The
classnﬁcauon of charges of $28.6 million and $37.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2006 and
2005 respectively, (1) with respect to shlppmg and handling costs has been revised from a reduction in net
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sales to an increase in costs of goods sold of $23.1 million and $26.5 million, respectively, and (2) with
respect to commission charges has been revised from a reduction in net sales to an increase in selling
expenses of $5.5 million and $10:6 million, respectively. The impact on net sales, gross profit and selling,
general and administrative expenses for the previously reported quarters, and the 2006 fourth quarter, during
the two years ended December 31, 2006 is provided below:

Fourth Full Year

26

First Second Third

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter 2006
Previously reported:
(in millions) ° . .
Netsales ................... P $117.9  $112.9 $1355 $1372  $503.5
Gross profit ... $455 $ 410 $495 $452 §$181.2
SG&A expenses ............. e $(21.1) $(21.00 $(22.2) $(29.2) $ (93.5)
Revised classification:,
(in millions) .
Netsales ..o . i i $124.3  $1194 $143.7 .31447 § 532.1
Grossprofit ... ... ... ... . ... . ... .. ... $465 $ 421 $ 516 $ 465 31867
SG&Aexpenses .......... ..., $(22.1) $(22.1) $(24.3) $30.5 3 (99.0)

' First  Second Third Fourth Full Year

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter 2005
Previously reported:
(in millions) , 7
Netsales ........ e e e, $133.2 31258 $133.0 $1357 $ 5277
Grossprofit ........ooiviiiii i, $502 $458 $450 §$485 51895
SG&A expenses ........ R $(25.8) $(24.9 $(20.1) $(26.8) $ (97.6)
Revised classification:
Netsales ................ D e $1423 51348 $1435 $1442 $5648
Grossprofit ......... ... ... ... ... .. $529 $477 $ 485 $ 510 $200.1
SGE&ACXPENSES ...\ vttt iin i $(28.5) $(26.8) $(23.6) $(29.3) 3(108.2)
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Item7.  -Management’s Discussion and Analysis of F 1nanc1al Condition
! and Results of Operations <

i

This'discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated Fmancral Statements and
the notes thereto, included elsewhere herein. . I
. VL. ’ - o
FACTORS AFFECTING OUR RESULTS i
P ’f: ' o fa ’ "' I [
The prlmary factor affectlng our results of operations. is the'contmumg transformation of the
Company’s business from one which was focused on Octane Additives to one in which the
Fuel Specialties and Performance Chemicals segments play an 1ncreasrngly predominant role.
For. the year ended December 31, 2006, the combined operating income of the Fuel Specialties
-and Performance Chemicals segments of our business rose 89%, as compared with the year
endeg December 31, 2005. By comparison, for the year ended December 31, 2006, operating
income for the Octane Additives segment was $34.5 million, which represents a decline of
'approx1mately 50% from operating income for the Octane Additives 1segment of our business
-for the year ended December 31, 2005. We expect that the role of the Octane Additives
segment of our business will continue to decline in the coming years! We expect that we will
cease all sales of TEL for use in automotive gasoline at some time in the future, and that we
will continue to write-off the business goodwill for our Octane Addmves business. until or
pnor|to that point. The Company’s strategic plan is for the growth in the Fuel Specialties and
Performance Chemicals segments to off-set the decline in the Octane Additives business.

.. AP . .
Revision to Classification of Certain Items I

During the final quarter, 2006, the Company revised the c]a551ﬁcat10n of certain shlppmg and
handhng,costs and commission charges in its results for 2006 and cornparable information for
2005 'and 2004, Previously, these charges were netted off sales and are now charged to cost.of
goods sold and selling expenses, respectively. This has no impact_on 2006 or any prior
penods reported income before income taxes, net,income, earnings per share net cash
; ‘prov1ded by operating activities or any balance sheet category. 1 o

. The clasmﬁcatron of charges of $28.6 mllllon $37.1 mllllon and $28 8 mllllon for the years
ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and'2004, respectlvely, (1) with respect to shlppmg and
handlmg costs has been revised from a reduction in net sales to an mcrease in‘costs of goods
sold of $23.1 million, $26.5 million and $21.8 million, respectlvely, ‘and (2) with respect to
commlssmn charges has been revised from a reduction in net sales to an tncrease in-selling
expenses of $5. 5 nnlllon $]0 6 million and $7.0 million, respectlvely

~ The Company undertook an analysis of the aggregate effect of these reclaSSIﬁcatlons on its
gross: margm for each of 2006, 2005 -and 2004. As originally reported, gross margin for' the
year ended Decémber 31, 2005  was 35.9%. After giving effect to the reclassifications, gross
margl‘n would. .decline -by an absolute amount of 0.5 percentage polnts to 35.4%, which
represents a 1.3% reduction of the gross margin relative to what was originally reported.
Similarly, for the year ended December 31, 2004, the gross margin after giving effect to the
'reclasmﬁcanons -declined from 44.0%:to 42.9%, dn absolute reductlon of 1.1 percentage
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points, which represents a 2.6% reduction in gross margin rclatlve to the gross margin under
the originally reported financial statements.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Results of Operations — Fiscal 2006 compared to Fiscal 2005:

The following table showing operating income by reporting business, and also applies tolthe
comparative results of operations in 2005 and 2004.

Product Group Data

(in millions) . : 2006 2005 2004

Net sales: : ‘ ‘

Fuel Specialties . . .. ..ot e $311.3 |$257.1 $208.9

Performance Chemicals .......................... e 1204 1094  48.6

Octane Additives .......... R R 100.4 198.3 2394
$532.1 $564.8 $496.9

Gross profit: - - ‘

Fuel Speciaities .. ........ SR S . L. $1062 $ 835 § 70.1

Performance Chemicals ........... e A 22.7 17.6 8.8

Octane Additives ......... P 57.8 99.0 134.1

- $186.7 $200.1 $213.0

Operating income:

Fuel Specialties .. .......... e e - $457 % 262 $ 208
Performance Chemicals ......... e e e 5.8 1.0 0.2
Octane Additives . ..... R S e 345 69.2- 1044
FAS 87 pension (charge)/credlt e . — (.7 2.7
Corporatecosts .......... ... .. .0..... e -(22.1)  (26.7) (33.0)
Restructuringcharge . ..................... SN (4.5) (31.3) (8.3)
Impairment of Octane Additive business goodw1ll ............. (36.7) (1344) (40.7)
Profit/(loss) on disposals (net) .................... P, 92 _ — (4.4)
Operating income/(loss) ......... e P $ 319 $(97.7) $ 41.7
Net sales ‘ )

(in millions) : 2006 2005  Change

Fuel Specialties ... ........coviiiiiiiii i, $311.3 $257.1 $54.2 +21%
Performance Chemicals ............. ... ... ..., 1204 . 1094 11.0 +10%
Octane Additives . ........ ... .. i, - 1004 1983 (979 -49%

$532.1 $564.8. $(32.7) -6%

Fuel Specialties is now by far our largest business unit accounting for well over half of ocur
revenues. The revenue increase of 21% achieved by this business unit was focused in the
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Europe, Middle East and Africa (‘EMEA”) region and the Americas' region, which delivered
revenue growth of 17% and 21%, respectively. There were also strong sales in the Asia
Pacific (“ASPAC”) region which delivered revenue growth of 60% albeit from a much lower
base. Americas sales were driven by our strong market-leading position in diesel fuel additives
and the U.S. government’s adoption early in 2006 of new ultra low sulfur diesel regulations.
Approximately half of the EMEA sales growth was due to a one-off contract with a single
customer. The ASPAC growth was due to the beneﬁt generated frorn customer contracts
entered into early in 2006

1
The Performance Chemlcals sales growth in 2006 was spread across each of the md1v1dua1
operations- which comprise this business. In absolute dollar terms however, the growth was
focused in Aroma Fine Chemicals, our aroma fragrances business, and Finetex, our surfactants
and emollients business. Aroma Fine Chemicals benefited from price increases throughout
2006 and greater production capacity which came on stream in the latter stages of the year.
During 2006 Finetex leveraged its customer base to increase both sales prices and volumes
across almost all of its product range. : -
The Octane Additives sales decline was limited to 49% in dollar terms despite volumes
decreasing 63%. This was primarily due to the richer sales mix in 2006, compared to 2005,
and moderate price increases achieved during 2006. Sales volumes were adversely impacted
by South Africa leaving the markét for TEL for use in automotive gasoline at thé start of the
year, and the absence in 2006 of significant shipments to South East Asia. However, sales to
the Middle East in 2006 remained resilient.

In aggregate terms the sales decline was limited to $32.7 million (6%) as the combined sales
growth of our Fuel Specialties and Performance Chemicals businesses of $65.2 million
(18%) went a long way in mitigating the expected continued sales dechne in our Octane
Addltlves busmess ‘

Gross profit

(in millions) : 2006 , 2005 Change
Fuel SPecialties . . . ..o\ o v e e $1062 $ 835 $22.7 +27%
Performance Chemicals ............ e e 227 -17.6 5:1 +29%

Octarie Additives ...................coooiiiiais, ... 578 990 (41.2) -42%
: - ' $186.7 $200.1 $(13.4) -7%

Gross margin (%)

Fuel Specialties .. ................. e 34.1 32.5. +1.6
Performance Chemicals ............. e . 189 - 16.1 +2.8
Octane Additives ........... . ...cccovvuiunn. e 576, 499 - +7.7

ABEIegate ... ... ... 35.1 354 0.3

The 27% increase in gross profit generated by our Fuel Specialties business outstripped the
21% sales growth achieved due to improved margins. The increase of 1.6 percentage points in
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the Fuel Specialties gross margin was focused in the Americas region and offset the lower
margins seen in-the EMEA and ASPAC regions. The Americas gross margin benefited from
sales prices increases implemented early in 2006 and tight control of material costs throughout
the year. The EMEA gross margin was diluted by the impact of a one-off contract with a
single customer and the ASPAC gross margin was impacted by ‘product mix. . '

The Performance Chemicals business delivered a 29% increase in gross profit which again
was significantly in excess of the 10% sales growth. This increase was generated from a 2.8
percentage points improvement in gross margins spread across each of the individual
operations which comprise this business segment. This gross margin improvement was
focused in Finetex, Innospec Leuna and ProChem with the latter two businesses benefiting
from product mix improvements.

The 42% decline in gross profit in our Octane Additives business compares favourably to the
49% decrease in sales. This is due to the 7.7 percentage points improvement in gross margin
which reflects the richer sales mix and moderate price increases achieved during 2006.

Overall gross profit declined 7% to $186.7 million, compared to the sales decline of 6%,
despite each of our businesses actually managing to increase their gross margins. This is due
to the fact that higher margin Octane Additives sales formed a smaller proportion of total
sales, reducing from 35% to 19%, with this mix effect depressing the aggregate gross margin
by 0.3 percentage points.

Operating expenses

(in millions) s 2006 2005  Change

Fuel Specialties . . . . .. .. e e S $(593) 8 (56.1) $(32)  +6%
Performance Chemicals ........... ... ... v ... (15.5) (152) (©03) +2%
Octane Additives ...............cciiiiiinrnnnn.n. (13.2) (19.7) 6.5 -33%
FAS 87 pension (charge)/credit ...................... — (1.7 1.7 -100%
Corporate COStS .. .. .ou ittt 22.1) @67 46 -17%

$(110.1) $(1194) $9.3 -8%

Increases in operating expenses in our Fuel Specialties and Performance Chemicals businesses
have been limited to 6% and 2%, respectively, despite the sales growth of 21% and 10%,
respectively. This sales growth and tight cost control has been achieved by leveraging the
infrastructures of these businesses.

The 33% reduction in operating expenses of Octane Additives compares to the 49% sales
decline experienced in this business. The majority of the savings were generated from reduced
commission charges caused by the absence.of sales to South East Asia.

In accordance with FAS 87, we were required to recognize a non-cash charge of $1.7 million
in 2005, primarily in respect of the amortization of prior service cost. No similar charge was
required to be recognized in 2006. . : : e
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The reduction achieved in cmporateacosts results from the restructuring .of the corporate
functions and reduced costs in relation to Sarbanes Oxley complllance There were also
significant costs recognized in 2005 for the special investigation into the transfer of funds in
South Africa by the formér CEO. f , '-

Restructuring éharge

Restllucturmg costs of $4.5 million in 2006, substantially reduced from the $31.3 million
mcurred in 2005, were comprised of severance and other restructuring costs of $2.4 million
and $2 1 million, respectively. :

1

The lSCVGI’aHCC costs included $1.6 million in respect of cost reduction programs in
manufactunng and support activities on the U.K. Octane Addltlves manufactunng site,
$0.6 million in respect of additional salary and other emoluments to be pald to the former
CEOland $0.2 million in relation to severance of corporate staff.

'
The other restructurmg Ccosts compnsed $1.4 million in respect of s1t1e clearance in the UK.,
$0.4 nnlhon in relation to costs associated with a plan to consolidate lmamufacturmg activities
on tojone site in one of our U.S. businesses and $0.3 million in respect of the relocatlon of our
European Headquarters to the Ellesmere Port site.

Amortlzatlon of mtanglble assets l

The ltmomzatlon charge was $12.7 million in 2006 and 2005. In lboth years a charge of
$10.1 million was recognized in respect of the Veritel intangible asset that is being amortized
ona stralght line basis and as such is comparable year on year. The rémaining $2.6 million in
both iyears relates to the amortization of intangible assets recognilzed in the acquisition
accounting in respect of Finetex, Aroma Fine Chemicals and Innospec Fuel “Specialties
(formerly known as Octel Starreon).

Impaerent of Octane Additives busitless goodwill ]
I

The Company recognized a charge of $36 7 million for the 1mpa1rment of Octane Addltlves
business goodwill in 2006. This compares to a charge of $134.4 mllhon in 2005. Since the end
of 2005 there have been no significant. changes in the estimates used)in the detailed forecast
model to calculate the impairment charges. The charge was significantly higher in 2005 due to
the loss of anticipated sales ‘and associated cash flows from Venezuela, a major customer, in
the second quarter of 2005. - | | '

The ﬁemammg balance of Octane Additives business goodwill is now $24.8 million. The
Company will continue to test the value of Octane Additives business goodwill at the end of
each quaner and expects to recognize a charge of approximately $14 to $18 million for the 12
months ending December 31, 2007, if actual cash flows are in lme with the Company’s
current forecasts. The charge remains crltlcally dependent upon developments that affect the
Company s best estimates of future volumes of Octane Additives, future revenue, gross
margms selling and administrative costs as well as the ﬁxed and workmg capital requirements
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of the business, including the level of compensation paid to Ethyl under the TEL marketing
agreements.

Profits/(loss) on disposal (net)

The Company recognized $9.6 million profit following the disposal of surplus real estate in
the U.K. This was partially off-set by prepaid disposal costs of $0.4 million.

Interest expense (net)

Net interest expense in 2006 at $6.8 million was $0.8 million lower than the $7.6 million
incurred in 2005, This reduction is primarily due to the fact that average net debt was lower in
2006 when compared to 2005; and also due to the inclusion in the 2006 net charge of
repayment of interest of $0.6 million charged on a tax balance. Net debt fell by $25.2 million,
between the end of 2005 and 2006, primarily due to the $36.4 million of cash flows from
operating activities generated by our businesses and the $9.6 million of proceeds from the
disposal of surplus real estate in the U.K., offset by $15.6 million -of common stock
repurchased. Moreover, this reduced net interest expense was achieved despite the fact that the
U.S. base interest rate rose between the corresponding periods.

Other net income/(expense)

In 2006 other net income of $6.8 million was generated of which $7.6 million related to
foreign exchange gains offset by $0.8 million of other sundry expenses. '

In 2005 other net expense of $12.6 million comprised a $5.5 million charge for the write-off
of the Company’s investment in Stylacats in the third quarter, a charge of $1.2 million to fully
provide against two other investments, a $3.7 million charge for exchange losses on forward
foreign exchange contracts and $2.2 million of other sundry expenses.

Income taxes

The Company recognized a tax charge of $20.4 million in 2006 which is $16.2 million greater
than the $4.2 million incurred in 2005. The headline rate of income tax is 64.2% compared to
(3.5)% in 2005. However, the effective rate of tax for 2006 excluding the impairment of
Octane Additives business goodwill was 29.8% compared to 25.8% in 2005. Tax relief is not
available on this impairment charge and accordingly we believe that the effective rate of tax is
best calculated by adjusting for this non-cash charge. This adjusted effective rate has increased
4.0 percentage points between the corresponding periods due to the disposition of our profits,
exhaustion of U.S. net operating losses and increased profitability of our U.S. based Fuel
Specialties business which suffers the standard federal tax rate of 35%, together with state
taxes.

Results of Operations — Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 2004:

The following table is presented to show the incremental impact of the acquisitions of Leuna,
Aroma Fine Chemicals (“AFC”) and Finetex in 2005.
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Eﬁ'e('t of acquisitions.on. 2005 group results compared to 2004

L R o ' " © 2005As Effecfof| ~ 2005Before 2004 As
(in millions) . Reported Acquisitions Acquisitions Reported
Net s;ales e R IR EEE _ . .. $564. 8 $62.3 i $°502.5 $496.9
Grosls profit .......... ...l SO .. 200, 1 ;.7.2‘; 1929 2130
Selhng general and adrmmstratlve expense . (108. 2) : (_6._2)1 - (102.0) . (96.6)
Research and development expense ......... - (112 (0.7) (10.5) . (10.1)
Amortlzatlon of intangible assets ........... .(12.7) -(1.5)' (112 . (11,2)
Impalrrnent of TEL business goodwill ....... (1344) — (134.4) 40.7)
Restructurlng charge ..................... (31.3) 0.4) | (30.9) - (8.3)
Loss|0ndlsposals.;..:,...., ....... I S — — { L 4.4
Oper:ating Income ................ L $ (97.7) $(l.6)} $ (96.1‘)' $ 41.7

The table above includes the impact of the acquisition of Leuna, the results of which were
consolldated for six months in 2004, and the results of AFC, the results of whlch have been
consolldated for four months in 2004 and the results of Fmetex whlch‘was acqulred in January
2005’ The impact of the acquisition of . the remalmng 50% of the shares in Innospec Fuel
Speclaltles LLC (formerly known as Octel Starreon LLC) has not been included as the results
of. In'nospec Fuel Specialties LL.C have been fully consolidated bylthe Company since the
1ncept10n of the.joint venture in 1999, with a correspondlng charge in the minority interest line
1temI The minority interest charge for the period. to full acqu1s1t10n of - Innospec Fuel
Spec1a1t1es LLC on July 8, 2004 was $1.9 million. Accordmgly no table, of the 1mpact of

acquisitions is presented for the Fuel Specialties business. 1
I

The éffect of acquisitions on 2005 Performance Chemlcals business results compared to 2004

is as follows - A : o ]
o ‘4 ' . | .
' i : C o -, Lo I - [ Performance
- . ot L. oL Chemicals
| : ' o o : " Before .
oy SR ' % 2005 As  Acquisitions Acquisitions - 2004 As
(in millions) . . o . - Reported . Effect | - 2005 - Reported
Net siales A . ©$1094 . $59.3 i - $50.1° .$48.6
Grossproﬁt e . 176 . .6.'4 ; '11.2,“ . 8.8
Selllng general and administrative expense e (132 7 (6.1) { 7.1 7 (6.8)
Research and development ......... AP 20 06, 14 - (1.6
Amortlzatlon of 1ntang1ble assets . ...u..... . (1.4) (L.1) - (0.3) - (0.2)
BUSIT{ESS operatm_g income ........ ,::. ... % 10 804 [-_ . $24  $02
Net sfa_llas : li C o

Fuel -:Specialties sales of $257.1 million were $48.2 million (23.1%) higher than ini 2004. Sales
in the Americas grew by 36.2% due to higher sales of cetane numberl improver and additives
for diesel ahead of new legislation. Sales in the EMEA region grew by 16.8% and sales in the
Asia Pac1ﬁc region grew by 11.6%. !
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The subsidiaries acquired in 2004 and at the beginning of 2005 (AFC, Leuna and Finetex)
contributed $59.5 million of the $60.8 million additional Performance Chemicals sales in the
year. B

Octane Additives sales volumes were 25.7% below 2004 volumes but sales value declined by
only 17.2% mainly ¢ due to price increases. Sales volumes to the Americas were down 90.8%
due to the loss of business in Venezuela, Sales to Asia Pacific have proved to be resilient and
volumes were actually 6.4% higher than i in 2004. Shipments to the Middle East were 95.7%

South Africa left the market for use of TEL in automotlve gasoline.
Total net sales for 2005 of $564.8 million were $67.9 mllhon (13.7%) ahead of 2004 sales.
Gross profit -' '

In Fuel Specialties gross profit increased by $13.4 ‘million (19.1%) though the gross margin
fell 1.1 percentage points from 33.6% to 32.5%. The gross margin was impacted by the rapid
growth 'in sales of relatively lower margin cetane number improvers in the USA and the loss
of manufacturing ‘margin as‘a result of the Bycosin disposal in 2004. '

In Performance Chemicals, the effect of thé acquisitions on the gross margin can be seen
above. The gross profit margin including the impact of acquisitions reduced 2 percentage
points to 16.1% from the 18.1% achieved in 2004. This is due to the fact that the acquisitions
operate in markets that generate lower gross margins than the previously existing businesses
in this busmess unit, however they also operate with lower overhead cost bases

Gross proﬁt in the Octane Additives business at $99.0 million was "$35.1 million
(26.2%) lower than in 2004 despite sales declining 17.2% in the comparable period. Gross
margin decreased 6.1 percentage points from 56.0% to 49.9%. Results in 2004 were boosted
by the release of a $6.4 million surplus remediation provision relating to a former Octane
Additives manufacturing site at Doberitz in Germany. In addition, in 2004 a $3.2 million
provision related to a take or pay contract for materials was released following a review of the
likely material requirements. Following the loss of Venezuela volumes in 2005 a further
review of this contract was performed and as a result a provision of $1.7 million was
recognized in the second quarter of 2005. Excluding the impact of these items the gross
margin still declined due to a combination of higher unit production and raw material costs.

Total gross profit for 2005 of $200.1 million was $12.9 million (6.1%) below that in 2004.
The overall gross margin declined 7.5 percentage points from 42.9% to 35.4%: This decline
was caused by the lower margins generated by all three business units in 2005 compared to
2004, and also by higher margin Octane Additives sales forming a smaller proportion of
overall sales in 2005 compared to 2004 (35.1% down from 48.2%).
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Operating expenses S -+ o

Operatmg expenses con51st of sellmg, general and administrative expenses and research and
development expenses. ;
Operatmg €Xpenses | increased within our Fuel Spemaltles busmess unit due to the mclusmn of
legal and other costs associated with the Company,’s voluntary ‘disclose to OFAC.

In Performance Chernicals the effect of the acquisitions on operating'e;(pgnsés can be seen
from the table above. This impact represents the majority of increase;in, operating expenses
seen in this business unit since existing operations held their cost bases. :

: ‘s e . . : o Sl :
In the Octane Additives business unit the operating expenses were essentially flat as the
benefit obtained from reduced selling expenses following the closure of certain sales offices
was offset by additional commission charges on sales to South East Asid.

I
Due to the hlgh proportlon of inactive members in thc ‘Company’s prmc1pal defined benefit

pensmn plan in the U.K,, the net pension, charge or, Cl'edlt associated with_this is reported
separately. The net pension credit in 2004 was $2.7 million compared toa net pension charge
of $1.7, million in 2005. This reversal from pension credit to pension charge was mainly due to
the de-risking of the pension fund as a result of the decision to.invest in a higher proportion of
bonds rather than equities.

Corporate costs declined $6.3 miltion (19.1%) from $33.0 million in 2004 to $26.7 million in
2005. ThlS decline primarily reflects the effect of the relocation in 2005 .0f the European
Hcadquaners to thc Ellesmere Port site and the streamlining of the executive structure. -

Overall operating expenses increased by $12.7 mllhon (ll 9%)} in 2005 to. $119 4 rm]hon
$6.1 million of the increase bemg due to the effect of acquisitions. ¥ . -

Restructuring charge

The Company incurred restructuring costs of $31.3 million in 2005. These costs comprised
$2.2 million in relation to a cost reduction program in manufacturing and support activities on
the U.K. Octane Additives manufacturing site and $1.6 million in respect of severance of
corporate staff. A charge of $1.4 million was recognized under FAS 146,under a previous cost
reductic'm program where the leavers stayed longer than their contractual notice periods.
Associated with all of the 2005 severance programs a pension,charge of $12.5 million was
recognized under FAS 88 as there had been a curtailment event” due to the significant
restructuring activity in the U.K. in 2005.

A charge of $1.2 million was recognized in relation to the closure of the European
Headquarters in Manchester, U.K. This charge represénted a write-off of fixed assets where
the value had been impaired by the closure and .other costs of closure. A charge of
$0.9 million was recognized relating to fixed asset write-offs resulting. from the closure of the
Fuel Technology Centre in Bletchley, U.K. A charge of $1.1 million was recognized relating-
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to severance costs arising from the decision to relocate the research and technology activities
that had previously been carried out at that site to the Ellesmere Port, UK. site. A charge of
$2.0 million was-recognized in relation to the decision to dispose-of the Adastra -diesel
particulate filters business. This included $1.6 million of fixed asset and other write-offs and
$0.4 million of severance costs. A charge of $0.4 million was recognized in relation to the
severance costs associated with a plan to consolidate manufacturing activities on to one site in
oné of our U.S. businesses. Other charges relate to the costs of site clearance in the U.K.
($3.4 million) and non U.K. severance in the Fuel Specialties business ($0.6 million).

A charge of $4.0 million was recognized relating to the costs of salary, additional costs of
professional advice and other emoluments to be paid to the former CEO pursuant to an
agreement governing the terms of the former CEO’s resignation dated April 8, 2005.

Amortization of intangible assets

The amortization charge in 2005 of $12.7 million was $1 5 million higher than the
$11.2 million recognized.in 2004. In both years ‘a charge of $10.1 million was recognized in
respect of the Veritel intangible asset that is being amortized on a straight-line basis and as
such is comparable.year on year. The remaining $2.6 million relates to the amortization of
intangible assets recognized in the acquisition accounting in respect of Finetex, Aroma & Fine-
Chemicals and Octel Starreon (now called Innospec Fuel Specialties).

Impalrment of Octane Addltlves busmess goodwill

The Company recogmzcd a charge of $134.4 million for the 1mpalrment of Octane Additives
business goodwill in 2005. The loss of ant101pated sales from Venezuela was the principal
reason for this unexpectedly high charge and reflects the loss of the anticipated future cash
flows that had previously been assumed in the dctalled forecast model that supported the value
of Octane Additives busmess goodw111 at the end of 2004. The charge in 2004 was
$40.7 million.

Interest expense and mterest mcome

\

At $7:6 million 'the net interest expense was $2.0 million higher than in 2004. This was
principally because of the higher average level of'net debt in 2005 when compared to the
equivalent period in 2004 following the acquisition outflows in the second half of 2004 and
early 2005 and the increase in U.S. bdse interest rate. In 2005 interest expense was
$9.5 million and interest income was $1.9 million. In 2004 interest expense was $6.4 million
and interest income was $0.8 million. :

Other expense (net)

Other income and expense of $12.6 million consists mainly of a $5.5 million charge for the
write-off of the Company’s investment in Stylacats in the third quarter, a charge of
$1.2 million to fully provide against two other investments, $2.2 million sundry other charges
and a $3.7 million charge for exchange losses on forward foreign exchange contracts.
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Income taxes . - H

The headline rate of income tax was (3.5)% in 2005 compared to 62.8% in 2004. The change
in the effective tax rate and the reason why. the Company is paying,taxes on a loss making
operation is that the charge for the impairment of Octane Additives business goodwill is not
an allowable deduction for. tax purposes. The effective rate of tax for 2005 excluding the
impact of the Octane Additives busmess goodwill impairment charge was 25.8% compared to
27.6% in 2004. o

Discontinued operations - ' g

The loss of $1.4 million relates to the disposal of Octel Performance Chemicals Inc. and the
Gamlen Waste Water Treatment business.

CASH FLOWS DISCUSSION

We generated cash from operating activities of $36.4 mllhon $43.8 mllllon and $62 4 rmlllon
in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. _ e |

In 2006 net cash provided by operating activities declined $7.4 million from $43.8 million in
2005 to $36.4 million in 2006 despite our return.to profitability. The primary reason for this
decline was the $39.5 million increase in working capital’ requirement discussed more fully
under “Working Capital”. This was offset by a.$20.9 million movement in tax creditor due to
a cash receipt from the U.K. tax authorities related to a tax reclaim in the first quarter of 2006
and the increased tax charge for 2006. The $3.9 million net movément on plant closure
provisions primarily represents the $7.0 million severance payments made largely at the
beginning of 2006. The $3.0 million movement in the pension prepayment relates to the cash
contributions made during the year to the U.K. contributory defined benefit pension plan. We
generated $9.6 million from the disposal of property, plant and equipment, primarily
following the disposal of surplus real estate in the U.K., of which $7.6 million was re-invested
in capital expenditures to support our Fuel Specialties and Performance Chemicals growth
busmesscs and corporate IT structure. The disposal of a 20% stake in Deurex Micro
Technologxes GmbH resulted in an inflow of $2.6 million. The Company drew down an
additional $18.0 million of revolving credit facility and repaid a $10.0 million instalment on
the term loan. On April 1 and October 1 the Company paid a semi-annual dividend of 8 cents
per share aggregating to 16 cents for the year and $1.9 million in total. In addition we
repurchased $15.6 million of our own common stock and raised $3.0 million by the issue of
Treasury stock to holders of options who chose to exercise their stock options.

During 2005 large tax payments relating to tax charges from prior penods and a low 2005 tax
charge resulted in a significant $22.5 million reduction in the accrual for income taxes and
other liabilities. The $10.0 million reduction in the pension prepaymcnt was mainly due to the
curtailment charge of $12.5 million, relating to higher pension liabilities arising from
restructuring, that was not concurrently cash funded to the U.K. contributory defined benefit
pension plan. The $22.3 million business combinations outflow mainly represented the
$21.2 million acquisition of Finetex, net-of cash. In January $51.0 million of the former
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revolving credit facility was drawn down to finance a $30.0 million scheduled loan repayment
on our former term loan, and the acquisition of Finetex, resulting in a net $21.0 million
increase in borrowings. In Décember the Company agreed a new financing facility and drew
down the new term:loan of $100.0 million and $40.0 million of the new revolving credit
facility, repaying $140.0 niillion owed under ‘the old financing facility. On Aprll 1 and
September 30 the Company paid+a semi- -aninual dividend of 7 cents per share aggregating to
14 cents for the year and $!1.7 ‘million .in' total: The issue of Treasury stock to holders of
options who chose to exercise their stock options raised $1.4 million and $2.5 million was
spent on the repurchase; of 146,862 shares at an average price of $16.99. o

- . .

In 2004 business combinations accounted for an $80 2 million outflow. Of this $43.8 million
related to the cash outlay to acquire the 50% sharei m Octel ‘Starreon LLC previously held by
Starreon Corporation LLC, $30.8 million related to the acquisition of Aroma & Fine
Chemicals Limited (“AFC”), $5.2 million was expended to acquire control of Leuna Polymer
GmbH, $2.6 million was spent to acquire a 20% shareholding in Deurex Micro Technologies
GmbH and $1.8 million was used on sundry investments in associates. These outflows were
offset by the $4.2 million received from the sale of our 49% interest in Joss Holdings BV. The
majority of the $5.2 million proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment related to
the $4.7 million ‘sale of our Octane Additives Paris. office.- The $4.8 million increase in
restricted cash related to.£2.5 million placed.into escrow-to secure and match Loan Notes
issued by the Company to the vendors as part of the  consideration for AFC. -In January
$97.5 million of the previous: borrowing-facility had been repaid’and $100.0 million of"the
new borrowing facility drawn down. On» April .1- and October: 1 the Company paid a semi-
annual dividend of 6 cents per share. aggregatmg to 12 cents for the year and $1.5 mllllon in
total ' ' . t LR " e EIE 4 e ¥ ‘ . ' 'Tu ¢ LR Tt

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL CONDITION

T
[} \2 . ‘. .

Working Capltal o
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In 2006 our workmg capltal requirement 1ncreased by '$39.5 millién. The. $11.1 million
increase in accounts recelvable and prepald éxpenses was spread across our three ‘business
units as a result of thé 1ncreased tradmg in our ‘Fuel Specialties 'and Performance Chemicals
growth businessés and the 1mpact of the tlmmg of Octane Addlnves shlpments compared to
the correspondmg penod last ycar "Inventories increased by $21.0 fmillion also in all thréé
business units though it was focused in Fuel Specnaltles and ‘Octane Additives, the latter being
due to our Octane Addltlves manufactunng strategy implemented at’ Ellesmere Port. The
$7.4 million increase’in accounts ‘payable and acciued liabilities was limited to'a moderate
increase within Performance Chemlcals due to increased trading levels and a somewhat larger
increase within Octane Addmves reﬂectmg the ‘non-cash release in the first quarter of a
$4 5 million retrospectlve pncmg prov131on and correspondmg reductlon in accrued liabilities.

CaSh ' [ 'a o ey Tt ) :‘ - 'I. S - '\-

L

At December 31, 2006 and 2005 we-had: cash' and cash equ1valents of $101.9 million and
$68.9 million, respectively. In addition, at December 31, 2005 we had $4.3 million of
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restricted, cash. The restrictedicash related to £2.5 million placed into escrow to.secure and
match. Loan Notes-issued by. the Company to.the,vendors as part of the consideration for AFC.
One - tranche of .£1.25, million - was_paid 1n.,January -2006 . and the remammg tranche of
£1. 25( million was paid in,October 2006. . -, " .. - o :
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Debt,

The loss of Venezuela as a major Octane Additives customer in the second quarter of 2005
required the Company to review its current and projected operational flexibility and liquidity.
The Company therefore initiated discussions with its senior lenders, in the third quarter of
2005.* As aresult of those discussions the Company agreed the:terms of a new three and one
half year financing facility more appropriate to the Company’s needs: The facility contains
terms which, if breached .would result in the loan becoming repayable on demand. It requires,
among other matters compllance with two financial covenant ratios. These ratios are. (1) the
ratio of net debt to” EBITDA and (2) the fatio of net interest to EBITA. EBITDA and EBITA
are non U.S. GAAP teasures of llqllldlty defined in the finance facility. In the event that the
ratio of net debt to EBITDA exceeds 2.0 then in addition to these covenants, the facility also
requires a “look forward” test and an .additional financial covenant ratio in, the form of net
operating cash flow before finance costs to scheduled debt amiortization and interest coss.
This “look forward” test was not applicable to the Company during 2006 due to such ratlo not
being exceeded t

.3 . . L]
. N f

As of December 31, 2006, the Company had $l48 million of debt outstanding under its new
senior credit facnhty agreement and was in compliance with all financial covenants thérein.
The debt profile as at December 31, 2006 1nclud1ng the prtnc1pa1 fac1llty and other group
debt, is setout below: - -+ ., - o, . e T

. "2007 R T SR 15.0
2008 ..ol P 20.0
2009 .. Do PR e, 113.0

| $ 148.0

 Current portion of long-termdebt ...................... L $ (150
‘ ; 'Et)ng;tc’éfh deht, net'of'cufrent portion wpe S P $133.00

! ! ! ! Tk [ ar N o
In January 2007 the Company repaid $73.0 million under the principz‘t] facility consisting of
the scheduled $135.0 million term, loan repayment and_$58.0 million on the revolving credit
facility. The revolving credit facility can be drawn down upon again until the financing
facﬂlty explres on J une 12, 2009 or later if the facrltty is extended

¢ ..,. L } . ! . ¥

Pensmn Plans and Other Post Employment Beneﬁts

Effec_tiv_e for fiscal year 2006, the. Company adopted the provisions of FAS 158, Employers’
Accounting, for- Defined Benefit-Pension and Other Postretirement Plans. FAS 158 requires.
that the funded status of defined-benefit postretirement plans be recognized on the Company’s
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consolidated balance sheets, and changes in the funded status be reflected in comprehensive
income. FAS 158 also requires the measurement date of the plan’s funded status to be the
same as the Company’s fiscal year-end. Although the measurement date provisitm was not
required to be adopted until fiscal year 2008 the Company early-adopted this provision for
fiscal year 2006. The effect of applying FAS 158 was to record a total reduction to equity
through recognition in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss of $97.0 million on an
after-tax basis. - : o

Contractual Commitments

The following represents contractual commitments at December 31, 2006 and the effect of
those obligations on future cash flows:- o

Lessthanl 1to3 4to5 Over5

(in millions) : Total year Years years years
Long-term debt obligations .. ............... $1480 $150 $1330 $— $—
Remediation payments .................... 237 22 73 21 121
Severance payments ..............000u0.s 3.8 3.1 07 ' — —
Unconditional purchase obligations .......... 0.3 02 01 — —
Capital commitments . ..................... 3.1 3.1 —_ - —
Operating lease commitments ............... 6.1 1.4 1.9 1.5 1.3
Interest paymentsondebt .................. 11.0 5.5 55 — —
Planned funding of pension obligations ....... 28.3 7.1 14.1 71 - —
Total ...... ... .. ... .. $224.3 $37.6  $162.6 $10.7 $134

At December 31, 2006 long-term debt comprised $90.0 million term loan and $58.0 million
drawn under the revolving credit facility. At the same date long-term debt obligations
represent scheduled term loan repayments and amounts drawn under the revolving credit
facility repaid when the financing facility expires on June 12, 2009, unless extended. In
January 2007 the Company repaid $73.0 million under the principal facility consisting of the
scheduled $15.0 million term loan repayment and $58.0 million on the revolving credit
facility.

Remediation payments represent those cash flows that the Company is currently obligated to
pay in respect of current and former facilities. It does not include any discretionary
remediation costs that the Company may choose to incur.

Unconditional purchase obligations relate to certain raw material take or pay contracts which
have been entered into by the Company.

Capital commitments relate to certain capital projects that the Company has committed to
undertake.

Operating lease commitments relate primarily to office space, motor vehicles and items of
office equipment which are expected to be réenewed and replaced in the normal course of
business.
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The Company is subject to interest at variable rates on certain elements of its long-term debt.
The estimated payments included in the table above assume a constant U.S. base interest rate
of 5.8% to 6.5% on the main credit facility. Estimated commitment fees are also included,
interest income .is excluded and the impact of the Company repaylng $58.0 million on the
revolvmg credit facrhty in January 2007 is included. - S

The amounts related to the pension plan refer to the l1kely levels of Company funding of the
U.K. contributory defined benefit pension plan and certain pension commitments to senior
employees. It is not meaningful to predict an amount after five years since there are numerous
uncertainties including future return on assets, pay escalation, pens1on increases, inflation and
employment levels. R

Envrronmental Matters and Plant Closures'

The Company is subject to environmental laws in all of the countries in which it operates.
Under certain environmental laws the Company is responsible for ‘the remediation of
hazardous substances or wastes at currently or forrnerly owned or operated properties.

Most of our manufacturing operanons’ have been conducted outs1de the U.S. and, therefore,
any liability pertaining to the investigation and remediation of contammated properties is
llkely to be deterrmned under non-U.S. law.

i

We evaluate costs for remediation, decontamination and demolition projects on a regular
basis. Full provision is made for those costs to which we are committed under environmental
laws. Full provision has been made for the committed costs of $23.7 million. Expenditure
against provisions was $1.3 million, $2. 2 million and $2.0 million in the years 2006, 2005 and
2004{ respectively. . o : :

We have also mcurred personnel severance costs in relation to the'management of the decline
in the Octane Additives market and the restructuring of the Fuel Specialties business. Total
severance expenditure was $7.0 million, $9.7 million, $6.0 million in the years 2006, 2005 and
2004, respectively. Provision is made for severance costs under the conditions of FAS 146 and
FAS ;l 12. The provision at December 3'1 , 2003 was $3.8 million. o

Inflation )

Inflation has not been 'a significant factor for the Company over the last several years.
Management believes that inflation will continue to be moderate over the next several years.

FUTURE OUTLOOK -

We undertoock a detailed. strategic review in 2005 and concluded that with the Octane
Additives market gradually disappearing we needed to get to the position where the Company
was solidly profitable even without the profit contribution of the Octane Additives business
unit. We measure our progress towards achieving, and surpassing, thls objective through the

concept of ongoing operating profitability.
. I
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‘ Ongoing operatmg profitablhty

(in millions) ' ' 2006 2005 Change

Fuel Specialties operating income ...................... - $457 $262 $195 +74%
Performance Chemicals operating income ............ Y 5.8 1.0 48 +480%
FAS 87 pension (charge)/credlt ........................ — (.7 1.7 -100%
Corporate costs ........:...5L... e veeeeta. 22D 267 - 460 -17%

- $294 $(1.2) $30.6 -

by

\
. \
In 2005 the combined operating income of our growth businesses of Fuel Specialties ‘and |
Performance Chemicals did not cover the corporate costs and FAS 87 pension charge. |
However, with the significant improvement in the operatmg incomes of these business and
substantial reduction in the corporate cost base our ongoing operating profitability was nearly

$30.0 million in 2006. :

| We beheve we are in a strong financial position today and our overall objectlve remains

| unchanged. We will continue to leverage and organically grow ‘the’ Fuel Specialties and
Performance Chemicals businesses. We have many internal opportunities for growth in the
near term from both geographical and product line extensions., Acquisitions in these
businesses are also a primary focus for us. We believe the industries in which these businesses
operate provide the greatest opportunities for a good return on investments, including
associated synergies, while minimizing risk by investing in those markets where we .have
operating knowledge and cxpcrience

We expect our ongoing operatmg proﬁtablhty to lmprove further in 2007. There are however

many variables which will determine the ultimate profitability of the Company The 1mpact of

raw material prices, and specifically their continued volatility, remain difficult to predict. In

addition, the newly approved REACH legislation in Europe will impact our cost base and -
efforts in 2007.

Fuel Speciélties

2006 has been an outstanding year for our Fuel Specialties business with net sales increasing
$54.2 million (21%) to $311.3 million and operating income increasing $19.5 million
(74%) to $45.7 million. This sales growth comes on top of the 23% organic growth already
experienced in 2005. Gross margins increased to 34.1% from 32.5% in 2005. Fuel Specialties
is now our largest business unit accounting for well over half of our revenues.

It is widely recognized that it will be increasingly difficult to sustain these levels of growth.
We therefore expect sales growth in 2007 to approximate to 8% to 12% per annum and gross
margin to be in the 32% to 36% region. This organic growth will be pursued in the Company’s
three key regions, Europe, Middle East and Africa (“EMEA”), Americas and Asia-Pacific.
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Performance Chemicals

This was the first year in recent times which allowed like-for-like comparisons with the
previous year following the acquisitions in 2004, and very early in 2005, in this business
segment. We reorganized this business in the second quarter of 2006 and the benefits started
to flow from there with improved sales and profitability being demonstrated in the last two
quarters of the year. In 2006 net sales increased $11.0 million (10%) to $120.4 million. and
operatmg income increased $4.8 million (480%) to $5.8 million. Gross margins increased by

2.8 percentage points from 16.1% in 2005 to 18.9% in 2006.
!

We beheve the Performance Chemicals business unit w1ll expenen:ce an acceleration in its
growth Organic sales growth of 10% to 14% will be pursued across the various operations
which comprise this business unit and with improved operating efﬁc1enc1es and pricing our

gross margins should range between 18% to 22%. .

P
Octane Additives !
Over the last three years Octane Additives sales have declined 58‘%; from $239.4 million to
$100.4 million and now represent 19% of the Company’s total sales compared to 48% in
2004. However, continued cost control and flexible management of manufacturing capacity
have delivered benefits and accordingly the reduction in gross proﬁt over the equ1valent three
year:penod has been limited to 57%. - : b

The 0ctane Addmves market has been in decline since the 1970s and this trend is expected to
continue. Moreover, following the exit from this market in 2006 and 2005 of the significant
customers of South Africa and Venezuela, respectively, world market decline in 2007 is likely
to be limited to the 15% to 25% range. We will continue to manage costs within this business
unit and price the product to reflect its economic value to our customers. We expect the
Octane Additives business to continue to be cash generative and |gross margins to range
between 39% to 45%. i

Follownng our adoption of FAS 142 in 2002 the annua] amortization charge on goodwill has
been: replaced by an impairment review process. The continued| decline in the Octane
Addltlves market will inevitably result in impairment charges in future years. Our latest
rev1ew has revealed a need to recognize further impairment charges for Octane Additives
business goodwill impairment in each period until the Octane Additives business cash flows
are exhausted. An annual impairment review of the goodwill relatmg to the Fuel Specialties
and Performance Chemicals business segments indicates that there is no requirement to
recogmze an impairment charge in respect of this goodwill. o

CMTICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES |

i f
Our objective is to clearly present our financial information in a manner that enhances the
unde‘rstanding of our sources of earnings and cash flows together with our financial position.
We aim to achieve this by disclosing information required by the SEC together with further
information that provides insight into our businesses. ‘
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Management’s Dlscussmn and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resuits of Operations
discusses Innospec’s consolidated financial - statements which have been prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
The .preparation of these financial statements réquires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenués and expenses during the reporting period. On an’ on-going basis
management evaluates ‘its estimates and judgments. Management bases its estimates - and
judgments on hlstonca.l _experience and on various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the' circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments
about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or
conditions. Note 2 of thé Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements includes a summary
of the 81gmﬁcant accountmg policies and methods used in the preparation of the Financial
Statements.

Our consolidated financial statements and supplementary data disclose our accounting
principles and the methods and estimates. used in the preparation of those consolidated
financial statements. We believe those statements and disclosures represent fairly the
operating results and financial position of the Company. The purpose of this portion of our
report is to further emphasize some of the more critical areas where a significant change in
facts and circumstances in our operating and financial environment could cause a change in
results of operations or financial position. The policies and estimates that the Company
considers the most critical in terms of subjectmty and judgment of assessment are provided
below, :

Environmental Liabilities

Remediation .provisions at December 31, 2006 amounted to $23.7 million and relate
principally to our U.K. site. The Company records environmental liabilities when they are
probable and costs can be estimated reasonably The Company has to anticipate the program
of work required and the associated future costs, and has to comply with environmental
legislation in the relevant countries. The Company views the costs of vacating our main U.K.
site as a contingent liability because there is no present intention to exit the site. The Company
has further determined that, due to the uncertain product life of Octane Additives, particularly
in the market for aviation gas, there exists such uncertainty as to the timing of such cash flows
that it is not possible to estimate these flows sufficiently reliably to recognize a provision.

Goodwill

The Company adopted FAS 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets effective January 1,
2002. This requires that goodwill deemed to have an indefinite life should no longer be
amortized, but subject to an annual impairment review, or between years if events occur or
circumstances change which suggest that an impairment may have occurred.
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The | Company elected to perform its annual tests in respect of. Fuel Specialties and
Performance Chemicals goodwill as of December 31 each year In reviewing for any
1mparrment charge the fair value of the reporting units underlying the segments is estimated
usmg an after tax cash flow methodology based on management’s best estrmates at that time.

Dunhg 2002 and 2003, the goodwill 1mpa1nnent test for the Octane., Addmves business was
performed annually at December 31. Both these reviews showed that the fair value of the
reportmg unit based on after tax cash flows at the Company’s welghted average cost of capital
exceeded the carrying value of Octane Additives assets and, accordmgly, no indicator of
1mpa1rment existed and step 2 of the FAS 142 1mpa1rment test was not performed

In light of the continuing decline in the Octane Additives market globally, as the Company
makes sales of Octane Additives in each quarter, the remaining sales and corresponding cash
ﬂows that can be derived from the Octane Additives business are reduced, and accordingly the
fair value of the Octane Additives reporting unit is reduced. Based on the Company’s detailed
forecast model, assumptions at December 31, 2003 indicated that the reduction in forecast
future cash flows during 2004 would reduce the fair value of the reportmg unit below the
carrying value of Octane Additives assets and, accordingly, there was likely to be a significant
goodw111 1mpa1rment charge during the year ended December 31; 2004. As a result the
Company determined that quarterly impairment reviews be perforrned from January 1, 2004
and any impairment charge arising be recognized in the relevant quarter

The yalue of the remaining cash flows from the Octane Additives busmess is calculated at any
review date by reference to the best available estimates - for future r!evenues gross margins,
sellmg and administrative costs as well as the fixed and working capital requirements of the
business. The resulting cash flows are then discounted and the total discounted cash flows of
the Octane Additives business are thén allocated to the fair value of the Octane Additives
bus1ness unit at that date. The Company uses this information to denve an implied goodwill
value which is then compared to the carrying value to determine what 1mpa1rment is needed.

Us1ng this methodology and the assumptions underlying the detalled forecast model the
Company believes that it is possible to predict the pattern of likely future impairment charges
of Octane Additives business goodw1ll This method reflects the relatrvely unique nature of
the Octane Additives business.

As a'result of the reviews performed during 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectwely, 1mpa1rment
charges of $36.7 million, $134.4 million and '$40.7 million, respecnvely, were recognized.
The Company expects to recognize charges in subsequent years as the Octane Additives
market continues to decline. There is $24.8 million of goodwill remarmng which relates to the
Octarlle Additives business. l

' I
At Décember 31, 2006 we had $139.0 million of goodwill relating to :our Fuel Specialties and
Performance Chemicals businesses. At this date we performed annual impairment reviews and
concluded that there has been no 1mpa1rment of goodwill in respect of those reporting
segments. : : g
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Intangible Assets, Net of Amortization

At December 31, 2006 we had $30.2 million of intangibles that are discussed in Note 10 of the
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. These intangible assets relate to all.of our
businesses and are being amortized straight-line over periods of up to 13 years. We
continually assess the: markets and products related to these intangibles, as well as their
specific carrying values, and have concluded that these carrying values and amortization
periods remain appropriate. We also evaluate these intangibles for any potential impairment
when events occur or circumstances change which suggest that an impairment may. have
occurred. If events occur or circumstances change it may possibly cause a reduction in periods
over which these intangibles are amortized or result in a non-cash write-off of a portion of the
intangibles’ carrymg value. A reduction in amortization periods would have no effect on cash
flows.

Pensions

The Company’s principal pension arrangement is a contributory defined benefit pension plan
in the U.K. though it does also have other much smaller pension arrangements in the U.K. and
overscas. The Company accounts for this pension plan in accordance with FAS 87,
Employers’ Accounting for Pensions, FAS 88, Employers’ Accounting for Settlements and
Curtailments of Defined Benefit Pension Plans and FAS 158, Employers’ Accounting for
Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans. At December 31, 2006 the
underlying plan asset value and projected benefit obligation were $875.4 million and
$897.9 million, respectively, resulting in a deficit of $22.5 million. This deficit, net of tax, was
recognized on adoption of FAS 158 on December 31, 2006 and the prepaid pension cost, net
of tax, transferred to accumulated other comprehensive loss. Further disclosure is provided in
Note 6 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Movements in the underlying plan asset value and projected benefit obligation are dependent
on actual return on investments and pay awards as well as our assumptions in respect of the
discount rate, annual member mortality rates, future return on assets, future pay escalation,
future pension increases and future inflation. We develop these assumptions after considering
advice from a major global actuarial consulting firm. A change in any one of these
assumptions could impact the plan asset value, projected benefit obligation and pension cost
recognized in the income statement. Such changes could impact our operating results and
financial position.

A full actuarial valuation of the pension plan was carried out as at December 31, 2005. The
results of this valuation have been reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

Sales and Marketing Agreements

The Company' has entered into a number of sales and marketing agreements with Ethyl
Corporation (“Ethyl]”) to market and sell TEL in all areas of the world except North America
for the period to December 31, 2009, subject to renewal thereafter. All marketing and sales
effort made under the arrangement is made in the name of Innospec. Innospec continues to
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produce all TEL.marketed under the- agreements and also provide marketing -and other
services. Ethyl continues to provide marketing and other services. The net proceeds under the
agreements are paid to Innospec and Ethyl as compensation for servnces and are based on an
agreed-upon formula, with Innospec receiving 68% of the total compensation for services
provided. No separate legal entity or joint venture has been established as a consequence of
the agreements. Sales and expenses incurred under the agreements aré included within
Innospec s income statement. These comprise all revenues and costs incurred directly by
Innospec, together with costs recharged by Ethyl for marketing and other services provided
under the terms of the agreements. Ethyl’s share of the net proceeds for services is charged
within cost' of goods sold. The ‘majority of net proceeds are calculated and settled on a
monthly basis but there is an element receivable by the Company from Ethyl which is
computed annually in arrears. In prior years the amounts involved were not significant but due
to increases in the value of this retrospective element we decided effective January 1, 2002
that it was more appropriate to recognize an appropriate accrual during the year based on best
current estimates of the expected outcome i

Cautlonary Statement for Safe Harbor. Purposes :
Certam written and oral statements made by our Company and.submdlanes or with the
approval of an authorized executive officer of our Company, including statements made in the
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations or
elsewhere in this report and in other. filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission,
may constitute “forward-looking statements” as defined in the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements include all statements which address
operatmg performance, events or developments that we expect or anticipate will occur in the
future. Although such statements are believed by management to be reasonable when made,
caution should be exercised not to place undue reliance on forward- lookmg statements, which
‘are 'subject to certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions. If the risks or uncertainties ever
materialize or the assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may differ materially from those
expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements and assumptions. Risks,
assumptions and uncertainties include, without limitation, the outcome of the Company’s
disputes with Ethyl and the impact on the Company’s tetra ethyl lead business related thereto,
changes in the terms of trading with s1gn1ﬁcant customers or gain or ]oss thereof, the effects of
' changing govemment regulations and economic and market condltlons competition and
changes in demand and business and legal risks inherent in non- -.US. activities, including
pohtlcal and economic uncertainty, import and export limitations and market risks related to
changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates, government mvestlgatlons material fines
or other penalties resulting from the Company’s voluntary disclosure to the Office of Foreign
Assets Control of the U.S. Department of the Treasury and other risks, uncertainties and
assumptions identified in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2006 and those ‘identified in the Company’s other reports filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission. The Company undertakes no obligation to publicly
update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information,

future events or otherwise. O
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Item 7A  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market.Risk-

The Company operates manufacturing and blending facilities, offices and laboratories around
the world, though the largest manufacturing facility is located in the U.K. The Company sells
a range of Fuel Specialties, Performance Chemicals and Octane Additives to customers
around the world. The Company uses floating rate.debt to finance these global operations.
Consequently, the Company is subject to business risks inherent in non-U.S. activities,
including political and economic uncertainty, import and export limitations, and market risk
‘related to changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates. The political and economic
risks are mitigated by the stability of the countries in which the Company’s largest operations
are located. Credit limits, ongoing crédit evaluation and account monitoring procedures are
used to minimize bad debt risk. Collateral is not generally requ1red

The Company uses derivatives, including interest rate swaps and foreign currency forward
exchange contracts, in the normal course of business to manage market risks. The derivatives
used in hedging activities are considered risk management tools and are not used for trading
purposes. In addition, the Company enters into derivative instruments with a diversified group
of major financial institutions in order to monitor the exposure to non-performance of such
instruments. The Company’s objective in managing exposure to changeés in interest rates is to
limit the.impact of such changes on earnings and cash flow and to lower overall borrowing
costs. The Company’s objective in managing the exposure to changes in foreign exchange
rates is to reduce volatility on eammgs and cash flow associated with such changes

Interest Rate Risk

The Company uses interest swaps ‘to manage interest rate exposure. " As of
December 31, 2006 the Company had :cash and cash equivalents of $101.9 million, no bank
overdraft and long-term debt of $148.1 million. The long-term debt comprised $90.0 million
senior term loan, $58.0 millicn revolving credit and $0.1 million capital ‘leases. In
January 2007 the Company repaid $73.0 million under the principal facility consisting of the
scheduled $15.0 million senior term loan repayment and $58.0 million" on the revolvmg credit
facnllty

In 2003 the Company entered into interest swap agreements that cover_$5b.0 million of the
remaining term loan as at December 31, 2006 of $90.0 miilion. On the basis that $50.0 million
of the $148.0 million long-term debt; excluding capital leases, is-hedged against interest
movements and that the Company would receive interest on the $101.9 million posmve cash
balances, then unhedged debt of $98.0 million is more than covered by the positive cash
balances. On a gross basis, assuming no additional interest on the cash balances, a
hypothetical absolute change of 1% in U.S. base interest rate on the gross amount of these
balances of $98.0 million for a one-year period would impact net income and cash flows by
approximately $1.0 million before tax.

The above does not consider the effect of interest or exchange rate changes on overall activity
nor management actton to mitigate such changes.
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Exchange Rate Risk R o :
i
Approxunately 50% of the Company’s forecast sales for 2007 are denominated in U.S. dollars
with the balance mainly comprising euros (over 40%) and sterhng (around 10%). The
reportmg currency of the Company is the U.S. dollar. The Company evaluates the functional
currency of each reporting unit according to the economic environment in which it operates.
Several major subsidiaries of the Company operating outside of the U.S. have the U.S. dollar
as their functional currency due to the nature of the markets in which they operate.

In the Fuel Specialties business more than 50% of forecast sa]ties are denominated in
U.S. dollars and more than 45% in euros. The Fuel Specialties busmess is reasonably well
hedged against a 5% strengthening in the U.S. dollar against the euro For this reason such a
shift in exchange rates, while reducing net sales, would i increase operatmg income by around
$0.2 rmlhon for this business. !
1

In the Performance Chemicals business approximately 50% of forecast sales are denominated
in euros with the remainder split between U.S. dollars (around 20%) and sterling (around
30%) Due mainly to the large operatmg ‘profits denominated in euros a 5% strengthening in
the U S. dollar -against both sterling and the euro. would reduce operating profit by
apprommately $0.3 million. ;

The Octane Additives market is predominantly a U.S. dollar market although sales to certain
territories are transacted in euros. TEL raw materials are purchased in a mixture of
U.S. |dollars sterling and euros. "Ethyl compensation payments are denominated in
U.S. dollars Selling, general and administrative expenses are generally in the currency of the
- legal entity with the majority being denominated in sterling. A 5% strengthenmg in the U.S.
dollar against both sterling and the euro would result in additional operating income of
$0.3 mllllon due mainly to the lower burden of the sterling denommated cost of goods sold
and operatlng expenses. :

Corporate costs are largely denominated in sterling. A 5% strengthening in the U.S. dollar

agamst both the euro and sterling would increase reported opérating income by approximately
$1.3 mﬂhon ' |

In all cases where a 5% strengthening of the U.S. dollar has been used as an illustration, a 5%
weakemng would be expected to have the opposite effect on operatmg income.

—— = ———— =
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Item 8 Financial Statements and Supplementary Data -~ " & 7

Financial statements - see below. = - = . v
Rl - . ," - . . f.'-:'ﬁ' 4‘)‘:‘.
Supplementary data — see Quarterly Summary (unaudned) 1nforrnat10n in.Item 6 above. 3.«
. ., RESEARTS NN L

- Report of Independent Reglstered Pubhc Accountmg Frmt., 0
To the Board of Dlrectors and Stockholders of InnOSpec Inc:
We have completed integrated aud1ts of Innospec Inc s r‘onsolldated ﬁnancral statements and
of its internal control over financial reportmgtas of- Decernber 31 2006 in accordance w1th the
standards of the Public Company. Accounting Oversrght Board (Umted States) Our .opinions,
based on our audits, are presented below.

D Y

14 X M
[ : (LRSI B 1 Pyt

Consolidated financial statements, . .. ,. . = .. B

In our op1n1on the accompanymg consohdated balance sheets and the related consohdated
statements of income, stockholdesz equnty ‘and cash ﬂows present fa1rly, m all’ material
respects, the financial position of Innospec Inc. and its subs1d1ar1es at December 31 2006 and
2005, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2006 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America. These fmanmal statements are the, responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our respons1b111ty is to, express an opinion on these ﬁnancnal
statements based on our audlts We conducted our audlts of these statements in aecordance
with the standards of the Public Company Accountmg Oversnght Board (Unlted States). Those
-standards requ1re that we plan and perform the audlt to obtain reasonable ,assurance about
whether the ﬁnanc1al statements are free of material mlsstatement An, audit of financial
statements includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supportmg the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and s1gn1ﬁcant
estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentatlon
We beheve that our audits provide, a reasonable basis for our opinion, « - . | . s .

s

R L
As discussed in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company changed the
manner in which it accounts. for share based compensation on' adoption of FAS 123R, Share-
Based Payment, effective January ;1,.2006, and defined benefit pension. plans on adoption of
FAS 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement
Plans, effective December 31, 2006.

Internal control over financial reporting

Also, in our opinion, management’s assessment, included in Management’s Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A, that the Company maintained l
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria i
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of |
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), is fairly stated, in all :
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matclnal respects, based on those criteriai. Furthermore/,in. 0ur10p1n10n ,the Company
malntamed in all material respects, effective internal contrdl over: financial reporting as of
December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework
1ssueld :by COS0.’ The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective
1nternal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the'effectlveness of internal
control over financial reporting. Our responsibility. is to express oplnlons onumanagement’s
assessment and on the-effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
basedonouraud1t ‘ et o o | (o a e

r‘i \ R

We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reportlng! in accordance with. thé
standards ‘of ' the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board | (Unitedi States). Those
standards require that-we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable- assurance’ about
whether effective internal control over financial. reporting was maintained! in"all- material
respects .An audit- of ‘internal control over financial reporung'r includes " obtaining' an
understandlng of internal control “over  financial reporting, i evaluatmg management’s
assessment testing and evaluating the design and operatlng'effecttveness of internal: control,
and. performlng such other procedures as we consider necessary in the circumstances. We
behcive that our aud1t prov1dcs a reasonable basrs for our op1n10ns E——

A cpmpany S 1nterna1 ‘control over ﬁnanc1a1 reporting is a process de51gned to prov1de
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reportmg and the ‘preparation of
ﬁnancml statements for external purposes in ‘accordance with generally ‘accepted accounting
principles. A’ company’$ internal. control overfinancial reporting-includes'those policies and
procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail; accurately
and falrly reﬂect the. transactions and dispositions of the assets-of; the .company; (ii).provide
reasonable assurance that transactrons are recorded as necessary fo permit preparation of
ﬁnajllcral statements in accordance with generally .accepted accountlng pnnmples and that
recelpts and  expenditures of ' the company' are bemg 'made’ only 1n accordance with
authorlzatlons of management and’ directors of ‘the company, and{(m) prov1de reasonable
assurance regarding preventlon or ‘timely detectlon of unauthorlzed acqursltron use, or
dlSpOSlthIl of the company 'S assets that could have a'*materlaly Cffelt on the ﬁnanc1al
statelments ' '

!;\.n'- -:-.'{--v'-". - o
- o b v L . | .
Because of its ‘intierent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not pievent or
detelct misstatéments. ‘Also, projections of any evaluation.of effectlveness to future periods are
subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of Ichanges in conditions, or

|
that Ithe degree of comphance with the policies or procedures may deterlorate

l

PncewaterhouseCoopers LLP T S ooy

London United Kingdomi - . = -7 = G catnld v oty e el e b
March 16,2007, .. .+ ‘
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(in millions, except per share data)

-Yéars ended December 31

. 2006 2005 2004
Netsales NOte 3) ...oviieiiinievinnnninneneareae... $5321 $ 564.8 $ 4969
Costofgoodssold ....... ... ... i, (345.4) (364.7) (283.9)
Gross profit (Note 3) .. .... . Ceen .j.‘. P 186.7  200.1 ~ 213.0
Operating expenses: I ‘. | ‘
Selling, general and admlnlstratlve ................... . 99.0) (108.2) (96.6)
Research and development .......................... (11.1y  (11.2). (10.1)
Restructuring charge . ........... e e 4.5  (31.3) (8.3)
Amortization of intangible BSSELS oo r i e - (127 127y (11.2)
Impairment of Octane Additives business goodw1ll (Note 9 ... (€67 1344 @407
Profit/(los$) on disposals, net (Note 20 .. . 9.2 — 4.4)
| L : (154.8) (297.8) (171.3)
Operatihg income/(loss) ...........coiiiiinnn. P 31.9 (97.7) 41.7
Interest expense .. .......... e e (122) - (95) (6.4)
Interest income .. .......... ..ol 53 1.9 0.8
Other net income/(€Xpense) ............couiieenennnnnnn. 6.8 (12.6) 2.1
Income/(loss) before income taxes and nunonty 1ntcrest ....... 319 (117.9) 34.0
Minority interest ........:....... e e e (0.1) (0.2) (2.0)
Incomef(loss) before income taxes ............. e L. .- 318 (118.1) 320
Incometaxes .............. e e (204) (4.2 (20.1)
Income/(loss) before share of afﬁhated company earnmgs from '
continuing operatlons e e 114 (122.3) 11.9
Share of affiliated company earnmgs ..... e i —_ — (1.0
Discontinued operations, net of tax (Note 21) ..... S I — (4 4.7)
Net income/(loSS) o oo v et e e e $ Il 4 $(123.7) % 62
Earnings/(loss) per share o
Basic ......... P e $ 094 $1000) % 0.50
Diluted ...........ciiiiiin.. e e .. % 090 $(10.00) $ 048
Earnings/(loss) per share contmumg operatlons
Basic ....... ... i ceas $ 094 § (989) % 0.96
Diluted .........ccoonvunnn. e i '$ 090 § (9.89) % 092
Weighted average shares outstanding (1n thousands) — Basic ... 12,071 12,368 12,345
—Diluted .. 12,670 12,368 12,989

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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At December 31

2005

'$ 689

4.3
64.8

639
21.8
10.8

96.5
5.3

239.8
67.3
61.5

1389
43.0

1130

2.1

9.7
$675.3

$ 545
594

14.5
10.1
2.0

- 140.5

130.1
21.0
419

24.2
29
0.3

0.1

.276.2
32.00

88.4
_(18.3)

3144
$675.3

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS i ‘
(in millions, except per share data) : :
| |
l
' %
j * 2006
Assets ; b
Current assets ' S '
Césh and cash equivalents ... .. e A e - $101.9
Resmcted Cash {NOtE 22 ..o i i et e e e e L e Lo —
Accounts receivable (less allowance of $2, 5 and $2.2, respecnvely) O T £ 3 ¥
lnventones o }r
! Finished goods .................. S 83.7
| Work in progress ... .. R P N Lo T 252
* | Rawmaterials................... XD R 1.1 .
i Total Inventories -.............. T A R - 120.0
Prepaidexpenses .................... e e 5.1
Total clurrent BSSELS ... e e e e ;- Lo .305.3
Property, plant and equipment (Note 12)...... e e e e e 66.5
Goodwill — Octane Additives (Note 9) ....... TP SR 24.8
Goodwill — Other (NOLE 9) . .. ..ottt ettt e e e eane i aanaens L 139.0
Intangible assets (Note 10) .. .............. e e e i 30.2
Prepaid pension cost (Note 6) .............. e e e e —
Deferred finance costs (Note 11) .. .. ... 0 i S 1.6
Deferred ncome taxes (NOE T} oot i e et e et S et e e e e o ', 1.6
Other assets 00 . PN : ........ —_
; , '$ 569.0
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity e '
Cuarrent liabilities : i :
Accounts payable .................... R S e . $ 500
' Accrued liabilities ................ e e e e . " 555
Accrued incometaxes ................ A e TERRP 147
Short term borrowings (Note 14} ....... e e e e e 151
Current portion of plant closure provisions-(Note 13) . ............ 00000 S 5.6
Current portion of deferred income (Note 15) ... .. ... iuvuieiainn., SR . 20
Total current Habilities . ... ..ot e e . 1429
Long-térm debt, net of current portion (Note 14) ............... ... ... ..., s 133.0
Plant closure provisions, net of current portion (Note 13) ...................... e 222
Deferred income taxes (Note 7) ... .......... Y TP U =
Pension liability (Note 6) . ................. e SN 225
Other liabilities ........... ... ... . ... e e e e e S 224
Deferréd income, net of current portion (Note 15) ....... ... ... ... .o, SEREEEE 0.9
MINoTity Interest . .. ... . o e e e e L 0.1
Commitments and contingencies '
Stockholders’ Equity (Note 16) '
Common stock, $0.01 par value, authorized : _
40,000,000 shares, issued 14,777,250 Shares . . .. .. ov ottt e et e 0.1
Additional paid-in capital ... b 281.7
Treasury stock (2,874,747 and 2,452,249 shares at cost, respectively) . ........... : ....... 4.7
Retained-eamnings .................. it e e 979
Accumulated other comprehensive loss ............... . ... o il '(1100)
Total stockholders’ eqUILY . .. ...\ttt et e e et ettt e 2250
| ' ' | : | $ 569.0
! The accompanying notes are an‘integral part of these statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS o
(in millions)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net 1nComel(088) .. ... . it e e e
-Adjustments to reconcile net income/(loss) to net cash provided by operating
activities; . . . .
- Depreciation and amortization ... ...... e e e,
* Impairment of Octane Additives business goodwﬂl .....................
Deferred income taxes ........... ST .
(Profit)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment .. ..............
Lossondisposal of business . ... ........... .ottt
Changes in working capital:
Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses .............. N

B 1L (L) = -

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities . ., ., .., e e
Income taxes and other current Liabilities . ... ....................... v
Impairment in carrying value of unconsolidated investments ............ e .
Movement on plant closure provisions . . ..., ., e e
Movement in pension Prepayment . ... .........vvertnrreenernnneeranenn.
.'Stock option compensation charge ................ e
Movements in other hon-current liabilities .......................... I
Movement in deferred income .......... ... ... .. i “

Net cash provided by operating activities .. ................. . e,

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Capital expenditures . . ... .. . . .. e g
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net ............... SN
-Business combinations, net of cashacquired . ................ . ... ...,
Increase inrestricted cash . ... ... ... . . . . e
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiary ... .......... e
Disposal of unconsolidated investment .................. e

Net cash pfovided by/(used in) ihvestiné activities e e e

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Receipt of short-term borrowing .. .. ... ... ... .. ... . ool

Repayment of short-term borrowing ............ i PR e -

- Receipt of long-term borrowings . ...................... e .
Repayment.of long-term borrowings .......... e e
Paymentsoncapital leases . ........ ... ... oot P )
Refinancingcosts ..................... e et e
Dividendspaid ............................ e e e

[

Issue of treasury stock ..................... e e e .
Repurchase of common stock (Note 1B) o ]

Minority interest dividends (paid} ............ . i e

Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities . ...............:... ..... "
Effect of exchange rate changesoncash .............. .. ... .o ... T

‘Net change in cash and cash equivalents . . ... e
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year . . . .. PP e

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year .......... e e

Years ended December 31

2006 2005

2004

$ 114 301237 $ 6.2

274 287

) 24.4
36.7 - 1344 407
(2.0) (5.0) (0.8)
9.2) 2.8 4.3)
— — 13.7

"(11.1) © 155 2.2)

2L0y . (203) - (11.3)
(7.4) 60 . 30
209 . (225). 114

L e 66 == —
3.9) .21 ., (6.8)
3.0 10,0 L (1.0)
16, — =

, (2.0 113 | (4.6)

. (2.0) 2.n7 —
36.4 438 - 624
(7.6) - (8.3) (9.6
926 .  — 52
— (22.3) (80.2)
— — (4.8)
— 28 —
2.6 B —
4.6 (27.8) (89.4)
1.0 — —
(1. 0). —_— =

180 .. 1903 1150
10.0) (170.0) (107 5)
0.2) - .

05 . 20 . (2 7)

. (1.9) (1.7)  .,.(1.5)
30 14 . 55
(15.6) . (2.5 4.5)
(0.2) — (0.3)
(74)- 155 8.3
(0.6) 44,1 . 59
330 356 ° (12.8)
63.9 333 46.1

A$1,01.9 $ 689 $ 333

Amomza'uon of deferred finance costs of $1.1m (2005: $1.3m) for the year are mcluded in deprec1at10n and

amortization in the cash flow statement but in interest in the income statement.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in mﬂlions)

l : _ Accumulated
Additional . | Other Total
Common Paid-In  Treasury Retained Comprehensive Stockholders’
. Stock Capital  Stock Earnings .] Loss ° Equity
Balance at December 31,2004 .....  $0.1 $2765 .. $(31.2) $2138 _ I$ (13.4) " §4458
Netloss .................. — — o= oan b - (1237
Dividend ($0.14 per share) ... — — —. )] - [49))
Ncl CTAchange ™ .. ... ... — — - — I (4.9) 4.9
Treasury stock re-issued ... .. - — 1.7 — . — 1.7
© Treasury stock repurchased ...  — - 2.5) — | — - O Q25)
Redempuon of treasury - . . S :
Sock L.l — o (0.3) —_ — A (0.3)
BalanccI at December 31, 2005 ... %01, $276.2 $(320) $ 884 $ (183 $ 3144
Nel income .......0....... — — — 114 = 114
Dnludcnd ($0.16 per share) ...  — R - T rae = (LY
Derivatives 0+ ..., .0 o= . = — — i 03 0.3
Nel CTAchange @ ......... . — — — — - 50 5.0 ,
'I‘reasury stock re-issued . .. .. — 0.1 2.9 — T 3.0
Treasury stock repurchased . . . — — (15.6) — — -(15.6)
Stock option compensanon ' o . .
charge - ... .. .0 — - 54 —_ Co—_ " — 54
Adjustment for initially
'r:lpply'mg FAS 158, net of . N
tlax .................... — L — — — (97.0) O 971.0)
Bnlancé at December 31,2006 ... $0.1 $281.7 $44.7y $ 979 F$(110.0) $225.0
tn Changes in unrealized exchange gains/(fosses) on denvatwe instruments, net of tax. *
@ Changes in cumuiative translation adjustment.

3 Following adoption of FAS 123R a stock option llabnhty of $3.0 rmlllon accrued under Ali’B 25 was reclassified..

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in mllllons) ) .

Total comprehensive income for the years ended December 31 2006 2005 2004

Nenncomel(loss)fortheyear...................................................;... $11.4  $(123.7) 3 6.2
Changes in cumulative translation adjustment ., .., F U P N ¢ (4.9 9.4
Unrealized exchange gains on derivative instruments, net of tax ........................¢1... 03 — 0.6
Total colmprehensi\'f; income/(loss) .............. : ................. e : .. $167 $(128.6) $16.2
ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(in millions})

|
Accumulated other comprehensive loss for the years ended December 31 ; 2006 2005
Cumulative translation adjustment . . . .......................... .'-‘ U N $ (13.4) $(184)
Unrealized gains on derivatives ................. e 0.4 0.1
Ad_]usm}emforlmllallyapp]ymgFAS158 nctoftax SR S (97.0) —
Accumulated other comprehensive loss .. ......... ST A e ' ......... $(110.0) $(18.3)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1. Nature of operations

The Company develops, manufactures, blends and delivers fuel additives and other specialty
chemicals. The Company serves global markets-in the Americas, Europe, the Middle East,
Africa and Asia Pacific. Its products are sold primarily to oil refineries and other chemical and
industrial companies. Principal product lines and reportable segments are Fuel Specialties,
Performance Chemicals and Octane Additives. '

On October 1, 1998, the Company entered into sales and marketing agreements with Ethyl
Corporation (“Ethyl”) to market and sell TEL in all areas of the world except North America
and the European Economic Area for the period lasting until December 31, 2009, subject to
renewal thereafter. All marketing and sales effort made under the arrangement is made in the
name of Innospec. Innospec continues to produce all TEL marketed under the agreements and
also provide marketing and other services. Ethyl continues to provide marketing and other
services. The net proceeds under the agreements are paid to Innospec and Ethyl as
compensation for services and are based on an agreed-upon formula, with Innospec receiving
68% of the total compensation for services provided. No separate legal entity or joint venture
has been established as a consequence of the agreements. Sales and expenses incurred under
the agreements are included within Innospec’s income statement. These comprise all revenues
and costs incurred directly by Innospec, together with costs recharged by Ethyl for marketing
and other services provided under the terms of the agreements. Ethyl’s share of the net
proceeds for services is charged within cost of goods sold. This relationship was extended
effective January 1, 2000 when OBOAdler entered into a similar agreement. Effective July 1,

2001 Ethyl agreed to participate in the Veritel agreement (see Note 10) and the scope of the
agreements was extended to include the European Economic Area.

Refer to Note 3 for ﬁnan01al information on the Company’s reportable segments
Note 2. Accountmg Pohcnes

Basis of Preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles in the United States of America and include all subsidiaries of
the Company where the Company has a. controlling financial interest. All significant
intercompany accounts and balances have been eliminated upon consolidation.

All acquisitions, are accounted for as purchases and the results of operations of the acquired
businesses are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition.

The results of discontinued operations are shown separate.ly in the income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Contmued)

Use of Esiimates

The preparatron of the consohdated financial ' statements, in accprdance with generally
accepted accounting principles in the United States of America, requires management to make
estlmlates and assumptions that affect 'the amounts reported’ in the consolidated financial
statemnents and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

: H L P , . ' . .

Cash Equivalents

- {

I "
I
Investment securities with maturities of three months or less when purchased are con51dered to

be ¢ash equ1valents o ‘

BN

L]

Accounts Receivable

. ‘ . . .
The Company records accounts receivable at net realizable value and maintains an allowance
for customers not making required payments. The Company deterrnmes the adequacy of the
allowance by periodically -evaluating each customer receivable con51dermg our customer’s
ﬁnanc1al condition, credit history and current economic conditions. ’

. i
Inventories

|
Inventorres are stated at the lower of cost (FIFO method) or rnarket price. Cost includes
materlals labor, and an appropriate proportlon of plant overheads. | . ‘
The ECompany accrues volume dtscounts where it is probable that the !required volume will be
attamed and the amount can be reasonably estimated. The discounts are recorded as
reduction in the cost of materials based on projected purchases lover the period of - the
agreement

Provrston is made for slow-moving or obsolete inventories as appropriate. ‘

Property, Plant and Equ1pment a : ‘ |

Property, plant and equ1pment are stated at cost less accumulated deprecratlon Depreciation is
provrded over the estimated useful lives of the assets using the straight-line method. The cost
of additions and improvements'are capitalized. Maintenance and repairs are charged to
expenses When assets are sold or retired the associated cost and accumulated depreciation is
removed from the consolidated financial statements and any related galn or loss i Is included in
earmngs

I ] )
The estimated useful lives of the major classes of depreciable assets are as follows:

Buildings ........... ‘ -7 to 25 years
Equipment ......... ... ... . . i, L. ' 3to 10 years
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

. Goodwill and other intangible assets deemed to have indefinite lives are no longer amortized
.- but are subject to at least annual impairment tests. Other intangible assets continue to be
amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives. '

The annual measurement date for impairment testing of Fuel Specialties and Performance
Chemicals goodwill is December 31. Octane Additives business goodwill is reviewed for
impairment at the end of each quarter.
4 I . .

The Company regularly reviews goodwill and the other intangible assets for.impairment based
on projected post-tax cash flows discounted at the Company’s weighted average cost of
capital. As expected the decline in the Octane Additives market has resulted in quarterly
impairment charges being incurred from the first quarter of 2004 onwards. It is highly likely
that further quarterly charges will be incurred in future years as the market continues to
decline. The impairment reviews. of the goodwill relating to the Fuel Specialties and
Performance Chemicals businesses indicates that there.is no requirement to recognize an
impairment charge in respect of this goodwill. . ! :

Deferred Finance Costs

The costs relating to debt financing are capitalized and separately disclosed in the balance
sheets. A new financing arrangement was entered into on December 13, 2005. The costs from
those financing arrangements of $2.6 million were capitalized and are being amortized using
the average interest method over the expected life of the agreement..

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews the carrying value of its long-lived assets, including buildings and
equipment, whenever changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying values may be
impaired. In order to facilitate this test the Company groups together assets at the lowest
possible level for which cash flow information is available. Undiscounted future cash flows
expected to result from the assets are compared with the carrying value of the assets and if
they are lower an impairment loss may.be recognized. The amount of the impairment loss is
the difference between the fair value and the carrying value of the assets. Fair values are
determined using post-tax cash flows discounted at the Company’s weighted average cost of
capital. , L :

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company uses various derivative instruments. including forward currency contracts and
options and interest rate swaps to manage certain exposures. These instruments are entered
into under the Company’s corporate risk management policy to minimize exposure and are not
for speculative trading purposes.

J8




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS;(Continued)
. t

FAS 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities establishes
accounting and reporting standards for derivative instruments and, requrres that an entity
recognize all derivatives as either assets or llabllmes in the consolidated balance sheet and
measure those instruments at fair valie. Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are not
designated as hedges, or do not meet the requirements for hedge accountmg under FAS 133,
are recognized in earnings. Derivatives are tested for effectiveness on a quarterly basis. The
ineffective portion of the derivative’s change in value is recognized in earnings. The effective
portlon is recognized in other comprehensive loss. until the hedged item is recogmzed in
earnings. . , C e v -
The! Company employs interest rate swaps which convert varlable rate debt on $50.0 million
of the remaining $90.0 million senior term loan to fixed rate. These:have been. designated as -
cash flow hedges of the underlying variable rate obligation. These have been tested for
effectiveness using the dollar offset method. At the end’of the term of the swap arrangements
the cumulative gain or loss will be reclassified to the income statement. The interest rate
swaps have been recorded as a non-current habrhty in the balance sheet.

Envrronmental Compliance and Remediation* ‘ ) T

Envrronrnental compliance costs include ongoing mamtenanee monjtoring and similar costs.
"Environmental costs are accrued when environmental assessments| or remedial efforts are
probable and the cost can be réasonably estimated. -Such accruals are adjusted as further
information develops or circumstances chang€. Costs of future obllgatlons are dlscounted to

their present values using the Company s weighted average “cost of capital.’
E . r

Revenue Recognition

. ‘ . [

t

The Company supphes products to customers from its various manufacturmg sites, and in
some instances from containers held on customer sites, under a variety of standard shipping
terms and conditions. In each case revenue is recognized when the transfer of legal title, which
is defined and generally accepted in the standard terms and condrtlons arises between the
Company and the customer. B : '

. l !
' Bl

The Company recognizes the total revenue from Oetane Additive sales under the Ethyl
agreements. The 32% compensation which is paid to Ethyl is recogmaed in cost of goods so]d

A component of Ethyl’s share of net proceeds (see Note 1) lS an amount recoverdble from
Ethyl that is calculated annually in arrears. The Company recogmzes this quarterly based on
_ best' current estimates of the expected outcome

Provisions for sales discounts’and rebates to customers are based upon the terms of sales
contracts and are recorded in the same period-as the related sales as a deduction from revenue.
The Company- estimates the provision for sales dlscounts and rebates based on the terms of
each agreement at the time of shipping. ‘ !
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Components of Net Sales

All amounts billed to customers relating to shipping and handling are classified as net sales.
Shipping and handling costs incurred by the Company are classified as cost of goods sold.

Components of Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold is comprised of raw material costs mcludmg inbound freight, duty and
non-recoverable taxes, inbound handling costs associated with the receipt of raw materials,
packaging materials, production costs including labor costs, maintenance and utility costs,
plant and engineering overhead, warehousing and outbound shipping costs and handling costs.
Inventory losses and provisions and the costs of customer claims are also recognized in the
cost of goods line item.

The 32% compensation which is paid to Ethyl is recognized in cost of goods sold.

Components of Selling, General and Administrative expenses

Selling expenses comprise the costs of the direct sales force and the sales management and
customer service departments required to support them. It also comprises commission charges,
the costs of sales conferences and trade shows, the cost of advertising and promotions and the
cost of bad and doubtful debts. General and administrative expenses comprise the cost of
support functions including accounting, human resources, information technology and the cost
of group functions including corporate management, finance, tax, treasury, investor relations
and legal departments. Provision of management’s best estimate of legal costs for litigation in
which the Company is involved is made and reported in the administrative expense line itemn.

Research and Development expenses

Research, development and testing costs are expensed to the income statement as incurred.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share includes the effect of options that are
dilutive and outstanding during the period.

Foreign Currencies

The Company’s policy is that exchange differences arising on the translation of the balance
sheets of entities that have functional currencies other than the U.S. dollar are taken to a
separate equity reserve, the cumulative translation adjustment. In entities where the U.S. dollar
is the functional currency no gains or losses on translation occur. In these entities gains or
losses on monetary assets relating to currencies other than the U.S. dollar are taken to the
income statement. Gains or losses on foreign currency transactions are included in other net
income/(expense) in the income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Stock Option Plans - = Co)

Effective January 1, 2006 the Company adopted the provisions of FAS 123R, Share-Based
Payment which requires employee stock options to be accounted for under the fair value
method. Accordingly share-based compensation is now measured at the grant date based on
the fair value of the options. ' ‘;

Prlorfto January 1, 2006 the Company accounted for employee stock options using the
intrinsic  value method prescribed by Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,
Accounnng for Stock Issued to Employees (“APB 25”) and related interpretations, and
prov1ded the required pro forma disclosures prescribed by FAS 123; Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation and FAS 148, Accounting for Stock-Bdsed Compensauon — Transition
and Dzsclosure Under APB 25, for fixed awards, when the exercise price of employee stock
options was equal to the market price of the underlymg stock on the date of the grant, no
compensatlon expense was recorded ﬁ
The Company adopted FAS 123R using the modified prospective transition method. Under
this method the compensation cost recognized by the Company beginning in 2006 includes
(a) compensation cost for all stock options granted prior to, but not yet vested as of January 1,
2006, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions
of FAS 123, and (b) compensation cost for all stock options granted subsequent to January 1,
2006, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance |w1th the provisions of
FAS 123R. The Company uses the straight-liné attribution method o recogmze share based
compensation costs over the service period of the option. '

Pension Plans and Other Post-Employment Benefits _ |

Effectlve for fiscal year 2006, the Company adopted the provisions of FAS 158, Employers’
Accountmg for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Flans. FAS 158 requires
that the funded status of defined-benefit postretirement plans be recogmzed on the Company’s
consohdated balance sheets, and changes in the funded status be reflected in comprehensive
1ncome FAS 158 also requires the measurement date of the plan’s'funded status to be the
same as the Company’s fiscal year-end Although the measurement date provision was not
required to be adopted until fiscal year 2008 the Company early- adopted this provision for
fiscal year 2006. The incremental effect of applying FAS 158 on individual line items on the
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2006 was as follows:

Before After

appllcatmn application
\ of FAS 158 ! ' Adjustments of FAS 158
Prepaid pensioncost .............. PO ... $1160 @ $(1160) % —
Deferred tax (liability)/asset ....................... (39.9) 41.5 1.6
Pension liability . ...........c.iiioiiiiiiiinan... —_ (22.5)  (22.5)
Accumulated other comprehensive 10SS oo, $(13.0) $ (97.0) $(110.0)

;
|
|
]
1
|
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Pension plans are accounted for in accordance with FAS 87, Employers’ Accounting for
Pensions, FAS 158, Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other
Postretirement Plans and FAS 88, Employers’ Accounting for Settlements and Curtailments of
Def ined Benefit Pension Plans.and for Termination Benefits.

Rewsnon to Classxﬁcanon of Certam Items

During the final quarter, 2006, the Company revised the classification of certain shipping and
handling costs and commission charges in its results for 2006 and comparable information for
2005 and 2004. Previously, these charges were netted off sales and are now charged to cost of
goods sold and selling expenses, respectively. This has no impact on 2006 or any prior
periods’ reported income before income. taxes, net income, earnings per share, net cash
provided by operating activities or any balance sheet category.

The classiﬁléation of chafges of $28.6 million and $37.1 million for the years ended December
31, 2006 and 2005, respectively, (1) with respect to shipping and handling costs has been
revised from a reduction in net sales to an increase in costs of goods sold of $23.1 million and
$26.5 million, respectively, and (2) with respect to commission charges has been revised from
a reduction in net sales to an increase in selling expenses of -$5.5 million and $10.6 rmlhon
respectively. . . -, : _ :

The impact on net sales, gross prloﬁt‘ arid‘sell.ing,' generél and administrative expenses for the
previously, reponed quarters,. and the 2006 fourth quarter, during the two years ended
December 31, 2006 is provided in Item 6.
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'NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMEN TS—(Continued)
: |
Note 3. Business Segment and Geographical AreaData . - f

The Company divides its business-into three distinct segments for both ‘management and
reportmg purposes: Fuel Specialties, Performance Chemicals and Octane Additives. The Fuel
Spec1alt1es and Performance Chemicals businesses both operate in markets where we actively
seek growth opportunities -albeit their end customers are very different The Octane Additives
business operates in markets which are mature-with generally declining idemand

In 2006 and 2005 no single customer accounted for more than 10% ot; net ‘sales. In 2004 the
Company had one significant customer in the Octane Additives busmess who accounted for
$65.7 million (13%) of net sales. In the $econd quarter of 2005 thrs customer perrnanently left
the market for TEL for use in automotlve gasoline." E 1

- The following table'analyzes sales and other financial information by product g'roup“: :

tr LI

Product Group Data _ : _ r
@nmilions) © LT 2008 200\ ‘2004
"Net sales: . ',j; ‘ o L -
"Fuel Specialties . ... ... ... ... . i $311 3 $2571 $2089
Performance Chemicals .............. ... . .. ... oian, 120 4 1094 48.6
Octane Additives .. .. .... e R i, 100.4 _ 198.3. . 2394
1 o $532.1 § 564.8 34969
‘Gross']proﬁt: SRR e l ‘ .
Fuel Specialties .. ... oovvrrttt ettt e $1062 $ 835 ‘$ 701
Performance Chemicals ........ P PR 22.7 17.6 8.8
Octane Additives . .. .. ...oooniinii i 57.8  99.0 1341
| . | $186.7 $200.1 $213.0
Operatmg income: !
Fuel Spe01alt1es .......................................... $457 § 262 $ 208
Performance Chemicals ......... ...t ennnnn.. 5.8 1.0 0.2
Octane Additives . . .............. e e e 34.5 692 1044
FAS 87 pension (charge)/eredit ..................... ... ' — (1.7) 2.7
Corporate COStS .. ... oo e (22.1) (267 (33.0)
Restructurlng charge . ... o e 4.5) (31.3) (83
Impaument of Octane Additives busrness goodwill .............. (36.7) (134.4) (40.7)
Proﬁt/(loss) on disposals (net) ........ e ¢ 9.2 — 4.4
Operatlng income/(10Ss) ... ..ot $ 319 $ (97.7) $ 41.7
Identifiable assets at year end: ; ;
Fuel Specialties . ................... e $221.8 §237.3
Performance Chemicals ............. e 121.0 101.0
Octane Additives . . ... ..ot i e i e i e 2242 2240

Corporate .......... PN e 120 113.0
| ' $569.0 $ 675.3

|

|

' - 163
l :

!

I

|




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

The Company includes within the corporate costs line item the costs of:

managing the Group as a company with: securttres'hsted on NASDAQ and regtstered

- with the SEC; ' o

the Premdent/CEO s office, group ﬁnance group human{ resources, corporate
secretary, legal fees and investor relations;

running the corporate offices in the USA and Europe;

the corporate development functton since they do not relate o the current trading
activities of our other business segments; and -

1

the corporate . share:of the.information. technology, -accounting and  human. resources
departments.

Sales by geographic area are reported by source (where the transaction originates) and by
destination (where the final sale to customers is made). Intercompany sales are priced to
recover cost plus an appropriate mark-up for profit and are ellmmated in the consolidated
financial statements.

K

Identifiable assets are those directly associated with the operations of the’ geograf)hical area. -

Goodwill has not been allocated by geographical location on the grounds that it would be
impracticable to do so. .

L]




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Geographical Area Data ;
{in m1]l:0ns) IR o ‘ 2006 - .2005 - 2004
Net sales by soulrce R T
United|States . . .. ... Ll S P e $167 1 $ 1355 $ 86.8
United|Kingdom ... T R e 3076 2855 3013
Rest of: Europe S PR e FRUI 1449 - 2232 1885
Other 1.5 ... e 21 173 199
Sales betwedn areas ................ i: .................... (89.6) (96.7) (99.6)
_ § $53’;2.1 $ 564.8. $496.9
Net sales hy destmatlon S ! AR o
UmtedStates.‘.f‘.‘...._...'._.'.".'.'....’l.f....'.". e $1737 $ 1269 $ 92.0
United|Kingdom . ........ e R PR ' 228 242 331
Restof Europe .. .... teenen i i ceeeenae 1§9.0’~ 1727 1232
Other |. ..o, L PN L. 1466 0 241.0 T 248.6
| L ' $532.1 $564.8 $496.9
Income/(loss) before income taxes L e : e
United|States : . .............. RO PR S $388 $ 924 $ (82
United Kingdom ........... e B e e ey el 133 516 479
Restof Europe .................... P 174 (126.1) ~ 28.0
Other |............ RTINS TP (14)  (1L6) 5.0
Impairment of Octan;:'Additives business: goodwill .........-.  (36.7) (134.4)  (40.7)
: $ 31.8 $(118.1) $ 32.0
Long-lived assets at year end: !
United(States . . ...t ..., L, e A - $237 % 256
United|Kingdom . e S I 32.1 178.6 .
Restof Europe ..................... e 19.9 30.8
Other |.......... e e U L o1,
GOOAWIll .. ... e ieeiiiai...o. 1638 2004
! $239.5 $ 435.5
Identifiable assets at year end: ' _
United[States . .. ... .. it i i s $102.7 $ 66.2
United|Kingdom ................... 2162 319.7
Restof Europe .................... e 84.7 85.9
Other I O 16 3.1
Goodwill ......................... e 163.8 2004
: $569.0 $ 675.3
|
|
|
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Note 4. Stock Option Plans

The Company has five active stock option plans, four of which provide for grants of options to
key employees and non-employee directors. One other plan provides stock options on an equal
basis to all U.K. _employees. The current limit for the number of shares of common stock
which can be issued or awarded under the plans is 3,043,000. The stock options 1ssued have a
vesting period of thrée to four years and expire within ten years of the date of grant All grants,
are at the sole discretion of the Compensation Committe¢ of the Board of Diréctors which
administers the plans. Grants may be priced at market value or at a premium or d1§count

On January 1, 2006 the Company adopted FAS 123R. FAS 123R requires a company to
estimate the number of forfeitures expected to occur and record expense based upon the:
number of awards expected to vest. Prior to adoption, the Company accounted for forfeitures'
as they occurred as permitted under previous accounting standards. The cumulative effect of
adopting the change in estimating forfeitures was not material to the Company’s financial
statements for year ended December 31, 2006. _ ‘ . '

The majority of options granted by the Company are dependent upon internally focused
factors such as the financial performance of the Company’s reporting units. The fair value of
these options is-calculated using the Black-Scholes model. In some cases certain performance
related options are dependent upon external factors such as the Company’s share pnce The
fau' value of these options is calculated using a Monte Carlo model.

The following assumptions were used to determlne :the falr-value of options calculated using
the Black-Scholes model:

2006 2005 2004

Dividend yield .. ............... e .- 04%  04%  0.5%
Expected life . .. ... IETEY e NN e .. 4dyears 4years 4 years
Volatility . . .......... ...l e e 43.5% 43.0% 38.7%

Risk free interest rate ...l e S 4.26% - 4.26% 3.43%
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TNOTES ON CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTIS+(C0ntinued)

The followmg table summarizes the transactions of the Company’s stock option plans for the

three year penod ended December 31, 2006 .

!

: 1 ‘ - - Weighted Weighted
\ . ) ! - . Number of Average .  Average Fair
I o Shares = Exercise Price Value
Optlor}s outstandmg December 31, 2003 ........ .. 1,483,417 - $10.31 ‘ :
Granted . -—atdiscount..... ST eee. o L14070 - 8 — $22.66
: —atpremium ...........:....:.... 18,850  $23:00 $ 6.70
Exercised .. .....covviiiiiiiii e .o (483,494) - $10.62
Cancelled ................... .. ... e s (87,565) $ 7.12
Optlons outstanding Decembér 31, 2004 ... 1,005,278 ~ $10.28 : -
Granted  —atdiscount ........... P 141,397 - $11.55  $ 9.63
!, —atmarketvalue .................. 94,060 $19.77 $10.52
Exercised .......... e e (130,702) $ 9.01
Cancelled ............cciiiiiiiiin, (151,985) f§ 5.14
Optlon]s outstanding December 31,2005 . .. ceee.... 958,048 $10.10 -
Granted —atdiscount ........... e 108,703  $ 5.33 $12.97
Exercised ............... e . (192,169)  $12.73
Cancelled ................ R (67,895) $ 8.40
Opnons outstanding December 31, 2006 e 806,687 $ 8.96

L
The following table surnmarizes information about options outstanding at December 31, 2006:

‘

Number Weighted * - Number

f

i

" Weighted

Weighted  Average
; Outstanding at Weighted Average Exercisableat Average Remaining
Range of Exercise December 31, Average Exercise December 31, Exercise Life in
Price 2006 Remaining Life Price 2006 i Price Years
$0-$5 322,095 7.20 $ — 18,627 | $ — 3.74
$5-$10 37,156 3.36 $ 7.81 37,156 | $ 7.81 3.36
$IQ-$15 254,963 3.61 $13.41 254,963 ' $13.41 3.61
$15-$20 178,023 6.67 $17.92 47,425 . $17.95 3.76
$20-$25 14,450 7.37 $23.00 - . $ — —
| 806,687 358,171 ! '

t

The aggregate intrinsic value of fully vested stock options at December 31, 2006 is
$271, 168 Of the 358,171 stock options that are exercisable, 15,607 have performance
condltlons attached. The 2006 total FAS 123R compensation cost was $1 618,000 gross of tax
and $1,052,000, net of tax. The total compensation cost related to nonvested stock options not
yet recognized is $1,708,000 and this cost is expected to be recognized over the weighted-

averag:e period of 1.06 years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

We have not modified any stock option awards in 2006, 2005 or 2004. The: total intrinsic
value of options exercised in 2006 was $875,603. The amount.of cash received from the
exercise of stock option awards in 2006 was $3.0 million. The Company’s policy is to issue
shares from Treasury stock to holders of stock options who exercise those options. During
2006 the new total fair value of shares vested was $887,135 respectively.

The Company adopted FAS 123R using the modified prospective transition method beginning
January 1, 2006. The Company previously recorded a charge for stock options based on the
intrinsic value method outlined in APB 25. The following table summarizes the effect on net
income and earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 if the
Company had adopted FAS 123R. As of January 1, 2006 compensation expense has been
recorded within the financial statements and calculated consistently with the method
prescribed in the standard:

Net income Basic Diluted

2005 )
Asdisclosed ... ... ... .. $(123.7) $(10.00) $(10.00)
Compensation expense, net of tax, included in net income . .. . 0.9 s
Compensation expense, net of tax, that would have been B

included had FAS 123 beenadopted ................... (1.5) o
Proformanetincome .............c..uiiiiiniaeiinn.. $(124.3) $(10.05) $(10.05)
2004
Asdisclosed .......... ... i S $ 62 8 050 $ 048
Compensation expense, net of tax, included in net income . . .. 1.1
Compensation expense, net of tax, that would have been

included had FAS 123 beenadopted ................... (1.3)

Proforma netincome ................. e $ 60 $ 049 $ 046
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Note 5. Earnings per share o !

[ ' ' ' ¢
Basic earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the year, while diluted earnings per share includes the effect of options that
are dilutive and outstanding during the year. Per share amounts are computed as follows:

' ' ’ 2006, 2005 2004

Numerator (millions of dollars):

Income/(loss) from continuing operations .......... .. 30114 $(1223) 8 119

Share of affiliated company earnings* ............ e = = (1.0)

Discontinued operations, net oftax ...l — (1.4) 4.7

Nelt mcome/(loss) available to common stockholders ..... $ 114 $(123.7) % 6.2
Denominator (in thousands) , o .

Weighted average common shares outstandmg .. 212,071 12,368 12,345

Dilutive effect of stock optionsandawards . . ........... 599 — 644

Denominator for diluted earnings per share ............ 12,670 12,368 12,989
Net income per share: . :

Income!(]oss) before affiliated company earmngs from . :

. Continuing operations . ........... e e $ 094 $ (9.89) § 0.96
Share of affiliated company earnings ................. . - — . (0.08)
Discontinued operations, netoftax ................... —_ (0.11)  (0.38)
Net income/(loss) available to common shares .......... $ 094 $(10.00) $ 0.50

Net i mcome per share, diluted: ‘ |
- Income/(loss) before affiliated company earnings from ’
continuing operations . . ............ ..o, $ 090 $ (989) % 0.92
Share of affilidted company earnings ................. — — (0.08)
Discontinued operatnons netoftax ................... — 7 (011  (0.36)
Net income/(loss) available to common shares .......... $ 090 $(10.00) $ 048

In 2006., 2005 and 2004, respectively, the average number of anti-dilutive options excluded
from the calculation of diluted earnings per share were 4,125, 127 ,718 and 4,525, respectively.

Note 6. Pension Plans

The Company maintains a contributory defined benefit pension plan covering a number of its
U.K. employees (“the Plan”). The Projected Benefit Obligation (“PBO”) is based on final
salary and years of credited service reduced by social security beneﬁts according to a plan
formula. Normal retirement age is 65 but provisions are made for early retirement

| ‘

The'Cohlpany is contributing amounts to the Plan to cover service costs to date. Employee and
employer contributions since January 1, 2004 were at 5% and 22.6%, respectively, of
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

pensionable pay. The Plan’s assets are invested by six investment management companies in
funds holding U.K. and overseas equities, U.K. and overseas fixed interest securities, index
linked securities, property unit trusts and cash or cash equivalents. A full actuarial valuation of
the Plan was carried out during 2006 and an update carried out as at January 19, 2007, the
results of both of which are reflected in the calculations below.

Effective for fiscal year 2006, the Company adopted the provisions of FAS 158, Employers’
Accounting for Defi ined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans. FAS 158 requires
that the funded status of defined-benefit postretirement plans be recognized on the Company’s
consolidated balance sheets, and changes in the funded status be reflected in comprehensive
income. FAS 158 also requires the measurement date of the plan’s funded status to be the
same as the Company’s fiscal year-end. Although the measurement date provision was not
required to be adopted until fiscal year 2008 the Company early-adopted this provision for
fiscal year 2006. The effect of applying FAS 158 was to record a total reduction to equity
through recognition m Accumulated Other Comprehunswe Loss of $970 rmlhon on an
after-tax basis. :

The Company had previously used a measurement date of Octobér 5. Accordingly, accounting
and disclosure for the Plan had been as at and for the 12 months ending October 5. In
accordance with FAS 158 the net pension charge of $1.5 million for the transition period of
three months to December 31, 2006 has been included in the total reduction to equity of
$97.0 million and disclosures for 2005 and 2004 have not been modified frorn those
previously reported.

3 moiiths to 12 monthsto 12 months to 12 months to
December 31  October 5 October 5 October §

(in millions) ' 2006 2006 2005 2004

Plan net pension charge/(credit): '

Servicecost ................. e $ 13 $ 5.0 $ 6.0 $ 6.2

Interest coston PBO ............... 7 10.5 o .397 . 399 374

Expected return on plan assets . ....... ., (11.2) (44.7) (45.3) ‘(47.4)

Net amortization and deferral ... ..... 09 —_— 1.1 1.1
$ 1.5 $ — $ 1.7 $ 2.7

Plan assumptions: ) . _ . |
Discountrate ..................... 5.10% 5.00% 5.00% 5.60%

Rate of increase in compensation

levels ....... . .. . L., 3.55% 3.55% 3.60% 3.60%
Rate of return on plan assets - 5.25% 5.25% 530% . 5.40%
Plan asset allocation by category: .
Equity securities’. . ........... e ' 32% - 29% 32% 31%
Debt securities ...\ .......... L 67% - 70% 67% ' 68%
Other ............... PP 1% 1% 1% 1%

' RO . 100% 100%, __100% _ 100%
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r

The discount rate used represents the annualised yield on medium and longer term AA rated
corporate bonds in the UK. A 0.25% reduction in the discount rate would increase the
Projected Benefit Obllgatlon by around $31 million and increase the net periodic pension cost
for 2007 by $2.0 million. The rate of increase in compensation levels assumes that real salary.
growth in Innospec will on average be restricted to 0.75% above an assumed level of price
inflation of 2.8%. - ;

The current investment strategy of the Plan is to obtain an asset allocation of 70% in favour of
debt securities and 30% equity securities in order to achieve a-more predictable ‘return on
assets. The overall assumption for the expected return on the market-related valie of assets for
the thiee month pertod to December 31, 2006 was 5.25% per annum (12 month period to
October 5, 2006 — 5.30% per annum). The assumed rate of return (based on fair value) on
equ1tyr securities was 7.6% per annum (12 month period to October 5, 2006 —-8.50% per
annurq) and on debt securities was 4.6% per annum (12 month perlod to October 5, 2006 —
4.60% per annum). The overall return for the three month period to December 31, 2006 and
12 month period to October 5, 2006 was adjusted to allow for the d1fference between the
rnarket related value and the fair value of the P]an s assets. l {
| |

The prlojected net pension cost for the year ending December 31, 2007 1's as follows .

(in millions) .

SEIVICE COSE . ottt et i e b $ 53
Interestcoston PBO .......... ... ... ... ... .... P 447
l: Expected return on plan assets ................ e .. (@7 5)
! Net amortization and deferral ............... e AU e 20 -
! ! $ 45

The eétimated level of Company contributions into the Plan for 2007 is.$7:1 million. The
following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service as appropriate, are expected
to be made:. . o - . o

\ (ln millions}

2008 & $ 49.0
2009 ... e e $ 50.3
2000 e L., $517
2011 L b $53.1
20122016 oo s TR oo, $288.5

- . N
l !

Company contributions to defined contnbutlon schemes during 2006 were $1.7 million
(2005 = $1.5 million).

|
|
7l |
|
i




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Movements in PBQO and fair value of Plan assets are as follows;

I monthsto 12 months to 12 months to
December 31 October 5 * QOctober 5

(in millions) : 2006 2006 2005
Change in PBO ~ . _
Opening balance . ........................ $909.5 $725.2 $647.8
Interest cost . e 10.5 . 39.7 390.9
Service cost ... ..o 1.3 5.0 6.0,
Contributions by participants ............ . 0.2 0.7 0.9
Benefitspaid ....................... e (11.2) (43.5) 42,7
Curtailmentloss .. ........................ — — 12.5
Actuarial (gains)/losses .................... (11.6) - 387 60.8
Exchange variance .......... ... .. ... ... ... - (0.8) 143.7 —
Closing balance ....................... T 897.9 909.5 725.2
Fair value of plan assets _
Opening balance ~......................... 8729 7107 654.6
Actual benefitspaid . .................. ..., (11.2) (43.5) 42.7)
Actual contributions by employer ............ 0.7 4.4 5.1
Actual contributions by participants .......... 0.2 0.7 0.9
Actual return on assets . ... ............. e 12.7 56.2 92.8
Exchange variance . ....................... 0.1 144.4 —
Closing balance .................... S 875.4 872.9 710.7
Plan assets (deficit)/excessover PBO ............. (22.5) (36.6) (14.5)
Unrecognized netloss ............... ... ... .... 138.5 179.6 127.7
Unrecognized prior service (credit)/cost . .......... — — (0.2)
Amount recognized in Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Loss . ....... ... ... ... ..... (138.5) — —
(Pension liability)/prepaid pensioncost ........... $ (22.5) $143.0 $113.0

The underlying PBO and fair value of Plan assets are denominated in sterling and were
previously translated at historic exchange rates. On adoption of FAS 158 at December 31,
2006, the underlying PBO and fair value of Plan assets were translated at the 2006 year end
exchange rate. ‘

The accumulated benefit obligation for the Plan was $871.7 million and $695.6 million at
December 31, 2006 and 2003, respectively.

The curtailment loss of $12.5 million has been reported in restructuring costs in 2005.
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]

Note7. Income Taxes : .

Income taxes are accounted for using the asset and liability method pursuant to FAS 109,
Accounting for Income Taxes. Deferred taxes are recognized for the tax consequences of
“temporary differences” by applying enacted statutory rates applicable to future years to
differences between the financial statements carrying amounts and the tax bases of existing
assets and liabilities. The effect on deferred taxes of a change in tax rates is recognized in
income in the period that includes the enactment date. In addition, FAS 109 requires the
recognition of future tax benefits to the extent that realization of such benefits is more likely
than not. ' :

The sources of income/(loss) before income taxes were as follows:

(in millions) 2006 i 2005 2004

 DOMESHC « v v $202 § 17 $8.2)
Foreign ... 11.6  .(119.8) 40.2

i ' $31.8  $(118.1) $32.0

Co i
The components of income tax charges are summarized as follows: |

| (in millions) o 2006 - 2005 2004

Current: ' ' ' .

Federal ...........ccoviininninn. [, $59.%02 $01

Foreign .......... . i 15.5 (1.8) 245
$214 ; $(1.6) $24.6

Deferred:

Federal .........0vviiiiiiiiiiin i $05 $— 35

Foreign ........ ... ... .. i, (1.5) 5.8 3.0)

(1.0) 58 (4.5)
$204 $42 35201

Cash. (receipts)/payments for income taxes were $(0.7) million, $21.4 million and
$13.7 million during 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. -
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The effective tax rate varies from the U.S. federal statutory rate because of the factors
indicated below:

2006 2005 2004

Statutoryrate " ... e 350% . 35.0% 35.0%-
Foreign tax rate differential ... .. e e - (5.0) 84 (284
Amortization ...................... P, 04 — . (35
_Foreigntaxcredit ................... ceene. (29.5) 0 — —
. Dividendinclusion ... ........................ 471 — —
Impairment of Octane Additives business '
goodwill ........ PR 404 (399 514
Unrecognized net operating losses . .............. (316) 26 7.6
Tax charge/(credit) from previous years ... ... NV 4.2 30 (8.3
Discontinued operations . ...................... — 0.6) 24
Investment write-off . .......... ... ... .. .. ... — (3.8 —
Other (net) e e e 4.0 8.2) 3.6
o ' 64.2% (3.5)% 62.8%

The $36.7 million charge in respect of the impairment of Octane Additives business goodwiil
has no cash or taxation impact and represents a significant factor in the variation from the U.S.
federal statutory rate. Other significant factors affecting the variation to the statutory rate is an
upstream loan, treated as a dividend under U.S. tax rules, net of foreign tax credits and the use
of tax losses for which no deferred tax asset had been recognized. The mix of taxable profits
generated in the different geographical localities in which the Group operates had a positive
impact on the effective tax rate in 2006.

Details of deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

(in millions) - 2006 2005
Deferred tax assets:
Excess of tax over book basis in property, plant and equipment ... $ 3.3 $ 106
Net operating loss carry forwards . ....... ... ... .. .. .. ..., 1.8 9.7
Pension liability .......... ... . i, 6.8 —
Other ..... e e L 2.7 —

: . : 14.6 20.3
Valuationallowance . ....... ... ... 0. (1.0) (8.9)
Total deferred tax assets ............. ... ..., 136 11.4
Deferred tax liabilities:
Prepaid pensioncost ........ .. ... .. . i i e — (33.9)
Intangible assets .. ... ... ... i e e (6.9) (7.5
Other .. e e, 3.1y (119

_ (12.0) (53.3)

Total net deferred tax asset/(liability) ........................ $ 1.6 3%41.9)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEME%VTS—(Contmued)

As a result of the Company § assessment of its net deferred tax assetsi at December 31, 2006,
the Company considers it more likely' thannot that no valuation allowance is required for
$0.8 rlulllon (2005 - $0.8'million) of its net operating loss carry forwards These net operating
loss carry forwards in 2004 ‘and 2003 were generated in France as a result of restructuring
activity in Europe. It is expected that sufficient taxable profits will be generated against which
the net operating loss carry forwards can be relieved before thelr usage expires in
approxrmately two years tlme o ' I
. 3 - ' ' i 4

Should it be determmed in the future that it is no longer more likely than not that these assets
will be realized an additional valuation allowance would be requ1red and the Company’s
operatlng results would be adversely affected during the period in wh1]ch such a determination
would be made. L

The Company has not made provision for unremitted earnings from overseas subsidiaries on
the gr]ounds that they will not be remitted as they are required in the entmes concerned or will
cont1nue to be used to fund further investment into other territories. Any determination of the
potential amount of unrecognized deferred taxes is not practicable due to the complexities
associated with its hypothetical calculation.

Note 8. Acquisitions ‘ : B .
| - ‘ . '
On January 14, 2003, the Company acquired a 100% interest in Finet'[ex, Inc. (“Finetex™) for
cons1deratlon of $21.2 million. The Company purchased 234 common shares which were
valued at $17.4 million. The balance of the funds was used to separately acquire the two
propert1es on which the business operates and to pay costs of the acqu1s1t10n
! ' i
| L |
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Finetex is a manufacturer and supplier of specialty surfactants and emollients to the personal
care, cosmetics and other industrial markets. The results of Finetex have been consolidated
since the acquisition date and have been reported in the Performance Chemicals business
segment. In 2009, since its acquisition by the Company, Finetex contributed $18.4 million of
net sales and a net profit of $0.2 'million to the consolidated net loss ($0.02 profit per basic
share). During the third quarter of 2005 the inventory standard costing process at Finetex was .
updated. This led to an increase of $0.5 million in the fair value of inventory. acquired and a
corresponding reduction in goodwill. The following values have been assigned to the major
classes of assets and liabilities in the balance sheets of the acquired entities at acquisition date:

.

. o . Finetex
Cash .. $ 0.2
Receivables . ... ... ... . i 2.3
INVENOTIES t..vvvvvineennnnnnnns S 4.0
Prepayments ..... P i P SN 0.1

- Property, plant and equipment . .... e e e e - 7.3

Goodwill ........ e e PR . R 3.6
Intangible assets ............ . . it e e 7.1
Total @SSetS . ..ottt e e 24.6
Current liabilities .. ....... ... .. .. . .. . i, (0.8)
Deferred taxes .. ... o i i i e el 24
Other non-current liabilities ....:......... ... . ... . . .50, 0.2y
Total liabilities ............. ... . ..o, (3.4)
Netassetsacquired .. ...... ... ... it $21.2

The goodwill recognized in respect of Finetex has been included within the Performance
Chemicals business segment (see Note 9).

The following intangible assets were recognized in respect of Finetex.

(in millions) Finetex  Useful Life
Customer relationships . . ............ .. .. ... ... $4.2 13 years
Patents .......... .. .. i 2.9 10 years
Totalassets . . ........ccoiiiiiiin ... $7.1

The following unaudited information illustrates the results of operations for the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2004 as if all the acquisitions had occurred on January 1, 2003. It has
been adjusted to reflect amortization of goodwill on acquisitions and financing transactions
and the related interest expense. This information is for illustrative purposes only and is not
meant to be indicative of actual results that might have been achieved or results that might be
attained in the future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMEII‘ITS—(Contiﬁued)

Uﬁauc!iited Proforma Information -~ i

(in millions exeept Iaer share data) . , . 2005 12004 -

Netsales ................. P R T TR $ ;564.8 $515.8
Net (loss)/income . .... . e $(123.7) $ 7.7
Earnings per share —basic ........................ $(10.00) $ 0.62

—diluted .. e . $(10.00) .$ 0.59

Onl une 30, 2004, the Company acquued a 100% interest in Leuna Polymer GmbH (“Leuna”)
for con31derat10n of $8.1 million. The Company purchased one common share which was
valued at €1. Leuna is a manufacturer of diesel fuel additives and specialty waxes. Leuna was
released from receivership in late June 2004 and consequently its results have only been
consohdated since the beginning of July 2004.

On July 8, 2004, the Company purchased the 50% share in Octel Starreon LLC (now called
Innospec Fuel Specialties LLC) which had previously been held by Starreon Corporation LLC
for total consideration of $43.8 rmlhon The value of the partnershlp interest acquired from
Starreon Corporation LLC was $0. 6 million. The results of Innospec Fuel Specialties LLC
were lalready consolidated. prior to acquisition of the remaining 50%, though from July 2004
there has been no charge in the income statement for minority interests in relation to Innospec
Fuel SpeClaltles LLC. . i‘
" On August 26, 2004, the Company acqu1red a 100% interest in Aroma & Fine Chemicals
lelted (“AFC”™) for $34.5 million. The results of AFC have been consolidated since
September 1, 2004. 1.3 million cornmon shares were purchased at a value of $0.2 million. Of
the total consideration $4.8 million is m the form of Loan Notes, half of which were repaid in
January 2006 with the remaining half repaid in October 2006. AFC manufactures aroma
chemtrcals which are principally sold mto the household, institutional,|industrial and personal
care markets. ' '

The followmg unaudited information 1llust.rates the results of operatlons for the year ended
Decerinber 31, 2004 as if the 2004 acqu1s1t10ns had been made on J anuaxy 1, 2004.

Unaudlted Proforma Information

.. o . | :
(in millions except per share data) : . [ . _2004
| Netsales ..... ..... ...... U U $537.4
Netincome ................. T b s 85
Earnmgspershare basic...... ! ..... $ 0.69
' —dlluted....‘f ....... : ..... $ 4.89
. : . 5 .
|

Innospec Fuel Specialties LLC was fully consohdated by the Company prior to the acquisition
of the‘remalmng 50% held by Starreon Corporation LLC, with the appropriate 50% proport10n
of its het income and balance sheet recognized as minority interest.

B
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The goodwill recognized in respect of Innospec Fuel Specialties LLC has been included
within the Petroleum Specialties business segment and the goodwill in respect of AFC has
been included within Performance Chemicals (see Note 9).

Note 9. Goodwill

Goodwill comprises the following:

’ ) Fuel Performance Octane

(in millions) ’ . : Specialties  Chemicals Additives Total
Gross cost - at January 1,2005 .......... ERRREEY L %1175 0 8273 $4855. $6303
ACqQUISItIONS .. ... ...ttt — 3.6 — 3.6
DiSposals . ..ii e = (0.5) — (0.5)
Exchangeeffect ........... .. ... .. ... . .... (0.4) _ (0.1) (0.5)
Impairment ... ... ... ... e — — (134.4) (134.4)
Gross cost —at December 31,2005 ............... 117.1 304 351.0 498.5
Amortization — at January 1,2005 ................ (8.3) 0.3) (289.5) (298.1)
Amortization — at December 31,2005 ............. (8.3) (0.3) (289.5) (298.1)
Net book amount — at December 31,2005 .......... - $108.8 $30.1 § 615 $2004
Gross cost —at January 1,2006 (" . ............... $117.1 $30.4 $351.0 $4985
Exchangeeffect ........... ... ... ... ... .. 0.1 — —_ 0.1
Impairment e e e e e et e e T —_ (367) (367)
Gross cost — at December 31,2006 ...... D, 117.2 304 3143 461.9
Amortization — at January 1,2006 ................ (8.3) (0.3) (289.5) (298.1)
Amortization — at December 31,2006 ............. (8.3) (0.3) (289.5) (298.1)

Net book amount — at December 31,2006 .......... $108.9 $30.1 $ 248 $1638

The Company’s reporting -units are generally consistent with the operating segments
underlying the segments identified in Note 3. .

The Company adopted FAS 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, effective January 1,
2002. This requires that goodwill deemed to have an indefinite life should no longer be
amortized, but subject to an annual impairment review, or between years if events occur or
circumstances change which suggest that an impairment may have occurred.

Due to the continuing decline in the world market for Octane Additives, goodwill in respect of
the Octane Additives business segment is reviewed for impairment on a quarterly basis.

The Company has elected to perform its annual tests in respect of Fuel Specialties and
Performance Chemicals goodwill as of December 31 each year.
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In re'viewing for any impairment charge the fair value of the impaired reporting units
underlying the segments is estimated using an after tax cash flow methodology based on
management’s best estnmates at that time. ‘

' ' . ! ’

Based on the impairment reviews conducted in respect of the Octane Additives business
_during 2006 and 2005 impairment charges of $36.7 million and $134.4 million, respectively,
were recognized. These charges are non-cash in nature and have no impact on taxation.. The
Company will continue to perform impairment reviews in respect of the Octane Additives
business segment on a quarterly basis and will recognize further charges as appropriate.

At the end of the fourth quarter of 2006 the Company performed 1ts annual impairment review
for goodwill for Fuel Specialties and Performance Chemicals and believes that there has been
no lmpalrment of goodwill in respect of those reporting segments: - |

Note 10. Intangible Assets

|
Intangible assets comprise the following: Q

(in millions) - ' . . 2006 2005
Gross cost o - |
—Veritel ......... .. ... [P . $606 $60.6
—Technology . ... oo " ‘7.1 "7
— Customer relationships . ................ e 16.0 16.0
1111 - O o 29 2.9
—Other . ... e R 03 03
1869 869
Accumulated amortization o » o
e . . (506)  (40.4)
—Technology . ... . (1.7 a.o
— Customer relationships . . ............. e ' (3.6) (2.1)
—Patents ............. . ...... e e (0.6) (0.3)
S OMHET . ottt L (02 _(0d)
I . - L. (567) (439

$302 $43.0
Veritel

An intangible asset was recognized in 2001 in relation to amounts payable to Veritel
Chemicals BV by our Swiss subsidiary pursuant to a marketing agreement effective July 1,
2001.! An initial signing fee of $5.0 million was paid on entering into the agreement. In
December 2001, notice was given of a permanent source interruption ‘which triggered further
payments due to Veritel of $70.0 million. Under the terms-of a separate marketing agreement
with ‘Ethyl, $24.5 million was recoverable from Ethyl, and the Company’s share of
$50.5 million was capitalized by our Swiss subsidiary. The asset is being amortized on a
straight-line basis over the six years ending December 31, 2007. '

+
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Technology

Following the acquisition of the }emaining 50% of Octel Starreon LLC (now called Innospec
Fuel Specialties LLC) on July 8, 2004, the Company recognized an intangible asset of
$2.3 million in respect of various technological approvals the business has received from
certain military and civilian authorities. The approvals act as a barrier to entry to any potentlal
competitor in the market who would wish to supply these products.

An intangible asset of $4.8 million was recognized in respect of a number of specialized
manufacturing processes carried out by Aroma & Fine Chemicals Limited followmg the
acquisition of that entity in August 2004, :

Both of these assets have an expected life of ten years and will be amortized on a straight-line
basis over this period. No residual value is anticipated.

Customer relationships

Following the acquisition of Finetex, the Company recognized an intangible asset totalling
$7.1 million, $4.2 million of which was in relation to customer lists acquired. This asset has an
expected life of thirteen years and will be amortised on a straight line basis over this period.
No residual value is anticipated.

Intangible assets were recognized in 2004 in respect of both the Octel Starreon LLC
($9.0 million), now called Innospec Fuel Specialties LLC, and Aroma & Fine Chemicals
Limited ($2.8 million) acquisitions. These relate to ongoing customer relationships. These
have an expected life of ten years and will be amortized on a straight-line basis over that
period. No residual value is anticipated.

Patents

Following the acquisition of Finetex, the Company recognized an intangible asset of
$2.9 million in respect of patents and trade marks. These have an expected life of ten years
and will be amortized on a straight-line basis over that period.

Other

The remaining balance relates chiefly to software costs which are amortized over 3 years.

The Company adopted FAS 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, effective January 1,
2002. This requires that intangible assets should be subject to an annual impairment review, or
between years if events occur or circumstances change which suggest that an impairment may
have occurred. The Company has elected to perform its annual tests in respect of its intangible
assets as of December 31 each year. At the end of the fourth quarter of 2006, the Company
performed its annual impairment review of intangible assets and believes that no impairment
exists. : :
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- Intangible asset amortization expense was $12.7 million, $12.7 million and $11 2 million in
2006,‘2005 and 2004, respectively. ;
Future estimated amortization expense is $12.7 million per annum n for 2007 and $2. 6 I‘l'lllllOIl
per annum for 2008 through to 2011. ?
}
|

Pt

Note 11 Deferred Finance Costs

The dompany entered into a three and one half year financing facility, on December 13, 2005
(see Note 14). This replaced the previous Company debt facility which existed at
.December 31, 2004. The net book amount of the deferred finance; costs:which had been
capitalized as a result of the refinancing in January 2004, some $1.4 mllllon at the begmmng
of 2005 was amortized in full during 2005 as a consequence of the reﬁnancmg

Durmg 2006 and 2005, $0.5 rmlhon and $2.1 million of reﬁnancmg costs have ‘been
capitalized, respectively. These were incurred in relation to the reﬁnancmg entered into on
December 13, 2005. These will be amortized over the expected life of the agreement using the
average interest method.

[ |

|
' (in millions}) v 2006 . 2005
I OGIOSSCOSL . .o iii it L $26 $2.1 -
' Accumulated amortization . .................... e - (1.0 —
| $16 §$21
|
i

Amortization expense was $1.1 million, $1.3 million and $1.4 mllllon 1n 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respeetlvely The charge is included in interest payable (see Note 2).

Note12. Property, Plant and Equipment |
! o ’
Prope%rty, plant and equipment consists of the following:

I (in millions) " ; 2006 2005
o Land . e $ 82 § 79
| Buildings .......... e e ‘ 4.6 5.0
 Equipment ........ e e e, 893 675
| Workinprogress .............. ...t e e ' 34 .55
L | . : -~ 7 ..1055. 859
| Less accumulated depreciation . ............... . '(39.0)  (18.6)
‘ ' o $ 665 $673

Of the total net book value of equipment at December 31, 2006I $0.1 million (2005 -
$0.3 million)} is in respect of assets held under capital leases. These' assets were principally

computer hardware in both 2006 and 2005. '
? -8l

|
| |
t
t
i |

i
|




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Depreciation charges were $13.6 million, $14.7 million and $11.9 million in 2006, 2005 and
2004, respectively.

The estimated additional cost to complete work in progress is" $3.1 million (2005 -
$2.6 million). T

Note 13. Plant Closure Provisions

The liability for 'estimated closure costs of Innospec’s, Octane Additives manufacturing
facilities includes costs for personnel reductions (severance) and decontamination: and
environmental remediation - activities' (remediation): when . demand for  TEL diminishes.
Severance provisions have also been made in relatlon to the Fuel Specialties and. the
Performance Chemicals businesses. - - : S e ‘ ‘

Movements in the provisions are summarized as follows:-

2006 _ 2006 2006 2006 2005
) Other _ ’ |

(millions of dollars) Severance Restructurigg_ Remediation = Total Total
Total at January 1 ................ $78 $01 $232  .$311 $286
Charge for the.period ............. 24 2.1 1.6 6.1 218
Acquisitions .:...... ... ... — — e 0.9
Expenditure . .................... 7.0) (1.9) (1.3) (10.2) (18.9)
Exchangeeffect .................. 0.6 = 0.2 0.8 (1.3)
Total at December 31 ............. 3.8 0.3 23.7 278 311
Due withinoneyear .............. @31~ (0 3 2.2) . (5.6)  (10.1)
Balance at December 31 ........... $07 $— $21 5 $ 22.2 $ 21.0

Severance charges are recognized in the Income Statement as restructuring costs along with
- other restructuring costs. Remediation costs are recognized in cost of goods sold.

Severance

A charge of $1.5 million was recognized in respect of* cost reduction programs in
manufacturing and support activities on the U.K. Octane Additives manufacturing site in
Ellesmere Port. $0.6 million was recognized in respect of: additional salary and other
emoluments to be paid to the former CEO pursuant to an agreement governing the terms of the
former CEO’s resignation dated April 8, 2005 (the “Resignation Agreément’). It is expected
that $0.7 million of the salary and other emoluments to be paid to the former CEO pursuant to
the Resignation Agreement will be paid after more than one year. In addition, $0.2 million
was recognized in relation to severance of corporate staff.

)
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Other Restructuring o . Il

. e : ] A A Tt s
These costs comprise $1.5 million in respect of site clearance in the U.K., $0.4 million in
relatlon to costs associated with a plan to consolidate manufacturing actwmes on to one site in
one of our U.S. businesses and $0.3 million in respect of the relocatlon of our European
Headquarters to the Ellesmere Port site. l ,

Rernediation . , !

N ‘ [

Total costs for remediation are evaluated on a regular basis to take account, of expenditure
incurr{ad and to amend the scope of future activities in the light of findings from projects
carried out. A detailed review of the expected future costs of decontamination and remediation
at the Ellesmere Port site was concluded in December 2004. The results were summarized in a
discounted cash flow model and the results are reflected herein. .'
Remedlatron expendlture agamst prov1srons in 2006, 2005 -and 2004 was $1 3 mrlhon
$2.2 million, and $2.0 million, respectively. ;
The remedlanon provision represents the fair value of the Company s liability recognized
under; FAS 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations. The accretion expense

recogmzed under FAS 143 in 2006 was $1 6 rrnlhon i

The Cornpany records env1ronmenta1 liabilities when they are probable and costs can be
estimated reasonably. The Company has to anticipate the program oftwork required and the
associated future costs, and has to comply with environmental legislation in the relevant
countnes The Company views the costs of vacating our main U.K. site as a contingent
hablhty because there is no present 1ntent10n to exit the site. The1 Company has further
deterrmned that, due to the uncertain 'product life of TEL, particularly in the market for
avratlon gas, there exists such uncertainty as to the timing of such cash flows that it is not
possrb_,le to estimate these flows sufficiently reliably to recognize a provrslon
Note 14. Long-Term Debt

Y . . i
Long-iem debt consists of the following:

! o - _
(in millions) . 2006 2005

| Seniortermoan ........... .ciiiiiiiiiia, $]90.0 $100.0
| Revolving ¢rédit .. ... ...veee i 580 400
' LoanNotes ............. . e - 4.3
- Capitalleases ............. . i i ' C 0.1 0.3
: | . ‘ 148.1 " 1446

Less current portion ......... U L. 51y (14.5)

$133.0 $130.1
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Payments of interest on long-term debt were $9.3 million, $7.6 million and $4.7 million in
2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. '

The net cash outflow in respect of refinancing costs was $0.5 million, $2.0 million and
$2.7 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

The financing package agreed in January 2004, and amended in August 2004 comprised a
term loan of $100 million and a revolving credit facility of $110 million. The term loan was
repayable in annual instalments over three and one half years. The revolving facility was
available throughout the loan period until July 2007. There was $119 million outstanding
under the terms of this facility at December 31, 2004.

On December 13, 2005 the Company entered into an agreement with a syndicate of banks for
a new term loan of $100 million repayable over three and one half years. $10 million of this
term loan was repaid on July 31, 2006. Further repayments of the term loan are due of $15m
on January 31 of 2007, $20 million on January 31 of 2008 and a final repayment of
$55 million on June 12 of 2009. An additional revolving credit facility was also agreed which
will expire on June 12, 2009, or later if the facility is extended. This revolving credit facility
was initially $67.1 million but was then increased by $32.9 million to $100 million on
June 12, 2006 when The Royal Bank of Scotland PLC and National Australia Bank Limited
joined the syndicate of lending banks.

There was $148.0 million outstanding under the terms of the new facility at December 31,
2006. In January 2007 the Company repaid $73 million under the principal facility consisting
of the scheduled $15 million term loan repayment and $58 million on the revolving credit
facility. The revolving credit facility can be drawn down upon again until the financing
facility expires on June 12, 2009, or later if the facility is extended. .

The facility contains terms which, if breached, would result in the loan becoming repayable on
demand. It requires, among other matters, compliance with two financial covenant ratios.
These ratios are (1) the ratio of net debt to EBITDA and (2) the ratio of net interest to EBITA.
EBITDA and EBITA are non U.S. GAAP measures of liquidity defined in the finance facility.
In the event that the ratio of net debt to EBITDA exceeds 2.0 then in addition to these
covenants, the facility also requires a “look forward” test and an additional financial covenant
ratio in the form of net operating cash flow before finance costs to scheduled debt
amortization and interest costs. This “look forward” test was not applicable to the Company
during 2006 due to such ratio not being exceeded.

Management believes that the Company has not breached these covenants throughout 2006.
The facility is secured by a number of fixed and floating charges over certain assets of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

On acquisition-of Aroma & Fine Chemicals Limited on August 26, 2004, the Company issued
£2.5 million ($4.3 million) of Loan Notes to the vendors. These Loan Notes were secured by
an equal amount of restricted cash in escrow and were repaid in two equal tranches in January
and October 2006.
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No assets held under capital leases were capltahzed during 2006 (2005;- $1i11) In 2004, leases
were capltahzed primarily in respect of items of computer hardware based in the UK. which

expire|in 2007. $0.2 million of capltal repayments were made durmg both 2006 and 2005

The following table presents the prolected annual maturities for the next four years after 2006

i o ' Revolving
L S ;¢ Term credit Caplta]
(in millions)’ . ' loan facility leases - ‘..i.,Total
2007 ....... i 8150 0 $— . $0.0 4.8 151
2008 .\t es e o200 —  1mthi200
2009 ... e e 55.0 58.0 — . 1130

| 2010...... SO L — — — =
| | ; 5900  $580 $0'.1 $148.1

.

. i ,
The wetghted average rate of interest on borrowmgs was 6.6% at December 31, 2006 and

6.1%. at December 31, 2005
Note 15. Deferred Income

!
Movements in deferred income are summarlzed as follows

| y '
(in millions) o i 12006 2005
Received ..., . . ~ho.o koo ST . °$39.1  $39.1
Amortized ................ U 1(36.2)  (34.2)
I e e 29 49
- Less: current portion ... ... e S PPN 200 Q0.
| ‘ $ 09 $ 29

Deferlred income of $38.6m relates to amounts received from Ethyl relating to a prepayment
for setvices to be provided under the sales and marketing agreement with OBOAdler, effectlve

Januaryl 2000. - . : i

The remaining $0.5m relates to post acquisition government grants recéived in Leuna Polymer

GmbH. - _ : ‘

Note 16. _ Stockholders’ Equity . .

. Common Stock - o Treasury Stock
" (number of shares in thousands) - 2006 2005 © 2004 20060 2005 2004
At January 1.............. 14?,777 14777 14,777 2, 452 2,440 2,718
Exerc1se of options ........ — == (202) (135) (483)
' Stock purchases e = = = 625. . 147 205
At December 31,0000, 14,777 14,777 . 14,777 2,875 2,452 2,440

|
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Note 17. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

& :

The following table presénts the carrying amount and fair values of the Company’s financial
instruments at December 31, 2006 and 2005:

2006 ' 2005

_ Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
(in millions) Amount Value Amount Value
Non-derivatives: : '
Cash and cash equivalents ....... $101.9 $1019 $ 689 §$ 689
Restrictedcash ............. L. — —_ 4.3 4.3
Long-term debt . . . .. R 148.1 148.1 140.3 140.3
Derivatives: .
Interest rate swaps ............. . 04 0.4 0.1 0.1
Interest rate swap option ........ 0.1 0.1 0.1 (0.1
Foreign exchange contracts . ... .. $ 04 $ 04 3% (06) $ (0.6

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values 'of'fiillancial
instruments:

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash: The carrying amount approximates fair value
because of the short-term maturities of such instruments.

Long-term debr: The carrying amount of long-term borrowings at variable interest rates
approximates fair value.

Derivatives: The fair value of derivatives that relates to interest rate swaps and interest rate
swap options was estimated based on current settlement prices and comparable contracts using
current assumptions.

The cumulative gains and Josses on the interest rate swaps are summarized-as follows:

(in millions) g 2006 2005
BalanceatJanuary 1 ....... ... ... .. .. ... $0.1- $0.1 -
Change in fair value ............ e - 03—
Balance at December 31 .....................coouiinn. 304 $0.1

The interest rate swaps have been designated as a cash flow hedge against-$50.0 million of
underlying variable rate debt obligations that stood at $90.0 million at December 31, 2006.
$20.0 million of the swaps mature on December 14, 2007 and the remaining $30.0 million on
June 12, 2009.

The hedges were determined to be effective and consequently the unrealized ,gain of
$0.4 million in 2006 (2005 - $0.1 million) has been recorded in accumulated other
comprehensive income. Ineffectiveness was determined to be immaterial in 2006 and 2005
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and accordingly no gain or loss was recognized in earnings in either period. The Company
does not expect any significant portion of the gain to be reclassified into earmngs in the next
12 months

Forelgn exchange contracts primarily relate to contracts entered into to hedge future known
transactions or hedge balance sheet net cash positions. The movements in the carrying and fair
values of these contracts is largely due to changes in exchange rates agalnst the U.S. dollar.
Towards the. end of 2005 the U.S. dollar strengthened against other major currencies,
however by the end of 2006 it had weakened against these same currenc1es

Note 18. Financial Instruments and Risk Management

The Company has limited involvement with derivative financial instruments and does not
trade them. The Company does use derivatives to manage certain interest rate and foreign
exchange exposures. |

The Company uses interest rate swaps, floors, collars and cap agreements to reduce the impact
of changes in interest rates on its floating rate debt. The swap agreements are contracts to
exchange floating rate for fixed interest payments periodically over the-life of the agreements
without the exchange of the underlying notional amounts. The notional amounts of interest
rate agreements are used to measure interest to be paid or received and do not represent the
amount of exposure to credit loss. :

The Company has determined to hedge a proportion of the outstandmg variable rate debt
obhgatmn As of December 31, 2006 the Company had the following 1nterest rate instruments

in effect (notional amounts in millions):
1

e Notional  Strike
(in millions) ‘ Amount Rate Expiry date
t Interestswap . ............ . 83000 4.765% June 12, 2009 -
$20.0  4.370% December 14, 2007

4

The Company sells a range of Fuel Spec1alt1es Performance Chermcals and Octane Additives
to major oil refineries and chemical companies throughout the world. Credit limits, ongoing
credit evaluation and account monitoring procedures are used to minimize bad debt risk.
Collateral is not generally required.
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Note 19. Commitments and contingencies
Operating Leases, .

The Company has commitments under operating leases primarily for office space, motor
vehicles and various-items of computer and office equipment. The leases are expected to be
renewed and replaced in the normal course of business. Rental expense was $1.9 million in
2006, $2.4 million in 2005 and $2.7 million in 2004. Future commitments under
non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

(in millions)

200 e e $14
2008 . e e e e e 1.1
2000 L e e 0.8
2010 L e 0.6
200 L 0.9
Thereafter ... ... e e 1.3

6.1

Commitments in respect of environmental remediation obligations are disclosed in Note 13.
Contingencies

Bycosin Disposal ;
Voluntary disclosure of possible violations of the Cuban Assets Control Regulations to the
Office of Foreign Assets Control. Given the international scope of its operations, the Company
is subject to laws of many different jurisdictions, including laws relating to the imposition of
restrictions on trade and investment with various entities, persons and countries, some of
which laws are conflicting. In 2004 the Company reviewed, as it does periodically, aspects of
its operations in respect of such restrictions, and determined to dispose of certain non-core,
non-U.S. subsidiaries of Bycosin AB. Bycosin’s non-U.S. subsidiaries had been engaged in
transactions and activities involving Cuban persons and entities before the acquisition of the
Bycosin Group by the Company in June: 2001, and such subsidiaries were continuing to
engage in such transactions and activities at the time of the disposal of the non-core Fuel
Specialties business and related assets in November 2004. On November 15, 2004, Bycosin
AB, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company organized under the laws of Sweden (now
known as Innospec Sweden AB, the “Seller”), entered into a Business and Asset Purchase
Agreement (the “Agreement”) with Pesdo Swedcap Holdings AB (the “Purchaser”), Hakan
Bystrom and others as the Purchaser’s guarantors, and Octel Petroleum Specialities Limited
(now known as Innospec Fuel Specialties Limited) as the Seller’s guarantor, and completed
the all-cash transaction contemplated thereby (together with related transactions, the
*Transaction”). The Agreement provided for, among other things: (i) the disposal of certain
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non-core Fuel Specialtics business and related manufacturing and other assets of the Seller;
and (11) the supply and distribution of certain power products to certaln geographic regions.
The net consideration pald by the Purchaser was approx1mate1y US$2.9 nnlhon '

Followmg complenon of the Transaction, the Company made a voluntary disclosure to the
U.S. Office of Foreign Assets Control (OFAC) regarding transactions and activities engaged
in by. !certaln non-U.S. subsidiaries of the Company. Disclosures, amongst other items,
includeéd that the aggregate monetary value of the transactions involving Cuban persons and
entities .conducted by the Company’s non-U.S. subsidiaries since January 1999 was
approximately $26.6 million. ;

At this time, however, management believes that it would be speculative and potentially
rms]eadlng for the Company to predict the spemﬁc nature or amount of penalties that OFAC
might eventually assess against it. While penalties could be assessed on different bases, if
OFAC: assessed penalties against the Company on a “performance of contracts basis”, the
applicable regulations provide for penalties, in the case of civil violations of the Cuban Assets
Control Regulations (31 CFR. Part 515) (“CACR”), of the lesser of $65,000 per violation or
the value of the contract. Since January 1999, non-U.S. subsidiaries /of the Company have
entered into 43 contracts with Cuban entities, each of- which could be} considered a separate
violation of the CACR by OFAC. OFAC may take the position that the CACR should be
interpreted or applied in a different manner, potentially even to perm1t the assessment of
penalties equal to or greater than the value of the business conducted with Cuban persons or

ent1t1es : : ’ f

The Company has considered the range of possible outcomes and potential penalties payable
In accordance with the Company’s accounting policies, provision has been made for
management s current best estimate of the potential liability, including anticipated legal costs.
However, should the underlying. assumptions prove incorrect, the actual outcome could differ
materially from management’s current expectations. Management is riot able to estimate the
range of any additional loss, if any. . - 3

If the Company or its subsidiaries (current or former) were found not Tto have comphed with
the CACR the Company believes that 1t could be subject to fines oriother civil or criminal
penalties which could be material.

i
1

The Ch1ef of the Office of Global Security Risk (“OGSR”) of the Securities and Exchange
Commlssmn s (“SEC”) Division of Corporation Finance sent a letter to the Company dated
November 22, 2005 (“SEC comment letter”) regarding its Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2004 and Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2005. The SEC comment
letter focused on matters arising from the Company’s voluntary dlsclosure to OFAC. In
response to the SEC comment letter, the Company submitied a letter to OGSR on
December ‘14, 2005 and continued to be in correspondence with OGSR regarding the
submission of further information concerning its voluntary disclosure to OFAC during 2006.
On November 13, 2006 the OGSR confirmed to the Company that it has no further comments
on the!Company s disclosure in this matter » }

I
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Qil For Food

On February 7, 2006, the SEC notified the Company that it had commenced an inquiry to
determine whether any violations of federal securities law had occurred in connection with
transactions conducted by the Company, including its wholly owned indirect subsidiary, Alcor
Chemie Vertriebs GmbH (“Alcor”), a Swiss company, under the United Nations Oil for. Food
Program between-June 1, 1999 and December 31, 2003. As part of its inquiry, the SEC issued
a subpoena requiririg the production of ‘certain documents, including documents relating to
these transactions; by the Company and'Alcor. The Company, and its officers and directors,
are cooperating with the SEC inquiry. At this time, management is-not able to predict whether
the SEC will seek to impose any fines or penalties in this matter if the Company or its
sub31dlarles is found not to have complied with the relevant laws.

Dispute w1th Ethyl Corp.

The, Company is currently disputing the pr1ce that it is entitled to chargc for the supply of TEL
in North America to Ethyl Corporation (“Ethyl”), a subsidiary of NewMarket Corporation.
This dispute is the subject of arbitration proceedings in the London Court of International
Arbitration (“LCIA™). Pursuant to these proceedings, an interim order was made on
September 29, 2006 requiring Ethyl to pay the increased price claimed by the Company into
an escrow account pending final determination of the arbitration. The difference in prices that
the Company is-claiming is equivalent to approximately $3 million on an annualized basis. At
December 31, 2006, Ethyl had placed approximately $1.7 million into the escrow account in
respect of TEL product supplied by us during the nine months ended September 30, 2006.

The Company has-also commenced proceedings in the LCIA against Ethyl regarding -its
marketing agreements for the supply of TEL covering the rest of the world. The Company and
Ethyl are parties to certain exclusive marketing agreements governing the global marketing
and sale of TEL, except in North America. One obligation on both parties is to refrain from
conducting any business in their own interests that might defeat or damage the purpose of
these agreements. The Company believes Ethyl has breached this duty by actively marketing
and selling an alternative product. As a result, the Company is claiming damages in excess of
$40 million, as well as the right to terminate these agreements.

+

The Company is confident in its position on these matters and believes that it will prevail.
chardless of the outcome, the Company does not believe that the disputes will have a
matenal adverse effect on the financial pos1t10n or results of the Company

Other legal matters

We areinvolved from time to time in claims and.legal proceedings that result from, and are
incidental to, the conduct of our business including product liability claims. At December 31,
2006 the only claim of any potential consequence in which we are involved is a potential
claim, which could total up to approximately. $4 ‘million, indicated by one customer that we"
supplied them with products that did not meet their specifications. We have denied such claim
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and to| date legal proceedings have not'been issued. Whilst it is not possrble to predict the
outcome of such a matter we are confident in our position. In addltlon -we' have insurance
coverage to mltlgate any potential damages. o

Guarantees o |-

The Company and certain of its consolidated subsidiaries were contingently .liable as of
Decemlber 31, 2006, for $7.8 million, primarily relating to guaranteejs of ‘debt.of affiliated
companies and performance under contracts entered into as a normal lr)usmeSSf pract1ce This
- included guarantees of non-U. S. excrse taxes and customs duties. S

Under the terms of the guarantee arrangements, generally the Company would be required to
perfon!n should the affiliated company fail to fulfil its obligations under the arrangements. In
some cases, the guarantee-arrangements have recourse provisions that would - enable the
Company to recover any payments made under the terms of the guarantees from securrttes
held of the guaranteed parties’ assets. . S : .-

The Company and its affiliates have numerous long-term sales and purchase commitments in
their various business activities, which are expected to be fulﬁlled W1th no adverse
consequences material to the Company. '

Indemnities and warranties : _ 7 )

In conlrectron with the disposal of Octel Waste Management Limited (“OWM”) on June 26,
2003, the Company indemnified the purchaser in respect of the envuon!rnental liability arising
from the possible historic contamination of its leased site at El]esmere Port, UK. up to a
maxrmum of £2:0 million ($3.9 million). In general, the envuonmental conditions or events
that are subject to this indemnity must have arisen prior to June 26, 2003 and there is no time
limit on when claims must be asserted ThlS potential liability is 1nc1uded inthe Company 8

remediation provision. ' ;
!

In addltlon the Company provrded certain warranties in respect of the éhsposal of OWM. The
Company would be required to perform should the contingent l1ab111t1es in respect of the
warranties become actual and could be required to make maximum - future - payments of
£3.7 million ($7.2 million). : ‘ !
|

There : are no recourse provisions enabling recovery of any amounts from third parties nor are
any assets held as collateral in respect of the indemnity or warranties.

Note 20. Profit/(loss) on dlsposals
(in millions) : 2006 | 2005 2004
Profit on disposal of surplus U. K real estate .. ... .. $96 [$— $— -
| Prepaid disposalcosts ......................... (0.4)
| Profit on disposal of French office .. ... S — — 4.7
Loss on disposal of Swedish manufacturing ....... — — 9.1)
. $9.2 | $— $(4.49)

|
{
|
!
l
|
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The profit on disposal of surplus U.K. real estate relates to the sale in August of the
Company’s former Fuel Technology Centre in Bletchley and sale in July of the Company’s
former sports and social club. :

Prepaid disposal costs relate to expenditure being incurred in respect of one of our U.S. former
manufacturing sites, in advance of it being marketed and disposed of.

In November 2004, our French subsidiary disposed of its former offices in Paris for
consideration of $4.9 million. The offices were unoccupied as the business’s operations had
moved to another site in Vernon. The net book value of the property was Snil but the sale
incurred costs of $0.2 million. : -

On November 15, 2004, the Company disposed of certain manufacturing and other assets held
-by our Swedish subsidiary, Bycosin AB, for consideration of $2.2 million. The net assets:
disposed of were $11.3 million which comprised:

{millions of dollars)

INVENLOIIES . o\ttt e e e $ 1.1
Property, plant and equipment .. ............ ... ..., 2.2
Goodwill ... . e 5.8
Intercompany balances .. .............. ... ... . ... ... . . 29
Plant closure provisions .. . .. A (0.7)

$11.3

The net loss on disposal was $9.1 million. No tax charge or credit for the loss is anticipated. .

As part of the sale of the Swedish manufacturing and other assets, Bycosin de Mexico SA de
CV and Bycosin SA de CV, non-core subsidiaries of Octel Sweden AB, were also disposed of
in their entirety. As there will be no ongoing involvement with this business, this element of
the transaction has been included within discontinued operations (see Note 21). As the
Company will continue to source product to support the marine and power markets from
Sweden, the sale of the Swedish manufacturing and other assets does not meet the criteria laid
down in FAS 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived Assets for
inclusion within discontinued operations.
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On December 31, 2005, the Company disposed of two non- core businesses, Octel
Perforlmance Chemicals Inc. and the Gamlen Industries SA waste water treatment business.
The consideration received was $1.2 million and $1.9 million, respectlvely The net assets

disposed of were $3.1 mllhon which comprised: - - .

' ‘ . Gamlen
‘ Octel | Industries SA
i ' Performance’  waste water
Chemicals ! treatment
(mllhons of dollars) | ' Inc. business
Accounts receivable . ............. e $1.0 $04
| Inventones................f ............ .09 0.5
! Property, plant and equlpment .............. : 0.5 0.1
Goodwill ............ i 0.5 —
Accounts payable .................. e (0.9) (0.3)
. Intercompany balances .................. . 04 | —
’ $ 2.4 $0

The net loss on’disposal for Octel Performance Chemicals Inc. was $1.6 million which

mcludes the net loss for the year of $0. 4 mllllon

The net proﬁt on dlsposal of the Gamlen Industries SA waste water

$0:2 mllllon which includes the net loss for the year of $0.3 million, professional fees of

$0.2 mllllon and a tax charge of $0.5 million.

On November 15, 2004, the Company dlsposed of a non-core business, Bycosin Mexico, for
cons1derat10n of $0.9 million. The net assets disposed of were $4.8 m11110n which comprised:

T (millions of dollars)

..........................

.| Inventories ....... . S PR f
| Prepaidexpenses .............. ...l e .

. i . f
Goodwill .. ... .. o ;
Accounts payable ...... e i‘
Intercompany balances . ..... e e d

Property, plant and equlpment ..... e 1

...... 3.4
...... 0.8
...... 0.6
. 02
...... 2.7
...... 0.3)
e (B

548

The net loss on disposal was $3.9 million which includes the net mcome of Bycosin Mexico

for 2004 -up to-the date of disposal of $0.4 mllhon professmnal fees o
charge of $0.2 million. - |

|
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Note 22. Other balance sheet information
Res&ictéd cash .

Duﬁng 2004 the Company acquired Aroma & Fine Chemicals Limited (sce Note 8). Of the
total consideration $4.8 million (£2.5 million} was in the form of Loan Notes, half of which
were repaid in January 2006 with the remaining half repatd in October 2006.

Other assets

Included within other assets are investments that are not consolidated by the Company on the
grounds that the Company does not have a controlling financial interest. These investments
are held at cost less provision for impairment. The principal affiliates are as follows:

Ownership interest

FerrousCorp ........... ... ..., 47.7%
PotatoPak Limited ................ . 271.5%

All of the unconsolidated affiliates are privately held companies and as such quoted market
prices are not available. No dividends were received during 2006, 2005 and 2004.

In 2006 the Company sold its 20% share of Deurex and 50.0% share of Octel Chemay (Pty)
Limited, both for no profit or loss. During the year the Company made sales of €1.3 million
($1.6 million) to Deurex- Micro Technologies GmbH {Deurex). At December 31, 2006, the
balance owed to the Company by Deurex was €0.1 million ($0.2 million).

Note 23. Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2006, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes” (FIN 48). This interpretation prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement
attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or
expected to be taken in a tax return. Under FIN 48, a contingent tax asset will only be
recognized if it is more likely than not that a tax position ultimately will be sustained upon
audit. After this threshold is met, management’s best estimate of the associated benefit will be
recorded. FIN 48 also provides guidance on de-recognition, classification, interest and
penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. FIN 48 will be effective for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. The Company is currently evaluating the
impact of FIN 48 on its financial statements.

In September 2006, the FASB issued FAS 157, “Fair Value Measurements” which defines fair
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures about fair
value measurements. The Company is required to adopt FAS 157 effective the first quarter of
2008 and is currently evaluating the impact on its financial statements.
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In February 2007, the FASB issued FAS 159 “The Falr Value Option for Fmanc:al Assets
and Financial Liabilities”. FAS 159 expands the scope of what entities may carry at fair value
by ofienng an irrevocable option to record many types of financial assets and liabilities at fair
value Changes in fair value would be recorded in an entity’s income statement.” This
accountmg standard also establishes presentation and disclosure i ' requirements that are
intended to facilitate comparisons between ‘entities that choose dlfferent méasirement
attnbutes for similar types of assets and liabilities. FAS 159 will be éffective for fiscal years
bcgmmng after November 15, 2007 though earlier apphcatlon is permltted under .certain
circumstances. The Company will begin to assess the impact,-if any, that the adoption of
FAS 159 will have on its financial. statements, Lo

I
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Item9 - Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on
Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Neone. -
Item 9A  Controls and Procedures
Evaluation’of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the périod covered by ‘this’ report the Company carried out an evaluation
under the’ superv131on and with the participation of our _Mmanagement, 1nclud1ng the Chief
Exécutive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, ‘of the effectiveness of the design and
operation of the Company’s “disclosure controls and procedures” (as defined in
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934),

Based upon this evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures, the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the Company’s disclosure
controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2006, in timely making known
material information relating to the Company and the Company’s consolidated subsidiaries
required to be disclosed in the Company’s reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act.

Management’s Report On Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal
control over financial reporting. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is a
process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or
detect misstatements. In addition, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

The Company’s management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006. In making this assessment, management
used the criteria in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (*COSO™).

Based on the evaluation the Company concluded that the Company maintained effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria in the
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the COSO.

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2006 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, United Kingdom
(PwC), an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report that is
included on pages 50 and 51 of this Annual Report.
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Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting i

'

The Company is continuously seeking to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of its
operations and of its internal controls. This results in refinements to processes throughout the
Company. However, there has been no change in the Company’s .internal control over
financial reporting during the most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

i ) ‘\
None. ! . . ' . f

Item 9B~ Other Information - | L
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PART 111

Item 10  Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance;

. . ' . C e ' T '
Information under the heading “Management” set out in the Proxy Statement for the Annual
Meetlng of Stockholders to be held on May 8, 2007 (“the Proxy. Statement”) is incorporated
herem by reference. .

4

At its Board Meeting on February 24, 2004 the Company formally adopted a Code of Ethics.
Any stockholder who requires a copy of the Code of Ethics, Corporate Governance Guidelines
or any of the Board Committee Charters may obtain one by writing to the General Counsel,
Innospec Inc., Innospec Manufacturing Park, Oil Sites Road, Ellesmere Port, Cheshire, CH65
4EY, e-mail investor@innospecinc.com. These documents can also be accessed via the
Company’s website, www.innospecinc.com.

Information regarding the composition and the workings of the Audit Committee are included
under the headings “Corporate Governance — Committees of the Board of Directors — Audit
Committee” and “Audit Committee Report” in the Proxy Statement and is incorporated herein
by reference.

Item 11  Executive Compensation

The information under the heading “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” in the Proxy
Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information under the heading “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management” in the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

Shares Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The information contained in the table entitled “Equity Compensation Plan Information™
under the heading “Equity Compensation Plans” in the Proxy Statement is incorporated herein
by reference.

The current limit for the total amount of shares which can be issued or awarded under the
Company’s six share option plans is 3,043,000.

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director
Independence

The information under the headings “Transactions with Executives, Officers, Directors and
Others” and “Certain Other Transactions and Relationships” in the Proxy Statement is
incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 14  Principal Accountant Fees and Services

]
Information with respect to fees and services related to the Company’s 1ndependent registered
public a'ccountmg firm, PncewaterhouseCoopers LLP, is contained in the Audit Committee
Report under the heading “Principal Accountant Fees and Services” inthe Proxy Statement
and 1s .m'_corporatcd herein by reference.
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PART IV
Item 15
(a) (1) '

2)

3)

. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

' P P
Financial Statements

The Consolidated Financial Statements of Innospec Inc. and its subsidiaries
and related notes thereto, together with the report thereon of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP dated March 16, 2007, appear on pages 50
through 95 of the 2006 Form 10-K to stockholders, are incorporated in Item 8.

Financial Statement Schedules

All financial statement schedules have been omitted since the information
required to be submitted has been included in the financial statements or
because they are either not applicable or not required under the Rules of
Regulations S-X.

Exhibits

2.1  Transfer and Distribution Agreement, dated as of April 24, 1998,
between Great Lakes Chemical Corporation (“GLCC”) and the
Registrant, (3)

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the
Registrant. (1)

3.2  Amended and Restated By-laws of the Registrant. (1)
4.1  Form of Common Stock Certificate. (2)

4.2  Form of Rights Agreement between the Registrant and First Chicago
Trust Company of New York, as Rights Agent. (2)

4.3  Form of Certificate of Designations, Rights and Preferences of Series A
Junior Participating Preferred Stock of the Registrant. (2)

44  Indenture dated as of May 1, 1998 among the Registrant, Octel
Developments PLC and the 1BJ Schroder Bank and Trust Company, as
trustee. (4)

4.5  Form of 10% Senior Notes (contained in Exhibit 4.4 as Exhibit A). (4)

4.6  Registration Rights Agreement dated as of April 30, 1998 among the
Registrant, Octel Developments PLC and the initial purchasers. (1)

47  Purchase Agreement dated as of April 30, 1998 among the Initial
Purchasers, Octel Developments PLC and the Registrant. (4)
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4.8

49

4.10

4.11

10.1

10.2

10.3

104

10.5

10.6

107 ¢
108,

ito9'

10.11 "
10,12

10.13

10.14
1015

10.16

l
|
|

Share purchase agreement between OBOAdler Holdmgs Limited and
The Associated:Octel Company Limited relat1ng to the sale and
purchase of the whole of the issued share capltal of OBOAdler
Company Limited, dated June 1, 1999. (6)

Amendment to Rights Agreement. (10) - Vo

Share Repurchase Plan between’ the Company and J. P. Morgan
Securities Inc. dated February 16, 2006. (23) :

Share Repurchase Plan:between the Company and J. P. Morgan
Securities Inc. dated AugustZl 2006. (25) |

Tax Disaffiliation Agreement between GLCC and the Registrant. (1)

Corporate Services Trans1t1on Agreement between GLCC and the
Reglstrant O

Supply Agreement between GLCC and the Regtstrant for the supply
of ethylene dibromide. (1) = =~ ]

" Supply Agreement between GLCC and the - Regtstrant for the Supply
-- of anhydrous hydrogen bromide. (1) = -, i

~Supply Agreement for. the Supply of . 10% sodium hydroxide

solution. (1) |

1

Ethyl Corporation Market an‘d-'Sales Agreement.;(4)

St Innospec Inc. Non Employee D1rectors Stock Option Plan. (4)

‘ Employment Agreement between Assocrated* Octel Limited and

Steve W Williams, Geoff J Hignett, Graham M Leathes and Robert A

Lee.(1)

'Employment Agreement between Assocrated‘ Octel Limited and
- _.DenmsJKemson m _ |

1010

I
Agreement between GLCC and - the Reglstrant for the Toll
Manufacturing of. Stadis Product. (4) -

Innospec Inc. Time Restn'cted Stock-Option Plan. (3)

Innospec Inc. Performance Related Stock Opt1on Plan. (3)
Associated Octel Savmgs -Related Stock Optlon Plan. (3)

Form of Innospec Inc. Approved Company Share Optton Plan. (8)

" Form of Innospec Inc. Profit Sharing Share Scheme (8)

Employment Agreement between The Assoc1ated Octel Company
Limited and Alan G Jarvis. (9) Ca

101




10.17

10,18

10.19
10.20

10.21
10.22
10.23
10.24
10.25
10.26
10.27
10.28

1029,

10.30

10.31

10.32

10.33

10.34

Employment - offer letter from The Associated .Octel Company
Limited to John P Tayler. (9)

Consultancy Agreement between Innospec Inc. and Robert E
Bew. (9)

Employment offer letter from' The Assomated Octel Company
Limited to JTan A Watling. (11)

Employment offer letter from The Associated Octel Company
Limited to Philip J Boon. (11) :

Executive Services agreement, Riehard Shone (13)
Contract of Employment, Sharon Todd. (13)
Contract of Employment, Jan McRobbie. (13)
Contract of Employment, Paul Jennings. (13)

 Contract of Empleymeni, Alexander Dobbie. (13)

Contract of Employment, Dr. Catherine Hessner. (17)
Contract of Employment, Andrew Hartley. (17)

$100,000,000 term loan agreement between Innospec Inc., Octel
Associates, Barclays Capital, Barclays Bank plc and others, dated

_ June 3, 1999. (6)

US$250,000,000 Facilities Agreement dated 29 October 2001 for
Innospec Inc. with Barclays Capital acting as mandated Lead
Arranger and Barclays Bank plc acting as Agent and Security
Agent. (12) '

Amendment and Restatement Agreement, dated 30 January 2004,
relating to a Facilities Agreement, dated 29 October 2001 (as
amended), by and among the Registrant, Barclays Bank plc, Lloyds
TSB Bank plc, The Governor and Company of The Bank of Scotland,
and certain other parties thereto. (14)

Business and Asset Purchase Agreement, dated November 15, 2004,
between, Bycosin AB, Hékan Bystrom and. others, and Octel
Petroleum Specialties Limited. (16)

Supply Agreement, dated November 15, 2004, between Bycosin AB
and Pesdo Swedcap Holdings AB. (16) '

Resignation Agreement of Mr. D. Kerrison,- dated Aprl 12,

. 2005. (18)

Contract of Employment, Paul W. Jennings, dated September 21,
2005. (19)
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1035 Contract - of - Employment, Patnck Wl]hams dated October 11,

2005. (20)

10.36  Fixed term agreement, James F. Lawler, dated December 7,
‘ 2005. (21) ' g

- 10.37 .  Amendment and Restatement Agreement, dated 13 December, 2005,

relating to a Facilities Agreement, dated 29 October 2001 (as
amended), by and among the Registrant, Barclays Bank plc, Lloyds
TSB Bank plc, The Governor and Company of The Bank of Scotland,
and certain other parties thereto.

10.38 Contract of Employment lan Cleminson, dated June 30, 2006. (24)

12.1 Statement Regardmg Computation of Fmancml Ratios (filed
- herewith).

.13.1 ‘ Opinion of Ernst & Young LLP on 1997 Combined Financial

Statements. (9).
14 The Innospec Inc. Code of Ethlcs (15)
21.1 Prmcnpal 'Subsidiaries of the Registrant (filed herewnth)

23.1°  Consent of Indépendent Registered Public Accounting Firm (filed
herewith).

241 ' Powers of Attorney of Directors and Officers of the Registrant. (4)
: 311 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302

of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).

312 ¢ Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (ﬁled herewnth)

32/1  Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 US.C.
Section, 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section. 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith). '

32.2. - Certification of'the Chief Financial ‘Officer oursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
r. . Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith). . v

99.1 Consolidated Financial Statements of OBOAdler Company Limited
‘as of June 30, 1999 and for the year then ended. (7)
Notes . . _
N Incorporated by reference to the Company’s amendment dated
. April 21,1998, to a previously filed Form 10-/A.
(2) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form 10-/A
previously filed on Apnl:10, 1998,

(3) Incorporated by reference to the Company’s amendment dated
"+ May 4,1998 to a previously filed Form 10-/A.
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(4)

)
6)
)
®)
©
(10)
(1)
(12)
(13)
(14)
(15)
16)
a7
(18)
19

(20)

@21y

(22)
(23)
(24)

(25)

Incorporated by reference to the Company’s Form S-4 previously
filed on October 1, 1998,

Filed with the Company’s Form 10-Q on November 10, 1998.
Filed with the Company’s Form 8-K on November 12, 1999.
Filed with the Company’s Form 8-K/A on Tanuary 20, 2000,
Filed witi] the Company’s Form 10-K on March 26, 1999.
Fileq with the Company’s Form 10-K on March 27, 2000.
Filed with the Company’s Form S-K 0;1 July 21, 2000.

Filed with the Company’s Form 10-K on March 26, 2001.
.Filed with the Company’s Form IO-KAon March 25, 2002.
Filed with the Company's Form 10-K on March 28, 2003.
Filed with the Comi)any's Form 8-K on February 9, 2004.
Filed with the Company’s Proxy Statement on March 15, 2004.
Filed with the Company’s Form 8-K on November 19, 2004.
Filed with the Company’s Form 10-K on March 31, 2005.
Filed with the Company’s Form 8-K on April 12, 2005.

Filed with the Company’s Form 3-K on September 27, 2005.
Filed with the Company’s Form S;K on October 12, 2005.
Filed with the Company’s Form 8-K on December 7, 2005.
Filed with the Company’s Form 8-K on December 19, 2005.
Filed with the Comp;my’s Form 8-K on February 17, 2006.

Filed with the Company’s Form 8-K on June 30, 2006.

.Filed with the ('Zompany’s Form 8-K on August 21, 2006.
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SIGNATURES ;
' t
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities 'Exchange Act of 1934,
the Reglstrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized. |

!

INNOSPEC INC. : By: /s/PaulW. Jennings
| (Registrant) , PAUL W. JENNINGS

; Date: President and Chief Executive Officer
! March 16, 2007 ’
i i
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been
sngned below by the following persons on behalf of the Reg1strant and in the capacities
indicated as of March 16, 2007: ‘

fs/ Ian P. Cleminson ' Executive Vice Président and

Dr Robert E. Bew

| Ian P. Cleminson ; Chief Financial Off"}cer
| ' :

i /s/ Robert E. Bew Chairman and Director
i

/s/ Hugh G. C. Aldous Director :
Hugh Aldous '

. . P Pt ?
fs/ Charles M. Hale ' Director ;

Charles M. Hale

fs/ Martin M, Hale Director
Martin M. Hale ‘ :
fs/ Samuel A. Haubold Director ;

Samuel A. Haubold

/s/ James Puckridge ' Director
James Puckridge
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